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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON THE ANNUAL REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

To the Shareholders of Akiş Gayrimenkul Yatırım Ortaklığı Anonim Şirketi

1) Opinion

We have audited the annual report of Akiş Gayrimenkul Yatırim Ortakliği Anonim Şirketi (“the Company) and its subsidiaries and its ordinary partnership (“the Group”) 
for the period of January 1 – December 31, 2017.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial information provided in the annual report of the Board of Directors and the discussions made by the Board of Directors on the 
situation of the Group are presented fairly and consistent, in all material respects, with the audited full set consolidated financial statements and the information we 
obtained during the audit.

2) Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with standards on auditing as issued by the Capital Markets Board of Turkey and Independent Auditing Standards (InAS) which are 
part of the Turkish Auditing Standards as issued by the Public Oversight Accounting and Auditing Standards Authority of Turkey (POA). Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Annual Report section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance 
with the Code of Ethics for Independent Auditors (Code of Ethics) as issued by the POA, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the 
Code of Ethics. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

3) Our Auditor’s Opinion on the Full Set Consolidated Financial Statements

We have expressed an unqualified opinion in our auditor’s report dated February 16, 2018 on the full set consolidated financial statements of the Group for the period of 
January 1 – December 31, 2017.

4) The Responsibility of the Board of Directors on the Annual Report

In accordance with Articles 514 and 516 of the Turkish Commercial Code 6102 (“TCC”) and the provisions of the Communiqué II-14.1 on the Principles of Financial 
Reporting In Capital Markets” (“the Communiqué”) of the Capital Market Board (“CMB”), the management of the Group is responsible for the following items:

a) Preparation of the annual report within the first three months following the balance sheet date and submission of the annual report to the general assembly.

b) Preparation and fair presentation of the annual report; reflecting the operations of the Group for the year, along with its financial position in a correct, complete, 
straightforward, true and honest manner. In this report, the financial position is assessed according to the consolidated financial statements. The development of the 
Group and the potential risks to be encountered are also noted in the report. The evaluation of the board of directors is also included in this report.

c) The annual report also includes the matters below:
- Subsequent events occurred after the end of the fiscal year which have significance,
- The research and development activities of the Group,
- Financial benefits such as salaries and bonuses paid to the board members and to those charged governance, allowances, travel, accommodation and representation 
expenses, financial aids and aids in kind, insurances and similar deposits.
When preparing the annual report, the board of directors takes into account the secondary legislative arrangements published by the Ministry of Customs and Trade and 
related institutions. 

5) Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Annual Report

Our aim is to express an opinion, based on the independent audit we have performed on the annual report in accordance with provisions of the Turkish Commercial 
Code and the Communiqué, on whether the consolidated financial information provided in this annual report and the discussions of the Board of Directors are presented 
fairly and consistent with the Group’s audited consolidated financial statements and to prepare a report including our opinion.

The independent audit we have performed is conducted in accordance with InAS and the standards on auditing as issued by the Capital Markets Board of Turkey. 
These standards require compliance with ethical provisions and the independent audit to be planned and performed to obtain reasonable assurance on whether the 
consolidated financial information provided in the annual report and the discussions of the Board of Directors are free from material misstatement and consistent with 
the consolidated financial statements.

The name of the engagement partner who supervised and concluded this audit is Seda Akkuş Tecer.

Güney Bağımsız Denetim ve Serbest Muhasebeci Mali Müşavirlik Anonim Şirketi 
A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited

March 9, 2018
İstanbul, Turkey

Partner
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Akiş REIT
2017 Ordinary General Assembly Meeting Agenda

1. Opening of the meeting and election of the Presidential Board of the General Assembly,

2. Reading and discussion of the Board of Directors’ Annual Report for 2017,

3. Reading of the 2017 Independent Auditors’ Report,

4. Reading, discussion and ratification of the 2017 Financial Statements, 

5. Release of the Board Members with regard to the Company’s activities in 2017,

6. Determination of the dividend distribution policy and dividend payments,

7. Determination of compensation for the Board Members and Independent Directors,

8. Selection and approval of the Independent Auditor selected by the Board of Directors, in accordance with the 
‘Communiqué Regarding Independent Auditing Standards in Capital Markets’, issued by the Capital Markets Board of 
Turkey and the Turkish Commercial Code; and in accordance with the ‘Communiqué Regarding Independent Auditing 
in Capital Markets’ issued by the Capital Markets Board of Turkey,

9. In accordance with the Corporate Governance Principles of the Capital Markets Board, informing shareholders 
with regard to such transactions in the event that shareholders who control the management, Board Members, 
executive managers, and their first and second degree relatives by blood or by marriage have carried out transactions 
that may result in conflict of interest, either with the Company or its subsidiaries, and/or have carried out transactions 
in the same line of business as the Company or its subsidiaries, by themselves or on behalf of others, or have become 
partners without limits of liability in a company that is engaged in the same line of business,

10. Granting permission and authority to the Board Members in accordance with articles 395 and 396 of the Turkish 
Commercial Code,

11. Informing shareholders about the charitable donations and social welfare made by our Company in 2017 as per 
Capital Markets legislation,
 
12. Informing shareholders about warranties, pledges, mortgages and indemnities provided by the Company for the 
benefit of third parties, and about revenues and benefits generated in 2017, in accordance with article 12 of the 
Corporate Governance Principles,

13. Informing the shareholders regarding the buy, sell and leasing transactions executed in 2017 as per article 37 of 
the Communiqué on the Principles Regarding Real Estate Investment Trusts,
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Company General Information

This Annual Report (‘Report’) herein is issued in accordance with the provision of Article 516 of the Turkish Code of 
Commerce, the provisions of ‘The Regulation Related to the Determination of the Minimum Content of Companies’ 
Annual Reports’, published by the Ministry of Customs and Trade in the Official Gazette dated 28.08.2012 and numbered 
28395, provision of Article 8 of the ‘Communiqué on the Principles of Financial Reporting in Capital Markets’ numbered 
(II-14.1), and published by the Capital Markets Board, provisions of the related article of ‘Corporate Governance 
Communiqué’ numbered (II-17.1), and provision of Article 39 of the ‘Communiqué on the Principles of Real Estate 
Investment Funds’ numbered (III-48.1), and the purpose of this Report is to evaluate the Company’s operating activities 
in the period 01.01.2017 - 12.31.2017, and to inform our investors. 

Company Information

Company Information : Akiş Gayrimenkul Yatırim Ortakliği A.Ş.
Stock Exchange Traded : BIST
Ticker Symbol  : AKSGY
HQ Address  : Acibadem Mahallesi Çeçen Sokak No: 25 34660 Akasya AVM. Acibadem, Üsküdar, İstanbul
Trade Registry Date : 11.22.2005
Trade Registry Number : 570679
Tax Office and Number : Beyoğlu Vergi Dairesi, 028 041 4690
Phone No  : +90 (212) 393 01 00 
Fax No   : +90 (212) 393 01 02 
Mersis (Central 
Registration System) No : 0028041469000015
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Vıṡion, Mıṡsion and Targets

Vision
Your happiness is at the core of everything we do...
Our objective is to develop projects of outstanding quality in the 
real estate sector.

Mission
To invest by observing sector trends and socio-economic 
developments.

Targets
To carry out innovative, prestigious projects that add 
multidimensional value to the environment, and to cement its 
place in the real estate sector.
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Current Ratio

Ratios 31 December 2017      31 December 2016

Current Ratio 1.17 0.80

Ratio of Shareholder’s Equity - Asset Total 59% 59%

Gross Sales Margin 73% 66%

Operating Profit Rate (%) 53%  51%

Ratio for the Net Income of the Period 153%                                216% 

Total Liabilities/Equity 71%                  68%

Total Liabilities/Equity Ratio

Share Performance

Key Financial Indicators

0.80

0.71

1.17

0.68

2016

2017

2017

Ratio of Shareholder’s Equity - Asset Ratio

0.59

0.59

2016

2017

2016

3.12
3.50

3.30

3.10

2.90

2.70

2.50

2.30

2.10

1.90
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Financial Statements

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET SUMMARY 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

ASSETS

Current Assets 548,480,318 198,807,017

Cash and Cash Equivalents 88,837,174 19,451,752
Financial investments 17,439,996 -
Trade Receivables  65,277,994 75,986,306
Other Receivables 10,933,689 2,714,689
Inventories  357,748,074 97,476,420
Prepaid Expenses 4,823,759 3,143,875
Other Current Assets 3,419,632 33,975

Non-Current Assets 3,724,024,479 1,804,188,086

Financial investments 1,892,579 -
Investments accounted for using the equity method - 337,113,225
Trade Receivables  56,439,941 56,151,008
Other Receivables 9,204,860 4,159,560
Inventories 68,337,854 291,205,450
Investment Properties   3,535,536,000 1,103,592,419
Tangible Assets 32,045,644 2,126,857
Intangible Assets 6,914,942 752,036
Deferred Tax Assets 306,163 176,454
Prepaid Expenses 10,521,361 6,784,116
Other Non-current Assets 2,825,135 2,126,961

Total Assets 4,272,504,797 2,002,995,103

LIABILITIES

Short-Term Liabilities 468,721,580 247,891,475

Financial Liabilities 133,602,406 96,993,411
Short-term Part of Long-term Liabilities 295,627,546 85,160,868
Trade Payables 16,566,175 10,427,385
Employee Benefit Related Liabilities 870,618 464,062
Other Payables 2,355,647 2,792,264
Deferred Taxation Liabilities 8,333,184 51,018,038
Short Term Provisions 11,323,611 1,012,839
Tax Liabilities for the current year profit 42,393 22,608

Long-Term Liabilities 1,304,160,902 564,175,265

Long-term Payables 1,293,166,591 563,258,210
Trade Payables  582,128 -
Deferred Taxation Liabilities 9,412,508 -
Long-term Provisions 999,675 917,055

Equity Capital 2,499,622,315 1,190,928,363

Attributable to Equity Holders of the Parent 2,499,622,315 1,190,928,363

Share Capital 430,091,850 200,000,000
Adjustment to Share Capital 121,877,344 121,840,877
Share Premium 944,975 208,659
Merger offsetting account 870,289,152 -
Reacquired stock (189,440,968)                         -
Other Comprehensive Income/(Expense)
   not to be Reclassified to Profit and Loss 247,881 (7,724)
Other Comprehensive Income/Expense
   to be Reclassified to Profit and Loss 1,368,741 (560,658)
Effects of Business Combination
   of Entites Under Common Control (4,109,167) (4,109,167)
Other Reserves 54,696,807 54,696,807
Restricted Reserves 281,542,533 33,301,617
Retained Earnings 441,561,956 615,628,763
Net Income 490,551,211    169,929,189

Consolidated equity of participations - -

Total Liabilities 4,272,504,797 2,002,995,103
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Condensed Consolidated Income Statement 3

  31 December 31 December
  2017 2016

PROFIT OR LOSS

Revenues 319,649,955 78,563,118
Cost of Sales (-) (85,194,969) (26,543,769)

Gross Profit from 
   Commercial Activities 234,454,986 52,019,349

General and administrative 
   expenses (-) (41,321,935) (29,138,170)
Marketing expenses (-)    (3,408,025) (1,082,753)
From main operations
    other income 59,489,983 36,535,162
From main operations
    Other expenses (-) (78,442,680) (18,519,241)

Main Activity Profit 170,772,329 39,814,347

Income from Investment 
   Activities 303,619,674    155,457,160
Other income from affiliates, 
 jointly controlled businesses 
 and subsidiaries 181,804,762 -
Shares in the joint venture’s
   profits valued by the 
   equity method (9,121,184) 76,801,790

Operating Profit Before Financial
   Income and Expenses 647,075,581 272,073,297

Financial Income 140,917,252 36,772,760
Finance Expenses (-) (297,113,459) (138,806,927)

Profit Before Tax From
  Continuing Operations 490,879,374 170,039,130

Current Tax Expense (402,957) (109,941)
Delayed Tax Revenue/Expense 74,794 - 

Continuing Operations 
 Period Share 490,551,211 169,929,189

CURRENT PROFIT 490,551,211 169,929,189

Net Sales

Net Profit

319,649,955

490,551,211

169,929,189

78,563,118

2017

2017

2016

2016

“Completed in 2017, the SAF 
REIT merger reinforced our 
financial strength. We continue 
to lead the real estate sector 
as a result of our corporate 
governance.”

Naile Banuhan Yürükoğlu
Assistant General Manager / Finance
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CAPITAL AND 
SHAREHOLDING 
STRUCTURE
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Capital and Shareholding Structure 
The Company’s shareholding structure and capital information 
are as follows:

Capital Info 
Registered Capital Ceiling TRY500,000,000.00 
Paid-in Capital                TRY430,091,850.00 

Shareholding Structure dated 31.12.2017

 Share in Capital 
Shareholder Capital (TL)  Ratio (%)

Ali Raif Dinçkök 104,022,994 24.19
Akiş GYO A.Ş.* 74,800,803 17.39
Akkök Holding A.Ş. 63,065,857 14.66
Emniyet Ticaret ve Sanayi A.Ş. 32,185,416 7.48
Nilüfer Dinçkök Çiftçi 32,005,908 7.44
Other and Publicly Offered Part** 124,010,872 28.84
Total 430,091,850 100

Shareholders’ Voting Rights

 Voting Voting 
Shareholder Rights  Rights (%)
Ali Raif Dinçkök 104,022,994 24.19
Akiş GYO A.Ş.* 74,800,803 17.39
Akkök Holding A.Ş. 63,065,857 14.66
Emniyet Ticaret ve Sanayi A.Ş.  32,185,416 7.48
Nilüfer Dinçkök Çiftçi 32,005,908 7.44
Other and Publicly Offered Part** 124,010,872 28.84
Total 430,091,850 100

* No voting power; not considered in calculation of general 
assembly meeting quorum.
** Shows shareholders with shares below 5%, and the portion 
Offered to the Public.

The share group representing the paid-in capital consists 
of Group A, amounting to TRY19,422,649 in return 
for 19,422,649 shares, and Group B amounting to 
TRY410,669,201 in return for 410,669,201 shares. Group A 
shares are registered shares, and Group B shares are bearer 
shares. Transfer of registered shares cannot be restricted. 
Group A shares are entitled to nominate candidates in the 
election of members of the board of directors.

“Continuing to create value and offer 
profitable investment opportunities 
to the real estate sector through 
steady growth and project 
implementation, we enhance our 
brand awareness with new activities 
developed by following sector 
trends.”

Didem Hiçyorulmazlar
Sales and Marketing Director
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Akkök Holdıṅg in Brief

Founded in 1952 by the late Raif Dinçkök, and with deep 
know-how spanning 66 years, Akkök Holding ranks among the 
most well established industrial groups in Turkey. The Group 
conducts operations in the fields of chemicals, energy and 
real estate, with 19 commercial and industrial enterprises, 
one of which is overseas, and with 19 production plants. By 
closely following the trends in the world’s markets and in its 
operating industries, Akkök Holding aims to catch up with 
the global competition, and achieve world-class standards 
together with all the companies under its roof.

Aksa Akrilik Kimya Sanayi A.Ş. was founded in Yalova to meet 
the requirements for acrylic fiber in Turkey in 1968, and 
started production in 1971 with an annual capacity of 5000 
tons. Becoming the largest acrylic fiber producer in the world 
with its investments and innovations, Aksa is a world giant 
with approximately 300 customers in 50 cities on 5 continents. 
With 1200 employees, a production area of 502,000 square 
meters, and annual capacity of 315,000 tons, it is the largest 
acrylic fiber producer in the world and the only producer in 
Turkey. 

Along with its success in production, Aksa is also a leader in 
implemented management systems, environmental practices 
and social responsibility projects. Thanks to its extensive 
product range, it supplies textile and technical textile raw 
materials to various fields, and has improved its new and 
unique product portfolio with an innovative approach each 
year. Along with textile fibers, Aksa initiated outdoor fiber 
production in 2001 and is becoming more ambitious within 
the technical fiber industry for products such as flock tow, 
homopolymer and filament thread. Aksa Acrylic upgraded its 
technological infrastructure in 2009 and started production 
of carbon fiber, one of the most crucial raw materials of the 
21st century. 

DowAksa was established in 2012 as a joint venture of the Dow 
Chemical Company and Aksa Acrylic San A.Ş., with the aim 
of providing a wide range of products and technical services 
to the global composites industry, whose raw material is 
carbon fiber. Thanks to Dow’s knowledge and experience in 
resins, and Aksa’s infrastructure, which allows for growth, 
today DowAksa is one of the strongest companies vying for 
leadership in the production of carbon fiber and carbon fiber 
intermediate materials market. Moreover, DowAksa is the 
first and only Turkish company in the carbon fiber industry. 
DowAksa provides carbon fiber composite solutions to 
industrial sectors, namely the energy, transportation, defense 
and infrastructure sectors. The Company develops solutions 
aiming to reduce total costs, and offers a wide range of 
products to the fast-growing carbon fiber composite sector. 

With the support of technical service, DowAksa expanded its 
product range, and the Company also conducts global scale 
business development activities.

Turkey’s pioneer chemicals company Ak-Kim was established 
in Yalova in 1977, and over time it expanded its production 
activities in various locations around Turkey. Producing basic 
and performance chemicals, Ak-Kim, serves the cleaning, 
chemistry, textile, paper, water treatment, food, metal, 
agricultural pesticide, energy, building, mining, plastic and 
paint industries. The Company is a market leader in many 
products included within the basic chemicals field and grows 
by developing products and services for alternative fields. It 
added advanced technological water treatment systems to the 
water treatment sector with an investment in ultrafiltration, 
and became the first and only producer of this product in 
Turkey. Ak-Kim acquired Gizem Frit, one of the largest enamel 
and ceramic frit producers in the world in 2015, entering 
into a different market. Serving 70 countries abroad, Ak-Kim, 
acquired Dinox, a chemical sales and marketing company in 
Germany, in order to be closer to its customers, and continues 
its growth in Europe. It acquired 100% of the shares of Akferal, 
which it founded via a 50% partnership with Feralco in 2013, 
and soon after acquired Dostel in November 2017. 

Opening its Adapazari Göktepe factory in 1979, Gizem Frit 
continues its operations in the 2nd Organized Industry 
Zone in Sakarya’s Hendek district. Gizem Frit produces frit 
and pigment, which are used as intermediate materials for 
decorating, and protecting materials such as sheet metal, 
stainless steel, aluminum, molding, ceramic tiles, sanitary 
ware, porcelain, medical porcelain and glass. It is the second 
largest producer in the global enamel frit market, and the 
leader in both the enamel and ceramic markets in Turkey. 
Gizem Frit has also acquired one of the most significant 
players in the ceramic sector in Spain. 

Akiș REIT, the real estate investment company operating 
under Akkök Holding, continues to develop projects that help 
improve quality of life in the regions where it operates. The 
Company runs Akbatı Shopping Mall and Life Center, as well 
as the Akasya projects, and it is also developing street retail 
projects on Bağdat Street as an alternative to shopping mall 
investments. Akiş REIT has cooperated with Beymen for the 
Uşakligil Apartment in its first high street retail project, and 
the store opened its doors to visitors in September 2017. The 
Company aims to provide regular dividends to its shareholders 
with a regular rental income from these investments. As a 
result of the merger with SAF REIT on January 18, 2017, Akiş 
REIT has become one of the most vital players in the sector. 
With close monitoring of the constantly changing sector 
trends and socio-economic developments, and creating 
new trends at the right time and location, the company will 
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continue its projects to create a positive difference in the 
real estate sector. KidZania Istanbul in the Akasya Shopping 
Center is an important social location, aiming to teach while 
entertaining children. 

Since its opening, Akmerkez has been investing in the future 
and has been the leader in creating new values. Akmerkez 
has been a hotspot for intimate experiences, and the most 
popular meeting point in the city, with distinguished brands 
and stores, shopping, entertainment facilities and food court, 
since 1993. Akmerkez, adding dynamism to the social life 
of the city, enhances the visitor experience with innovative 
products such as a Concierge service. The Triangle Terrace is 
new breath of air in the city, and the new meeting point for 
creative young people is the Young Lions Zone. Achieving a 
first in Turkey by winning the Best Shopping Center in Europe 
award in 1995 and in the World award in 1996 presented 
by the International Council of Shopping Centers (ICSC), 
Akmerkez improves itself constantly with projects adding 
value to city life. 

Starting its activities as an auto-producer group in the Akkök 
Group of Companies in 1989, Akenerji has been operating 
as an independent power generation company since 2005. 
With the 50-50 strategic partnership of Akkök Holding and 
ČEZ, the Company has installed power of 1,224 MW. Sepaş 
Enerji, a strategic partnership of Akkök Holding and ČEZ 
Group, supplies electricity all over Turkey, mainly in Bolu, 
Düzce, Sakarya and Kocaeli. Sakarya Elektrik Dağitım A.Ş. 
(SEDAŞ), provides an electricity supply service to 1.6 million 
consumers in Sakarya, Kocaeli, Bolu and Düzce. 

Overview of AKİŞ REIT

Established within the structure of Akkök Group in 2005, 
Akiş REIT aims to apply the experience and expertise it has 
accumulated in the real estate sector, which Akkök Group 
positioned among  their strategic business areas, in various 
projects.

Akiş REIT assumed the title of Real Estate Investment Trust 
on May 18, 2012 upon application to the Capital Markets 
Board. Subsequently Akiş REIT was listed on Borsa Istanbul 
on January 9, 2013. Akiş REIT aims to carry out projects that 
standout for their quality in the real estate sector, with the 
motto “Happiness lies at the heart of everything we do”. 

Following its significant achievement with Akbatı Shopping 
Mall opened in 2011, Akiş REIT signed off on another major 
project upon the completion of Akasya in 2014, in which it 
holds shares. In 2016, Akiş REIT started the merger process 
with SAF REIT, and as a result, consolidated its position in the 
real estate sector.

By breaking new ground among real estate investment trust 
companies in Turkey, with an alternative approach to shopping 
center investments, Akiş REIT aims to offer shareholders 
regular dividend income via rental income from projects 
located on Bağdat Avenue in Istanbul. Having invested 
$190 million in these projects, Akiş REIT has established its 
first collaboration in high street retail with Beymen for the 
Uşakligil Apartment.

In 2017, Akiş REIT has been involved in projects in urban 
transformation areas, and follows any opportunities that may 
arise in this field.

With successful projects shaping and creating trends at 
the right time and location, Akiş REIT quickly became one 
of the leading actors in the sector, and will continue to 
implement projects that stand out in the real estate sector by 
closely observing sectorial trends, and also socio-economic 
developments. 

BY SHAPING SUCCESFUL PROJECTS AND CREATING TRENDS AT THE RIGHT 
TIME AND LOCATION, AKIŞ REIT QUICKLY BECAME ONE OF THE LEADING 
ACTORS IN THE SECTOR, AND WILL CONTINUE TO IMPLEMENT PROJECTS 
THAT STAND OUT IN THE REAL ESTATE SECTOR BY CLOSELY OBSERVING 
SECTORIAL TRENDS, AND ALSO SOCIO-ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENTS. 
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Milestones

2005 
 Akkök Holding founded Akiş Gayrimenkul Yatırimi  
A.Ş. with the goal of developing and managing real 
estate investments.

2007
 Garanti Koza Akiş Adi Ortakliği was established and 
the Akkoza Project was launched.

 The Company’s share capital was increased to TRY3 
million.

 Akiş participated in SAF Gayrimenkul Geliştirme 
İnşaat ve Ticaret A.Ş. with a share of 7%.

2012
 Akbatı Residences were delivered to owners. The  
title “Real Estate Investment Trust” was acquired as a 
result of the application made to the Capital Markets 
Board.

 The merger of Akiş REIT with Ak-Al by acquiring 
Ak-Al with all its assets and liabilities was approved by 
the two companies’ general assemblies.(The Company 
became entitled to obtain Energy Identity Certificate 
(Class B) with the Akbatı Project.)

2008
  Shares of Akfil Holding A.Ş. were purchased.

2009
 Shares of Garanti Koza and Corio were acquired in the 
Akkoza Project. The Company started the construction of 
Akbatı Shopping Mall as the 100% owner.

2011
 The Company’s share capital was increased by  
TRY80 million to TRY83 million.

 Akbatı Shopping Mall was opened.

2013
 Akiş REIT was listed on the Collective Products Market 
at Borsa İstanbul on January 9, 2013. 
 
 All shares of Akfil Holding were sold on March 11, 
2013.

 All shares in the Garanti Koza-Akiş Ordinary Partnership 
were sold on March 11, 2013.
 Akbatı Shopping Mall and Akbatı Residences were 
certified as “Good” according to BREEAM (Building Research 
Establishment Environmental Assessment Methodology).

 To expand its commercial real estate portfolio, Akiş 
REIT has purchased 4 properties on Bağdat Street, one of 
İstanbul’s most prominent retail areas, and entered the high 
street retail industry.
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2014
 Our street retail operations were accelerated. Project 
design works were conducted for the old buildings acquired 
in Bagdat Street and the commercial real estates began to 
be developed.
 The shopping center, with a rentable area of 80,000 m2 
belonging to Akasya project, which was developed by SAF 
REIT, a participation of Akiş REIT, was put into operation on 
March 6, 2014.

 In 2014, Akbatı Shopping Mall won a total of 12 awards 
in national and international contests. Akiş REIT’s Corporate 
Governance Rating was determined as 9.16.

2015
 Purchase of shares in SAF REIT. (Akiş’s new 
shareholding is 19.71%)

 Investment for the Beykoz Project was initiated.

 The first rental transaction on street retail was 
started, and construction has begun.

2016
 Akiş REIT’s Corporate Governance Rating was 
determined at 9.44.

 Akbatı Shopping Mall and Residences became the 
largest building in Turkey to hold an “Excellent” level license 
as part of BREEAM In Use.

 The Merger negotiation with SAF REIT was initiated in 
2016, and registered on January 18, 2017.

2017
  The Akiş REIT Corporate Governance Rating is 
determined at 9.49.

 With the completion of the SAF REIT merger, Akasya 
became a subsidiary of Akiş REIT.
 
 The Akiş REIT headquarters was moved to the Akasya 
shopping center in November.
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Our Awards

2011
 The first project of Akiş REIT, Akbatı Residences 
was recognized by both the general public and the 
competition jury, and won two awards in the “Smart 
Homes” category in “Turkey’s Most Successful Real 
Estate Investments” Contest.

  The Akbatı Shopping Mall was awarded two Bronze 
Awards in the categories of “Communication/ PR 
Campaign of the Year-Social Media Focused-Europe” and 
“Communication/PR Campaign of the Year-Community 
Relations-Europe” at the “Stevie Awards.”

 The Akbatı Shopping Mall was awarded three 
Platinum Awards in the categories of “Community/
PR/Special Event,” “Community/PR/Public Relations 
Program” and “Community/PR/Corporate Social 
Responsibility”; and a Gold Award in the “Community/
PR/Special Event” category at the “Marcom Awards 
2013.”

2012
 Akbatı Shopping Mall was named the “Best Retail 
Development” and “Highly Commended in Mixed-Use 
Project” by the “European Property Awards 2012.” Akbatı 
Shopping Mall received the “Cleanest Shopping Center” 
award from “Cleaner Magazine’s Industrial Cleanliness 
Awards.”

 The Akbatı Shopping Mall was a finalist in the “Best 
Retail & Leisure Development” category at the “MAPIC 
Awards 2012.”

 The corporate website of Akbatı Shopping Mall 
was awarded the Bronze Award in the “Consumer 
Information” category at the International “Horizon 
Interactive Awards.”

 The Akbatı Shopping Mall was awarded the 
First Place Award in the “Retail-Built” category at the 
“Cityscape Awards for Emerging Markets 2013.”

2013
 Akbatı Shopping Mall and Akbatı Residences, were 
certified as “Good” according to the environmental 
sustainability assessment method BREEAM (Building Research 
Establishment Environmental Assessment Methodology), the 
leading sustainability assessment method.

 The Akbatı Shopping Mall was awarded a Platinum 
Award in the “Community Relations” category at the 
“Hermes Creative Awards.”
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2014
 Akbatı Shopping Mall won the Platinum award in 
the “Special Event” and “PR Campaign” categories in the 
Hermes Creative Awards.

 Akbatı Shopping Mall won an award in the IPRA 
Golden Awards in the “Community Relations” category.

 Akbatı Shopping Mall won two Bronze awards in the 
Stevie Awards, in the “Communications or PR Campaign 
of the Year” category.

 Akbatı Shopping Mall won three Platinum awards in 
the “Corporate Social Responsibility”, “Communication 
Program” and “Public Relations” categories. It won 
one Gold award in the “Special Event” category. It also 
received an Honorable Mention award in the “Social 
Responsibility”, “Social Media” and “Public Relations” 
categories.

2015
 The Akbatı Shopping Mall and Residences won a total 
of 3 awards, including one Platinum and one Honorable 
Mention Award in the “Special Event” category, and 
one Gold award in the “Corporate Social Responsibility” 
category, at the HERMES Creative Awards. 

 The Akbatı Shopping Mall and Residences won a prize 
at the European Property Awards in the “Development 
Marketing” category. 

 The Akbatı Shopping Mall and Residences was 
rewarded with 2 prizes at the Best Business Awards in the 
“Best Corporate Social Responsibility” category. 

 The Akbatı Shopping Mall won a total of 7 awards at 
the Marcom Awards, including Platinum and Honorable 
Mention prizes in the “Communication Program”, 
“Corporate Social Responsibility” and “Public Relations 
Program” categories, as well as Gold and Honorable 
Mention awards in the “Special Event” and “Corporate 
Social Responsibility” categories. 

 The Akbatı Shopping Mall was recognized at the 
Best Business Awards in the “Best Corporate Social 
Responsibility” category. 

 Akasya won 2 Bronze Prices in the 2015 International 
Stevie Awards.

 Akasya won 5 Platinum, 5 Gold, and 5 Honorable 
Mention Awards at the Marcom Awards.

 Akasya won 4 Platinum, 7 Gold and 5 Honorable 
Mention Awards at the 2015 Hermes Creative Awards.

 Akasya won the “Europe’s Best Shopping Mall” award 
in the category of ICSC European Shopping Center Awards, 
New Developments: Large.
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2016
 Akbatı Shopping Mall and Residences obtained 
the BREEAM In Use (Building Research Establishment 
Environmental Assessment Method) license, which is 
the world’s foremost green building assessment system, 
qualifying at “Excellent” level.

 Akbatı Shopping Mall received a total of 8 awards at 
the Marcom Awards, including Gold in the Information 
Category; 2 Golds and 1 Platinum in the Special Event 
Category; Gold in the Handbook Category; Platinum in 
the Public Relations Program Category; Platinum in the 
Corporate Social Responsibility Category, and an Honor 
Award in the Doorhanger Category.

 Akbatı Shopping Mall won 5 bronzes at the Stevie 
Awards; in Corporate Social Responsibility Program of 
the Year, Communications or PR Campaign of the Year 
- Reputation/Brand Management, Corporate Social 
Responsibility Program of the Year, and Best Facebook Fan 
page or Group.

 Akbatı Shopping Mall won an award in the Best 
Corporate Social Responsibility Category at the Best 
Business Awards.

 It received a total of 15 awards at the Hermes 
Creative Awards, including Gold in the Facebook Site 
Design Category with its Life Academy Project; Platinum 
in the Corporate Social Responsibility Category; Platinum 
in the Special Event Category; Gold in the Educational 
Category; an Honor Award in the Magazine Category; 
an Honor Award in the Facebook Site Design Category 
with its Akbatı Project; Platinum in the Product or 
Service Branding Category; Gold in the Corporate Social 
Responsibility Category; Gold in the Facebook Site Design 
Category with the Mother’s Day Project; Gold in the 
Corporate Social Responsibility Category; an Honor Award 
in the Doorhanger Category; 1 Platinum, 1 Gold, and 1 
Honor Award in the Special Event Category; and Gold in 
the Magazine Category.

 In 2016, Akasya won bronze at the Stevie Awards 
with the Best Brand Experience Activity of its “June 21st: 
Longest Day Event”; the Marketing Campaign of the Year 
and silver with June 21st: the Longest Day Event; Bronze 
in the Consumer Category for the Best Brand Experience 
Activity with the “2015 New Year Concert”, and bronze for 
“Akasya Talks”, the Brand Content Campaign of the Year.

 It won Platinum with the AKS Advertisement 
Campaign, Akasya the Longest Day Campaign, Akasya 
New Year Ajda Pekkan Concert, Special Events, and the 
AKS Web Site, at the Marcom Awards. It won Gold in the 
AKS Special Category, AKS Illustration, Graphic Design, 
and Akasya Talks - Corporate Social Responsibility. It won 
Honorable Mention prizes in the AKS Poster - Poster, AKS 
Program Brochure -B2C Campaign, AKS Logo - Logo, AKS 
Image Video - Video fields and categories.

 In the 2016 Hermes Awards, Akasya won Platinum 
in the Special Event Category with the Akasya 2015 New 
Year Concert; Platinum in the Social Media-Consumer 
Engagement category; Platinum in the Interactive Branch 
Experience category with the Live Statue Exhibition; 
Platinum in the Corporate Social Responsibility category 
with Akasya talks; Platinum in the Integrated Marketing 
Campaign category with June 21st: the Longest day; Gold 
in the Communication and Marketing Campaign Category 
with the Akasya 2nd Anniversary Celebrations Media Plan; 
Gold in the Marketing Materials category with Akasya 
Marketing Materials; Gold in the Event Marketing category 
with the Akasya 1st International Puppet Festival; Gold 
in the Advertising Campaign category with the Akasya 
Advertising Campaign; and Gold in the Entertainment 
category with the Akasya Activity videos.

 Akasya Park won the “2016 Best Landscape” award 
from Plan Magazine.
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2017
 Akbatı was presented with the Platinum Award in 
the Informational Category, two Gold Awards and one 
Platinum Award in the Special Event category, a Gold 
Award in the Public Relations Program Category, and 
Honorary Awards in the Entertainment and Special Event 
categories at the Marcom Awards. 

 Akbatı won the Best Corporate Social Responsibility 
Award at the Best Business Awards.

 Akbatı was presented with two Silver Awards in the 
Communications or PR Campaign of the Year - Community 
Relations, and a Bronze Award in the Communications or 
PR Campaign of the Year - Social Media Focused category 
at the Stevie Awards.

 Akbatı won Gold in the Corporate Social Responsibility 
and the Facebook Application categories, and one 
Platinum and two Honorary Awards in the Special Event 
category at the Hermes Creative Awards.

 Akasya was awarded with the Gold Prize in the New 
Product or Service Introduction of the Year category with 
Akasya Culture and Arts, Silver Prize in the Best Exhibition 
Display, Stand or Feature category in the Hisart Diorama 
and History Exhibition, Silver Prize in the Marketing 
Campaign of the Year - Culture & The Arts category with 
AKS, and Bronze in the Communications or PR Campaign/
Program of the Year - Arts & Entertainment with the Akasya 
Puppet and Mask Exhibition and Creative Workshops at 
the 2017 Stevie International Business Awards.

 We won the Platinum Award in the Special Event 
category with the Hisart Diorama and History Exhibition, 
Platinum in the Poster Design category with our Euro 
2016 poster design, Gold in Direct Marketing with the 
Akasya Event Brochures and Posters, Gold in Promotion 
and Marketing Materials with the printed materials for 
the Hisart Diorama and History exhibition, and Honorary 
Awards in the Event and Event Brochure category with our 
cover design for Father’s Day at the 2017 Marcom Awards.

 We won Platinum in the Special Events category with 
the Hisart Diorama and Live History Exhibition, which 
was displayed at Akasya Culture and Arts as of January 
2017, Platinum in the Printed Materials category with the 
Akasya Gazette, Gold in the Graphic Design category with 
the Hisart Door Hanger prepared for the promotion of 
the Hisart Diorama and Live History Exhibition and Akasya 
Culture and Arts, and the Honorable Mention Award 
with the Ali Poyrazoğlu Puppet and Mask Exhibition and 
Creativity Workshops, and the Akasya Culture and Arts 
AKS Video Project, at the 2017 Hermes Awards.

 Akasya Culture and Arts was also awarded with the 
2017 Best Venue Award at the Direklerarasi Audience 
Award.
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Message from the Chairman of the Board of 
Directors

The Global Economy

2017 was a positive year in terms of the economy. The 
results of the elections in Europe and the U.S., and the 
higher than expected annual growth figures for Europe 
and Asia, were the main factors that helped eliminate 
uncertainties in the market. The growth figures of the 
120 countries that produce three quarters of the entire 
global GDP improved in 2017 when compared to the 
previous year. This supports the optimistic mood in the 
global economy, which has spread to both developed (US, 
Germany, Japan) and developing (China, Brazil) countries.

Growth, consumption and employment data in the U.S. 
economy was positive, in line with year-end expectations. 
In addition, tax reforms are expected to have a positive 
impact on the US economy in the short and medium-
term. These factors have raised the possibility of the FED 
continuing to hike interest rates in 2018. However, this 
may exacerbate the ongoing volatility of the past few 
years in developing countries’ currencies into 2018.

With the conclusion of general elections in many countries 
in Europe, 2017 turned out better than expected. A 
strong performance by the banking sector and declining 
unemployment were the two main drivers. While the 
political and economic uncertainties created by Brexit 
have not been completely overcome, the expectations 
are that in time, this process will not have any negative 
outcomes for the markets.

Commodities in general ended the year on a rising trend. 
Crude oil prices, which dipped to $45 in the first half of 
the year, reached $66 at the end of 2017, following a 
strong performance. While this may seem a positive 
development for the petroleum exporting countries in 
the Middle East, the United Arab Emirates, one of the 
largest petroleum producers in the world, is set to import 
petroleum from the U.S. for the first time, which indicates 
that the equilibrium in the markets has changed.

The Turkish Economy

While Turkey started 2017 in negative circumstances, the 
result of the referendum on the constitution eliminated 
certain political uncertainties, and the year ended better 
than expected as security concerns declined. In terms 
of the economy, the high inflation rates of recent years 
continued, and the year ended with a CPI of 11.9%. Foreign 
exchange rates rose in parallel with inflation rates.

We can say the past year was, in general, a positive one for 
the Turkish economy, with high growth figures as a result 
of incentives, and with the drop in unemployment rates. 
We believe it is of the utmost importance to maintain 
stable growth, and a decline in both the unemployment 
rate and inflation should be the primary targets in the 
coming period.

Real Estate Sector

2017 was a thrilling year for the real estate sector, one of 
the most stable areas in the Turkish economy over the last 
few years. According to data from the Turkish Statistics 
Institute, records were broken in 2015 and 2016, and 1.4 
million homes were sold in Turkey. This sector spiked in 
September, and VAT discounts and relevant campaigns 
had a substantial effect on sales. Despite stagnation in 
certain areas, if we consider the growth in real estate 
sales to foreigners, it appears to be a healthy sector with 
sustainable domestic and foreign demand.

While the retail sector started the year with certain 
challenges, high economic growth and a rise in consumer 
spending ensured that the year was economically positive. 
According to the Shopping Mall Turnover Index prepared 
by the Council of Shopping Centers - Turkey (AYD), annual 
shopping mall turnovers in Turkey rose by 14.4% but the 
number of visitors fell back by 1%. Despite this decline, 
the rise in turnover above the inflation rate indicates that 
visitors to shopping malls have higher spending budgets 
than before. While local problems in high street retailing 
continue, production to meet modern retail requirements 
on the high street is on the rise, and the 28% increase in 
the number of tourists in 2017 when compared to 2016 
are signs that the sector will continue to improve in the 
coming years.

CORPORATE POWER WITH A CORPORATE GOVERNANCE RATING OF 9.49 IN 
2017, THE HIGHEST AMONG REAL ESTATE AND CONSTRUCTION COMPANIES 
TRADED ON BIST.
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Akiş REIT

On January 18, 2017, the merger of Akiş REIT with SAF REIT 
was registered and, as of the end of 2017, the total assets 
of Akiş REIT equaled TRY 4.3 billion, and equities TRY 2.5 
billion, making it one of the most successful real estate 
investment partnerships in Turkey. We have embraced the 
strategy of focusing on the retail and real estate sectors 
by following current trends in the real estate sector as a 
company. Consequently, we have started earning rental 
income from the Beymen Suadiye store, which opened its 
doors to shoppers in September 2017 on Bağdat Avenue, 
and grew the annual rental income of our company, in 
addition to the Akasya and Akbatı shopping malls. 

At Akiş REIT, we maintain our efforts in line with the 
target of offering our shareholders regular dividends. 
Akiş REIT entered the BIST Dividend 25 Index following 
its performance over the last few years, marking a key 
development in this respect, and our regular rental income 
will further grow after completion of our high street retail 
projects.

One of our most crucial objectives as a company is to 
maintain the principles of regulation and transparency 
that we have adopted from Akkök Holding. Our company 
improved its corporate governance rating again last year 
to 9.49, and has retained its position as a leader in the 
Turkish real estate and construction sectors. 

Our Company maintained stable and healthy growth in 
2017. Therefore, I would like to thank all our stakeholders 
and our employees, from the bottom of my heart, for their 
commendable efforts, and would also like to emphasize 
that we will continue to develop outstanding projects of 
quality in 2018.

Ahmet Cemal Dördüncü
Chairman of the Board of Directors

“On January 18, 2017, the 
merger of Akiş REIT with SAF 
REIT was registered and, as 
of the end of 2017, the total 
assets of Akiş REIT equaled 
TRY 4.3 billion and equities 
TRY 2.5 billion, making it 
one of the most successful 
real estate investment 
partnerships in Turkey.”

Ahmet Cemal Dördüncü
Chairman of the Board of Directors
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Message from the General Manager 

While 2017 was a busy year on the political and economic 
agenda, both globally and in Turkey, it was also a successful 
year, as we have proved with the achievement of our 
stable growth target.

At Akiş REIT, we continue to focus on strategic planning 
while closely monitoring sector trends. In this respect, with 
the Akasya Shopping Center joining our portfolio through 
the SAF REIT merger, we boosted our investments in the 
retail sector, and considerably enhanced our potential for 
obtaining regular rental income. Our first cooperation in 
high street retail was with Beymen, and Beymen’s Suadiye 
store opened its doors to shoppers in September. We 
continue with our efforts towards providing quality living 
areas with Akapartment in Suadiye, Istanbul on Bağdat 
Avenue.

With the rental income to be obtained from other high 
street projects currently under construction, our Company 
will advance its regular rental income potential. The Gebze 
Factory building, one of the properties acquired by SAF 
REIT, and all of our other properties in Çerkezköy were 
sold, and we have continued to develop new projects. We 
will be developing a luxury residence and a commercial 
project on a 45,000-square meter site in Beykoz, one of 
the most valuable districts in Istanbul.

SAF REIT Merger

As a result of the SAF REIT merger completed at the 
beginning of 2017, the Akasya Shopping Center is now 
among our assets. With this move, which boosted 
our competitive strength in the real estate sector and 
our brand value, while contributing to our sustainable 
growth targets, we consolidated our position among the 
largest Real Estate Investment Trusts in Turkey. Another 
advantage of the merger was combining the Akbatı and 
Akasya Shopping Centers under the same roof, thus 
enhancing economic and operational productivity.

Our Shopping Centers

Offering shoppers a comfortable shopping experience 
since 2011, the Akbatı and Akasya Shopping Centers 
both had a successful year. Growth was 19.6% and 17.5% 
respectively, achieving sales substantially higher than 
the Shopping Center Investors Association Index, which 
reflects the sector average. The slight decline in the 
number of visitors to shopping centers in 2016 continued 
in 2017. However, Akbatı and Akasya were not affected 
by this trend, and actually grew their visitor numbers 
compared to the previous year. We believe that the spike 
in house sales in the Esenyurt district will have a positive 
impact on Akbatı, and as a result, annual turnover growth 
is expected to continue in the coming years.

Our efforts towards environmentalism and sustainability 
march on at our shopping centers. As a result of the 
appropriate use of resources, and criteria such as 
prioritizing internal environments and health, Akbatı 
and Akasya demonstrated their sustainable applications, 
and were awarded with Excellent and Good certificates 
by BREEAM In Use - International. Akbatı is the largest 
building in Turkey to hold this certificate.

Bağdat Avenue Projects 

Akiş GYO, strives to make clients feel special by offering 
exclusive living quarters, perfectly geared for the texture 
of urban life with high quality standards, and supports this 
stance with an architectural approach to world standards 
in high street retailing. Our High Street projects primarily 
involve retail units designed with modern techniques to 
meet the requirements of the sector, and will contribute 
to the prestige of Bağdat Avenue. In addition, a limited 
number of residences and home-offices will also be 
released onto the market. Our first collaboration in high 
street retail was with Beymen for the Uşakligil Apartment. 
The lease contract was signed and the store opened its 
doors in September 2017. As a result, we have completed 
the first of our projects on Bağdat Avenue.

AKBATI AND AKASYA AWARDED WITH EXCELLENT AND GOOD CERTIFICATES 
BY BREEAM IN USE - INTERNATIONAL. AKBATI IS THE LARGEST BUILDING IN 
TURKEY TO HOLD THIS CERTIFICATE.
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Institutional Culture

The success and institutional culture adopted from Akkök 
Holding is one of the most crucial elements of our Company 
identity. Our Corporate Governance Rating, which stood 
at 9.44 in 2016, rose to 9.49 at the end of 2017 due to 
all our efforts. With this rating, our company achieved the 
highest Corporate Governance Rating among real estate 
investment partnerships and construction companies.

One of the most vital elements of our corporate strategy 
is to distribute sustainable high cash dividends to our 
shareholders. In order to achieve this, we aim to create a 
stable, effective and diversified portfolio, and enhance our 
regular rental income. Accordingly, we distributed TRY 180 
million to our shareholders last year. 

I would like to thank all our stakeholders and our 
employees, who have contributed hugely to this successful 
year.

İ. Gökşin Durusoy
Member of the Board of Directors and General Manager

“One of the most vital elements 
of our corporate strategy is to 
distribute sustainable high cash 
dividends to our shareholders. 
In order to achieve this, we 
aim to create a stable, effective 
and diversified portfolio, and 
enhance our regular rental 
income.”

İ. Gökşin Durusoy
Member of the Board of Directors and 
General Manager
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2017 ACTIVITIES
• Developments in the Real Estate 
Sector



Developments in the Real Estate Sector

RECORD RESIDENTIAL SALES OF 1.4 
MILLION IN THE REAL ESTATE SECTOR
 
In 2017, progress leveled out in the real estate sector in Turkey. 
According to official figures, the real estate sector in 2017 
produced a spike in sales. According to data from the Turkish 
Statistics Institute (TSI), more than 1.4 million homes were sold 
in 2017 in Turkey. This indicates a rise of 5.1% when compared to 
the record sales achieved in 2016. This rise was partly due to title 
deed transfers for branded projects, the effect being that these 
sales were recorded late. In addition, high marriage and divorce 
rates and greater numbers of single-person households are the 
demographic factors responsible for these figures, while other 
factors are VAT and stamp duty incentives, as well as campaigns 
implemented by construction firms.

The acceleration in prices of real estate in Istanbul initiated 
discussions of whether this is a Real Estate bubble, however, 
we do not believe there is much to be concerned about in this 
respect. The steep price hikes from 2013 to 2015 slowed in 
2016, and as of 2017 and a mere 8% nominal rise was observed. 
Real and Dollar-based real estate prices have dropped over the 
last few years. With the deceleration of price rises, the supply-
demand balance will be restored.

As in the last few years, the retail sector was exposed to the 
pressure of foreign exchange rates in 2017, and rate fixing 
continued for shopping centers. The decline observed in shopping 
center visitor numbers initially detected in the second half of 
2016, slowed down in 2017. Despite these problems, according 
to data from AYD the turnover of shopping malls around Turkey 
grew by approximately 14.5%, and indicates that the contents in 
the shopping bags of mall visitors have expanded. Turnover at 
the Akasya and Akbatı shopping centers rose respectively by 18% 
and 19%, and visitor numbers by 8% and 7%, when compared to 
2016 values, stronger figures than the Turkish average. 

Due to the fluctuations in foreign exchange rates, rents in high 
street retailing have dropped over the last year. Pedestrian traffic 
on Bağdat Avenue, İstiklal Avenue and in the Nişantaşi region, 
considered to be the main shopping streets in Istanbul, declined 
by between 10% and 20% over the last year. The main reasons 
behind this are the expansion of urban transformation works in 
metropolitan zones and the reduction in tourist numbers. The 
power of Bağdat Avenue as a center of attraction is again on the 
rise with the September opening of Beymen’s largest high street 
store, Beymen Suadiye, and other brands will be opening their 
doors shortly.

The office rental market in 2017 was more active when compared 
to the last two years. Rental volume in 2017 improved by 72% 
when compared to last year, and the main reason is the drop 
in rents due to rising foreign exchange rates. However, vacancy 
rates in the Levent-Etiler-Maslak region in Istanbul rose above 
30%, resulting in the highest vacancy rates of the last decade. 
Office rents in the near future are expected to decline, and 
it is projected that this sector will create a more attractive 
environment for customers.

“While 2017 was not a very 
positive year in terms of real 
estate sales and office rent, in 
relative terms the retail sector 
had a more positive year. We 
believe sector developments 
in 2018 will be similar to last 
year.”
     

Ozan Hançer
Strategic Planning,
Business Development and Investor 
Relations Director
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2017 ACTIVITIES
 • Developments Pertaining to Akiş REIT
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AKBATI SHOPPING MALL HAD A VERY SUCCESSFUL YEAR, WITH TOTAL RETAIL 
TURNOVER GROWTH ABOVE 19.6%. THIS GROWTH IS WAY ABOVE THE 
SHOPPING MALL INVESTORS ASSOCIATION’S INDEX, WHICH REFLECTS THE 
SECTOR AVERAGE.

Developments Pertaining to Akiş REIT

Completing its merger with SAF REIT, Akiş REIT has 
consolidated its standing in the real estate sector. Akiş 
REIT will be one of Turkey’s largest Real Estate Investment 
Trusts in terms of shareholder equity with this move, which 
will contribute to operational efficiency and sustainable 
growth. The merger process was registered as of January 
18, 2017.

The portfolio became more retail oriented, and gained 
significant rental income potential. Constructions have 
been continued in street retail on Bağdat Street.  

Akiş REIT started to bring entirely new living spaces to life, 
with its new brand Akapartman, in the most prestigious 
and lively locations, with innovative and unique designs, 
and peerless architectural features. 

Akbatı Shopping Mall had a very successful year, with total 
retail turnover growth above 19.6%. This growth is way 
above the Shopping Mall Investors Association’s index, 
which reflects the sector average. Akasya Shopping Mall, 
included in our SAF REIT shareholding, managed to steadily 
grow its number of visitors and total retail turnover in its 
of operation, and strengthened its prestigious position.

Moreover, engagements to reinforce alignment with 
legal regulations and corporate governance structure 
were maintained in 2017. The Corporate Governance 

Rating was conducted in November, and our Company’s 
Corporate Governance rate rose from 9.44 out of 10 in 
2016, to 9.49 in 2017. AKİŞ REIT once again asserted its 
difference in corporate structure and transparency among 
the companies operating in the Turkish real estate sector.

Life Academy, an AKİŞ REIT brand, continues bull sessions 
to offer an efficient platform to those who wish to enhance 
individual awareness of a real estate company in Turkey, 
and contribute to social happiness. So far, Life Academy 
has won 12 awards in total.

Along with the purchases following the capital increase 
in Karlitepe Gayrimenkul A.Ş., which was previously 
purchased as part of the Beykoz project, Karlitepe 
Gayrimenkul A.Ş. fully owned a site of approximately 
15,700 m2 in the Beykoz region.

Within the scope of the ordinary partnership with 
Mudanya Gayrimenkul, a construction agreement was 
signed on a flat for land basis, on an area of 22,400 m2, as 
AKİŞ-Mudanya Ordinary Partnership. Following the zoning 
works to be conducted on the planned region covering the 
lands, license applications will be made, and construction 
will be initiated.
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PROJECTS AND 
PORTFOLIO
•  Investment Properties
•  Stocks
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Projects and Portfolio 

Akbatı

With its shares wholly owned by Akiş REIT, the Akbatı 
Project was developed in Esenyurt, İstanbul with an 
investment of approximately USD 250 million.

Akbatı is designed as a lifestyle center comprised of a 
shopping center and residences that carry the concepts of 
quality and comfort to the highest levels. Spread on a total 
construction area of 242,000 m², Akbatı Shopping Mall 
accommodates about 200 stores, nine movie theaters, 
restaurants offering cuisines from around the world, 
playgrounds and sports fields, and a Festival Park with a 
5,000 person capacity on a net leasable area of 65,496 
m². One of the main transit points in Akbatı Shopping 
Mall, Restaurants Avenue is a major meeting point with 
its elegant cafés and restaurants selected among the top 
brands. Hosting visitors since September 2011, Akbatı 
Shopping Mall earned rental income of TRY84,884,181 in 
2017.

Celebrating its 6th anniversary, Akbatı received 87 
awards from prominent national and international sector 
competitions, notching up phenomenal success. Within 
the last six years Akbatı has organized 721 Children’s 
events, 152 Special discussions, 216 Food workshops, 
387 Yoga and Pilates lessons, 14 Fitness and Latin dance 
lessons for children, 20 Autograph sessions, 10 Exhibitions, 
9 Plays, 8 Foreign licensed private events, 16 Mega 
concerts and numerous free smaller concerts. The 19.6% 
hike in turnover and the international awards it received 
demonstrate that Akbatı Shopping Mall has attained the 
targeted success. 

As a result of great efforts, Akbatı Shopping Mall 
received “Excellent” certification, as part of BREEAM In 
Use - International, in 2016. It once again registered its 
sustainable practices at the end of the process, where 
such criteria as proper usage of resources, internal 
environment, and the significance placed on health were 
evaluated.

“Since 2011, Akbatı, the outstanding 
project in its region, has proved itself 
with turnover above inflation rates 
and growth in visitor numbers each 
year. Akasya, located in the heart of 
the Anatolian side of Istanbul, has 
become an essential meeting location 
with its combination of strong 
branding, fine restaurants, cafes and 
entertainment areas. We will continue 
to sign agreements with brands that 
will add value to our Bağdat Avenue 
projects.”            

Hakan Biçen
Leasing Director

19.6%  
growth Akbatı Shopping Mall 

retail turnovers grew by 
19.6% in 2017.
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AKASYA CULTURE AND ARTS, HOSTING LEADING PLAYS AND CONCERTS 
IN TURKEY, WON THE NEW VENUES AWARD IN DIREKLERARASI VIEWER’S 
ISTANBUL AWARDS, AND A GOLDEN STEVIE AWARD IN THE BEST PRODUCT 
AND SERVICE CATEGORY AT THE INTERNATIONAL BUSINESS AWARDS.

Akasya

With the SAF REIT Merger registered on January 18, 2017, 
Akasya was brought under the same roof as Akiş REIT. 
Akasya obtained rental income of TRY 209,437,745, and 
growth of 17.5% in turnover.

The Akasya Project was constructed on a 121,000-m² site 
in Acibadem. Comprising 1,371 residences and a shopping 
center, with a rentable area of 80,484 m², the project 
has three phases; the Grove, Lake and Urban. The Wood 
and Lake Stages were opened for housing in 2012 and 
deliveries of the City Stage were completed. The Akasya 
Shopping Center, located in the City Stage, opened its 
doors on March 6, 2014.

Akasya is one of the most prominent projects, both for 
the Anatolian side and for Istanbul, offering an enjoyable 
shopping experience and rich social life. Adjacent to 
nature in green areas integrated with the energy of the 
lakes, it also affords access to various squares to enjoy the 
fresh air.
 
Since opening on March 6, 2014, Akasya has accumulated 
a total of 91 prizes in the most prestigious international 
awards events across the world. The most prominent 
of the awards received during the last year is the New 
Developments: Large category from the ICSC European 
Shopping Centre Awards as the Best Shopping Mall in 
Europe.
 
The Akasya Project obtained BREEAM Certification thanks 
to energy efficiency gains from using grey water in the Pool 
and garden watering, utilizing rainwater, designing floor 
gardens, and using high energy efficient HVAC systems and 
lighting automations.

Opening its doors on June 10, 2016, Akasya Kültür Sanat 
- AKS has become one of the newest and most enjoyable 
venues on Istanbul’s Anatolian side, with programs for 
different disciplines in art. AKS has taken the cultural 

and artistic stage of Istanbul by storm, hosting programs 
throughout the year, including sellout plays and acoustic 
concerts, along with contemporary art exhibitions, 
concerts and discussions. Offering a delightful shopping 
experience, Akasya Shopping Center also presents an 
abundant social life, and its contribution to the world of 
arts and culture has been rewarded. Akasya Culture and 
Arts, hosting leading plays and concerts in Turkey, won 
the New Venues Award in Direklerarasi Viewer’s Istanbul 
Awards, and a Golden Stevie Award in the Best Product 
and Service category at the International Business Awards.

Uşaklıgil

Akiş REIT collaborated with Beymen on the Uşakligil 
Apartment in its first high street retail project, and 
the store opened its doors to visitors on September 6, 
2017. Rental income from Uşakligil since September has 
amounted to TRY 4,170,869.

Mecidiyeköy

The total rental income obtained from six office units in 
Mecidiyeköy in 2017 came to TRY 689,223.

Property  2017 Rental Income

Akasya                                             209,437,745 TL 
Akbatı AVM       84,884,181 TL
Uşakligil*                               4,170,869 TL 
Mecidiyeköy                              689,223 TL 
Other 888,235 TL
Total     300,070,253 TL

* Represents rental income of approximately 4 months
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Information on Portfolio Assets and Summary of Appraisal Report
Akış̇ Reit Summary List of Investment Propertie

Property  Current Value (TRY)  Report Nr.  Valuation Company  Report Date

Akasya 2,410,000,000 2017/595 Lotus Gayrimenkul Değerleme  31/12/2017
   ve Danişmanlik A.Ş.
Akbatı 912,050,000 2017/AKİŞGYO/003            Terra Gayrimenkul       31/12/2017
   Değerleme ve Danişmanlik A.Ş.                                            
Uşakligil Apt./Suadiye 186,390,000 2017/AKİŞGYO/007 Terra Gayrimenkul     31/12/2017
   Değerleme ve Danişmanlik A.Ş.                                                                     
Akasya Social Facility              19,715,000    2017/597 Lotus Gayrimenkul Değerleme    31/12/2017           
   ve Danişmanlik A.Ş.                                                                                   
Üsküdar 3 Independent 1,640,000       2017/598    Lotus Gayrimenkul Değerleme    31/12/2017
  Section                                                                                         ve Danişmanlik A.Ş.                                                                                
Mecidiyeköy                    3,030,000     2017/600    Lotus Gayrimenkul Değerleme  31/12/2017
                                                                                                                      ve Danişmanlik A.Ş.                                   
Bulgaria Lands 2,711,000 2017/AKİŞGYO/009 Terra Gayrimenkul 31/12/2017
   Değerleme ve Danişmanlik A.Ş.
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STOCKS
• Erenköy Apartment
• Akapartman Suadiye
• Çiftehavuzlar Site
• Akasya Project
• Akkoza Project
• Akbatı Project
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STOCKS
• Erenköy Apartment
• Akapartman Suadiye
• Çiftehavuzlar Site
• Akasya Project
• Akkoza Project
• Akbatı Project

UNIQUE ARCHITECTURE, AND INNOVATIVE AND UNIQUE DESIGNS, 
IN THE MOST PRESTIGIOUS AND LIVELY LOCATION, WITH OUR NEW 
BRAND AKAPARTMAN.

Akış̇ Reit Summary List of Inventor

 Inventory  Current Report  Valuation Report
Property Value (TRY)* Value (TRY) Nr.  Company Date

Erenköy  263,037,451  306,205,000   2017/AKİŞGYO/005 Terra Gayrimenkul 31/12/2017
(378 Ada, 25 Parcel)    Değerleme ve 
    Danişmanlik A.Ş.
Çiftehavuzlar/Caddebostan 37,069,000  7,835,000  2017/AKİŞGYO/006 Terra Gayrimenkul 31/12/2017
(1435 Ada, 39 Parcel)    Değerleme ve 
    Danişmanlik A.Ş.  
Ak apartment/Suadiye 49,195,311 50,840,000 2017-8620 Nova Taşinmaz  31/12/2017
(315 Ada, 3 Parcel)     Değerleme ve 
    Danişmanlik A.Ş.
Akkoza Project  139,534     865,000     2017/AKİŞGYO/004 Terra Gayrimenkul 31/12/2017
    Değerleme ve 
    Danişmanlik A.Ş.
Akbatı Project  126,832      500,000     2017/AKİŞGYO/008 Terra Gayrimenkul 31/12/2017
    Değerleme ve 
    Danişmanlik A.Ş. 
Akasya Project  7,921,962  5,775,000     2017/596 Lotus Gayrimenkul 31/12/2017
    Değerleme ve
    Danişmanlik A.Ş. 

* Stock values cover cost value as provided on financial statements.

Erenköy Apartment

A project consisting of high street retailing and office units 
will be constructed on property located at City block no. 
378, Plot no. 25, on Bağdat Avenue in the Kadiköy district.

Akapartman Suadiye

Akiş REIT will present brand new living spaces in the 
most prestigious and lively locations, with its innovative 
and unique designs and peerless architectural features. 
“Akapartman Suadiye”, the first project by the Akapartman 
brand, has a total of 6 apartments on a 1,981 m² site, with 
3 + 1 and Duplex 4 + 1 house type options. 

Located on Suadiye Bağdat Street, which is at the heart of 
shopping and entertainment, and houses chic restaurants, 
cafes and world famous brands on a 14 kilometer stretch, it 
turns heads not only for its high investment value, but also 
panoramic sea views and special designs, with each and 
every detail thought out. The Akapartman Suadiye Project 
is currently being constructed on property registered to 
City block no. 315, Parcel No 3., Kadiköy, at the Title Deed 
Office, with A block offering commercial units and B block 
offering residential units.
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THE MOST MODERN EXAMPLE OF HIGH STREET RETAILING ON BAĞDAT 
AVENUE, AND THE MOST PRESTIGIOUS ADDRESS ON THE ANATOLIAN SIDE, 
WITH THE AKİŞ REIT DIFFERENCE.

Çiftehavuzlar Site
A combined project will be carried out on a 1,270-m2 site 
located at City block no. 1435, Plot no. 39, Çiftehavuzlar, 
Kadiköy District.

Akasya Project
The Akbatı project is comprised of the remaining 3 
apartments.

Akkoza Project
These comprise the remaining 2 residential units within 
the scope of the Akkoza Project.

Akbatı Project
The Akbatı project is comprised of the remaining 1 
apartments.

Karlıtepe Gayrimenkul Geliştirme ve Yatırım 
Anonim Şirketi

The company’s land portfolio is composed of residential 
and residential + commercial zoned lands, located in 
Istanbul’s Beykoz district, Gümüşsuyu Neighborhood. The 
total area of the lands it owns as of 2017 year-end is about 
15.700 m2. The project phase will be initiated following 
zoning works conducted by Beykoz Municipality in the 
region covering the lands.  

Akiş Mudanya Adi Ortaklığı 
 
Flat for land contracts have been executed to develop 
projects on the residential and residential + commercial 
zoned lands located in Istanbul’s Beykoz district, 
Gümüşsuyu Neighborhood. As of 2017 year-end, flat for 
land contracts were executed on land of almost 22,400 m2.

Akyaşam Yönetim Hizmetleri A.Ş.

Akyaşam Yönetim Hizmetleri A.Ş. is the company that 
manages and operates the Akbatı and Akasya Shopping 
Centers and offices. Ak Yön was registered on August 12, 
2011 and founded in Istanbul. Responsibilities include 
maintenance, service and management of residences, 
housing estates, modern housing units, shopping centers, 
commercial and business centers, hotels, accommodation 
locations, tourism facilities, social complexes, cinema 
and theater halls, hospitals and retirement homes. Ak 
Yön has taken the measures required and established 
and managed security, and offered maintenance, repair, 
surveillance and supervision services and a variety of 
support and administration services. Our Ak Yön and 
Akyaşam companies were merged under the legal entity 
of Akyaşam after Akyaşam took over Ak Yön with all 
its assets and liabilities. Ak Yön was dissolved without 
liquidation, and the merger was registered and completed 
on September 3, 2017 before the Istanbul Trade Registry 
Directorate.

Akiş REIT Subsidiaries List

Name of Participation Participation Rate of Company (%) Area of Operations

Karlitepe  100 Real Estate Investment
Aksu Real Estate EAD. 100 Real Estate Investment
Akyaşam Yönetim Hizmetleri A.Ş. 100 Maintenance, Service and  
  Management
Akiş GYO - Mudanya Adi Ortakliği 50 Real Estate Investment
Ottoman Gayrimenkul Yatırimlari İnş. ve Tic. A.Ş. 10  Real Estate Investment

Subsidiaries
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Aksu Real Estate

Aksu Textiles E.A.D. was established in Bulgaria on December 
18, 2000 and is engaged in the manufacture, export and 
import of all kinds of textile and clothing. With all its capital 
belonging to Ak-Al, Aksu Textiles E.A.D. became an affiliate 
of Akiş REIT with the merger registered on January 4, 2013. 
With the Resolution of the Board of Directors dated August 
16, 2013, the title of Aksu Textiles E.A.D. was amended to 
Aksu Real Estate E.A.D. Following this title amendment, the 
scope of activities was also amended to include all real estate 
investments in Turkey and abroad.

Ottoman Gayrimenkul Yatırımları İnş. ve Tic. A.Ş.

Akiş’s share at Ottoman Gayrimenkul Yatırimlari İnş. ve Tic. 
A.Ş. is 10%.

R&D Activities

As a result of being a real estate investment trust, Akiş 
REIT does not conduct R&D activities. Market research and 
other required analyses are conducted through firms that 
provide professional consultancy.



Akiş REIT 34

Sustainability

OUR SUSTAINABLE QUALITY AND COMFORT MAKES THE CRUCIAL 
DIFFERENCE. ADDING VALUE TO OUR LIVING SPACES. AKYAŞAM AIMS TO 
IMPROVE YEAR ON YEAR... 

Akbatı  

As a result of efforts for energy efficiency in 2016-2017, 
average savings of 19% have been achieved in electricity 
consumption. This saving of 1,580,000 kWh translates to 
earnings with a financial value of TRY500,000.

The yield of energy efficiency works carried out in 2015-
2016 was reaped in 2017, and an average saving of 25% 
was achieved in electricity consumption when compared to 
2016. This saving of 2,900,000 kWh translates to earnings 
with a financial value of TRY900,000.

While the electricity charging station has been operational 
since 2012, it is projected to make a capacity expansion in 
parallel with the rise in utilization of the area, within the 
scope of plans for the upcoming period.

Akasya

As of 2017, electricity consumption fell by 23% when 
compared to 2014. Parking lighting fixtures were renewed 
in April 2017, and 25w Led bulbs were installed to replace 
the 70w fluorescent bulbs. This led to energy savings 
of 58%. As a result of the work carried out to improve 
energy efficiency in our heating system, savings of 26% 
were secured at the end of 2017. Due to work improving 
the water system, uncontrolled water consumption was 
curtailed, and a saving of 27% was attained at the end 
of 2017. Consumption by homes and shopping centers 
was monitored via 1100 electrical meters, 1500 heating, 
cooling and water cost allocators, and all data regarding 
energy efficiency is monitored. There are charging stations 
for electrical vehicles, and the infrastructure is in place to 
set up more of these as and when the need arises.
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Human Resources

At Akiş REIT, our main aim is to support our employees, creating 
added value while we grow, and adding value for our investors 
and shareholders.

Our main target is to become a market leader with close 
relationships with its employees and customers, that breaks 
new ground, where employees are successful professionals 
in their own fields of expertise, a Company with which all 
shareholders are proud to be associated. In line with this target, 
our Human Resources Processes will ensure that our Company 
achieves its goals; recruits employees who demonstrate high 
performance and potential with strong capabilities; improves 
the loyalty of our current employees, and constantly reviews 
and improves according to our requirements and current 
conditions. Managed as an integrated single system, our 
Human Resources Processes enable the creation of policies 
based on a structure which focuses on employees, facilitating 
more productive work and career development, guaranteeing 
successful business results and sustainability in order to pass 
this company structure on to future generations. 

Human Resources Processes

Recruitment and Placement Process

Our recruitment and placement process for candidates 
is enriched by our internal announcement system, which 
informs group employees about open positions. Human 
resources, together with the manager of the related position 
do competency based interviews. Selected candidates take 
personality test and depending on the positions level they also 
participate in Assessment and Development Center activities.

Performance Management Process 

In our performance management system Company’s goals are 
distributed to our employees and their contribution is sought 
by our top management. Evaluating the results and the succes 
rates of goals, feedback sessions, training and development 
planning, rewarding are critical parts of this process.

Compensation and Benefits Management 
System 

The Company’s compensation policy was established by 
considering the market, our current compensation structure 
and internal balance, the real estate sector and the solvency of 
the Company according to our business position. Along with the 
compensation policy, individual performance is also considered 
during the review process. With compensation market analysis 
carried out each year, a fair and competitive policy is achieved. 
Benefits that fall in line with the job grades of our employees 
meet the expectations of our staff and are reviewed for 
compatibility with developments in the market. 

“While our company reaches 
its vision and targets, our most 
valuable resource is our employees 
that care and find meaning in 
their work, who establish strong 
bonds with the company, and who 
are participatory and strive for 
improvement. The foundation of the 
value we place on our employees 
and of our sustainability approach 
is our integrated human resources 
processes.”          

Özlem Özbatır
Human Resources Director
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INTEGRATION OF ALL PRACTICES REQUIRED BY THE CODES OF OUR COMPANY 
IN OUR BUSINESS PROCESSES IS OUR MAIN RESPONSIBILITY, IN ORDER 
TO ENSURE THAT OUR EMPLOYEES WORK IN A HEALTHIER AND SAFER 
ENVIRONMENT IN COMFORT AND HARMONY.

Talent Management Process 

Employees meeting the criteria defined in our Talent 
Management Process, are included in the procedure, which 
is carried out biennially. In the first stage, the employee 
is assessed by the manager of the Leadership Potential 
Inventory, and by executives of matrix managers, if any. In the 
second stage, the nominees in the talent pool are included in 
the Assessment and Development Center application based 
on the competencies of the higher role. There are different 
levels in the Talent Pool that start from the company level 
and end at holding level. These pools consist of potential 
employees, and the development of these employees is 
closely monitored. Top management was included in the 
process in 2017, and the context was expanded with back-
ups, career mapping and development planning.

PHILHARMONIC Akkök Mentoring Program

This is a development program that supports group culture, 
corporate memory and our ways of doing business can be 
passed on to future generations. It positively affects the 
development and loyalty of mid-level managers, and aims to 
contribute to the development of future leaders.

In 2017, three of our senior executives joined the program 
as mentors on a voluntary basis, and actively participated 
in the process by meeting once a month with three mentee 
from different group companies. This year, two mid-level 
executives were included in the program as mentees and 
their development was supported.

Star Akkök Employees Reward Process 

The awards that we initiated to determine the best 
practices, and to share them and recognize our employees’ 
achievements, include Sustainability, Cooperation, 
Operational Excellence, and Entrepreneurship and Innovation 
categories. Projects were entered in the process in 2017, 
and the Akbatı Family Festival, developed under the Akiş 
REIT brand, was awarded in the Sustainability category. We 
thanked all the project teams that were nominated for Star 
Akkök Employees, and a dinner was organized together with 
the top management.

Occupational Health and Safety (OHS)

In order to create a safe environment in the real estate sector 
based on People First.

 
In all our business processes and activities, we

 determine, evaluate and control risks regarding
 occupational health and safety. 
 We evaluate possible emergencies and provide for
 the safety of our stakeholders by preparing  
 necessary action plans. 
 We follow legal protocol and other related  
 procedures, and contribute to their development.
 We organize training activities on occupational  
 health and safety in order to improve the knowledge  
 of our employees and business partners.
 By encouraging our employees to participate, we
 continuously improve and monitor occupational  
 health and safety management and performance.

Integration of all practices required by the codes of our 
company in our business processes is our main responsibility, 
in order to ensure that our employees work in a healthier 
and safer environment, in comfort and harmony. We carry 
out all of our activities with human values, and thus with the 
aim of steadily raising our Occupational Health and Safety 
performance. At the same time, we commit to adhere to 
regulatory standards by excelling in doing our part.

Keeping the work environment safe requires constant co-
operation from all employees. All employees are responsible 
for taking the necessary precautions regarding health and 
safety, both for themselves and for those who might be 
affected by their actions. Akiş REIT continuously works to 
create awareness of occupational health and safety among 
employees, and provides an environment that enables 
employees to take responsibility on all aspects of safety.

Within the scope of the Occupational Health and Safety 
Coordination Board, activities were established to ensure the 
health and safety of our employees and to comply with the 
applicable codes. The aim is to review the practices of the 
community regularly, to carry out the necessary development 
work, to extend the best practices, and to determine the 
highest occupational safety standards. 
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Ahmet Cemal Dördüncü 
Chairman of the Board of Directors

Born in Istanbul in 1953, Ahmet C. Dördüncü, graduated 
from Çukurova University, Department of Business 
Administration. Later, he pursued his postgraduate studies 
at Mannheim and Hannover Universities. Mr. Dördüncü 
began his professional career at Claas OHG Company 
in Germany, and after returning to Turkey, he worked at 
Mercedes Benz A.Ş. between 1984 and 1987. He joined 
Sabanci Group in 1987, and assumed several positions at 
Kordsa A.Ş. until 1998. Mr. Dördüncü served as General 
Manager/President at DUSA South America, and later 
at DUSA North America in 1998. After working as Group 
President of Strategic Planning and Business Development 
at H.O. Sabanci Holding A.Ş. in 2004, he assumed the 
position of Chairman of the Executive Board of Sabanci 
Holding from 2005 to 2010. Mr. Dördüncü has served as 
Chairman of the Executive Board of Akkök Holding since 
January 2013. He also serves on the Boards of Directors 
at various Holding companies, as well as at Anadolu 

Isuzu Otomotiv Sanayii ve Ticaret A.Ş., Coca-Cola İçecek 
A.Ş., Anadolu Efes Biracilik ve Malt Sanayii A.Ş., and 
International Paper Co.

Raif Ali Dinçkök
Member of the Board of Directors

Born in Istanbul in 1971, Raif Ali Dinçkök graduated 
from Boston University (USA), Department of Business 
Administration in 1993, and subsequently started 
working at Akkök Holding. He worked in the Purchasing 
Department of Ak-Al Tekstil San. A.Ş. between 1994 
and 2000, and later served as Coordinator at Akenerji 
Elektrik Üretim A.Ş. from 2000 to 2003. Board of 
Directors Member and Assistant CEO of Akkök Holding 
A.Ş., Raif Ali Dinçkök is also a Member of the Board of 
Directors at several Akkök Group companies including 
Aksa Acrylic, Akiş REIT and Ak-kim Kimya, as well as 
Chairman of the Board of Directors of Dinkal ve Akasya 
Çocuk Dünyasi.

                              Term
Name and Surname Title  of Office

Ahmet Cemal DÖRDÜNCÜ Chairman of the Board of Directors  3 Years
Raif Ali DİNÇKÖK Deputy Chairman of the Board of Directors  3 Years
Mehmet Emin ÇİFTÇİ Member of the Board of Directors  3 Years
İhsan Gökşin DURUSOY Member of the Board of Directors - General Manager  3 Years
Alize Dinçkök EYÜBOĞLU Member of the Board of Directors  3 Years 
Doğu - Batı Sanayi Ürünleri İhracat ve  İthalat A.Ş.  Member of the Board of Directors  3 Years 
Recep Yilmaz ARGÜDEN Independent Member of the Board of Directors  3 Years
Ayşe Selen KOCABAŞ Independent Member of the Board of Directors  3 Years
Fatma Füsun AKKAL BOZOK Independent Member of the Board of Directors  3 Years

Name and Surname  Title

İhsan Gökşin Durusoy General Manager
Naile Banuhan Yürükoğlu Assistant General Manager / Finance
Didem Hiçyorulmazlar Sales and Marketing Director
Mustafa Ozan Hançer Strategic Planning, Business Development and Investor Relations Director
Özlem Özbatır Human Resources Director
Hakan Biçen Leasing Director
Abdulkadir Çelik Assistant General Manager / Public Institutions Relations

Corporate Governance

Board of Directors

Company Management
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Mehmet Emin Çiftçi  
Member of the Board of Directors

Mehmet Emin Çiftçi was born in Istanbul in 1987, and 
graduated from Istanbul Ticaret University Faculty of 
Business Administration. He started his professional life 
in the Department of Budget Planning and Reporting in 
Ak-Kim Kimya Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş, and completed his 
Business Administration education in UCLA Extension 
(UCLA). Mehmet Emin Çiftçi works as a Board Member 
on the Board of Directors of Akkök Holding and several 
Akkök Group companies. 

İhsan Gökşin Durusoy  
Member of the Board of Directors - General Manager

Born in Denizli in 1964, İhsan Gökşin Durusoy received
his master’s degree in Industrial Engineering from 
Boğaziçi University in 1987 and started his career as 
Production Engineer in Arçelik. Working as Finance and 
IT Executive at Izmir Demir Çelik A.Ş. from 1988 to 1989, 
Durusoy joined Akkök Group in 1989 as Chief Budget 
Planner at Ak-Al Tekstil Sanayii A.Ş. Here, he later served 
first as Budget Planning Manager and then as Strategic 
Planning Director. In 2007, he became Assistant General 
Manager at Akiş REIT, which was founded with the aim of 
developing unique and large-scale real estate projects. 
Since 2009, Mr Durusoy has been serving as General 
Manager and Member of the Board of Directors at Akiş 
REIT, as well as serving on the Boards of Directors at 
various Akkök Holding companies.

Alize Dinçkök Eyüboğlu 
Member of the Board of Directors

Born in İstanbul in 1983, Alize Dinçkök Eyüboğlu 
graduated from the Department of Business 
Administration and Economics at the Sawyer School of 
Management of Suffolk University in 2004. She attended 
Harvard Business School General Management Program 
and completed it successfully. She started her career 
in 2005 as a Strategic Planning Expert at Ak-Al Tekstil 
Sanayi A.Ş. She joined Akiş Gayrimenkul Yatırimi A.Ş., 
when the Company was setup in 2005. Here she worked 
as Project Coordinator, Sales and Marketing Manager, 
and Assistant General Manager for Sales and Marketing 
respectively.Member of the Board of Directors and 

Executive Board Member of Akkök Holding A.Ş., Alize 
Dinçkök Eyüboğlu acts as Chairman of the Board of 
Directors of Akmerkez Lokantacilik, Üçgen Bakim 
and Ak-Pa, and also serves on the Board of Directors 
of various Akkök Group Companies. Alize Dinçkök 
Eyüboğlu also manages the Akkök Group Marketing 
Platform established in December 2015

Doğu-Batı Sanayi Ürünleri İhracat ve İthalat 
Anonim Şirketi 
Member of the Board of Directors

Doğu-Batı Sanayi Ürünleri İhracat ve İthalat A.Ş, which 
is a legal entity board member, was established in 
1974 and registered in the Istanbul Trade Registry 
Directorate with registration number 128795. Meral 
Miryam Molinas has been assigned as representative 
to act on behalf of Doğu-Batı Sanayi Ürünleri İhracat 
ve İthalat A.Ş. She graduated from Robert College and 
completed her undergraduate degree in the Industrial 
Engineering Department of Boğaziçi University. She 
went on to complete her Master’s  at the International 
Administration Department of Istanbul University.

Molinas established the material supply planning 
system at Profilo Telra, where she worked between 
1984 and 2007, and she was in charge of the Company’s 
budget planning control and management information 
systems department.

She assumed the coordination of real estate projects 
under the development of Doğu Batı in 2007.

Recep Yılmaz Argüden
Independent Member of the Board of Directors

Dr. Argüden is the Chairman of ARGE Consultancy, 
which is renowned for its work preparing corporations 
for the future, its creative and innovative management 
strategies, and its social contributions.

He has been serving as Management consultant 
to numerous Turkish and foreign companies in 
strategy, business excellence, institutionalization and 
sustainability. ARGE, which is the first Turkish company 
to sign the UN Global Compact, is considered among 
the top three companies by the European Parliament, 
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shaping the future with corporate social responsibility 
projects, and was selected as B20 Governance and 
Sustainability Information Partner. Besides serving as 
Chairman of Rothschild investment bank in Turkey, he 
has served on the Boards of more than 50 companies 
in many countries during his career. Mr. Argüden shares 
his experience by giving strategy lectures at Boğaziçi 
University, Koç University and War Academies, and with 
his books and columns.

Dr. Argüden, who is world-renowned for his work on 
Boards of Directors and Governance, and whose books 
and articles have been published in many languages, 
assumes international duties such as IFC Corporate 
Governance Group Advisory Committee membership 
and OECD Industry Advisory Committee (BIAC) Public 
Governance Committee Vice-Chairman. He led the 
establishment of Argüden Governance Academy, which 
conducts its activities within the structure of Boğaziçi 
University Foundation, a non-profit organization.

Elected as Chair of the National Network Advisory 
Committee, he worked on the Board of Directors of 
the UN Global Compact, the world’s most extensive 
sustainability platform. During his chairmanship of 
KalDer (Quality Association), he initiated the National 
Quality Movement. He is the founder and/or leader 
of many non-profit organizations such as the Turkish 
Education Volunteers Foundation, the Private Sector 
Volunteers’ Association, Boğaziçi University Alumni 
Association, the Turkish Economic and Social Studies 
Foundation, and the Turkish-American and Turkish-
Canada Business Councils.

Winner of numerous awards such as Strategic 
Leadership, Outstanding Citizenship and Distinguished 
Career, Dr. Argüden was elected among 100 Global 
Leaders of the Future by the World Economic Forum, as 
a result of his work on raising life quality.

Ayşe Selen Kocabaş 
Independent Member of the Board of Directors

Starting her career as a Management Trainee at Koç 
Group, she assumed various managerial positions 
at Arçelik, Marshall Boya and Group Danone and 
DanoneSa, which is a Sabanci partnership. 

She joined the Turkcell family in 2003 as Assistant 
General Manager. She assumed different Assistant 
General Manager roles throughout her 12.5 years. 
After working in Human Resources, Construction & Real 
Estate, General Central Admin, IT, Legal, Purchasing, 
and Strategic Planning, she then headed the Corporate 
Business. Managing operations as part of Marketing, 
Product, Sales, and Service, she assumed responsibility 
for profit and loss, and maintained this post for 5 years. 
She left the Turkcell Group in May 2015. In this period, 
she served as a Board Member for various Turkcell 
Subsidiaries. These companies are İnteltek, known as 
İddia, foreign operations Astelit and Best, Global Bilgi 
Çağri Merkezi (Global Information Call Center), Turkcell 
Payment Systems and Turkcell Technology Company. 
She was the first Female Chairman of Peryon Human 
Resources Association, Turkey’s oldest NGO, and she 
is currently responsible for the Association’s Public 
Relations. Representing the company, she was the 
first corporate founder of the Ethical and Reputation 
Association, and a member of the Turkish Corporate 
Governance Association and the Turkish Industrialists’ 
and Businessmen’s Association. She is a Board Member 
of the Yeniden Biz (Again Us) Foundation, and an 
Advisory Committee member and one of the mentors 
of Endover.

Currently, she is a Board Member of MultinetUP Group, 
a Board Advisor to Simit Sarayi. She provides Strategic 
Management Consultancy and Mentorship Services 
to Boards and company managements. She has been 
working for 24 years.

Selen Kocabaş graduated from Istanbul University 
Department of Economics in English. She completed 
a post-graduate degree in HR Management and 
Organization Behavior at Marmara University.

She is married and has an 18-year old son. She speaks 
French and English.
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Fatma Füsun Akkal Bozok
Independent Member of the Board of Directors

F. Füsun Akkal Bozok completed her academic training 
with a post-graduate degree in Istanbul University, 
Faculty of Administrative Sciences, and a PhD in Istanbul 
University Faculty of Management. After graduating, she 
embarked on her career in 1980 with Arthur Andersen 
Audit Company. She joined Koç Group in 1983 and took 
office as Audit Specialist and Assistant Coordinator in 
the Audit and Financial Group department. She worked 
as Audit and Financial Group Coordinator for 11 years, 
after being appointed in 1992. Working as Financing 
Group Director between 2003 and 2006, Akkal is a 
lecturer at Sabanci University, and has been serving as 
a Board Member for Yapi Kredi since September 2005. 
Akkal is also a Board Member of Koç Financial Services.

Naile Banuhan Yürükoğlu
Assistant General Manager / Finance 

Born in Istanbul in 1964, Naile Banuhan Yürükoğlu 
graduated from the Faculty of Business Administration 
at Istanbul University in 1986. She started her career 
at Egebank as a “management trainee”. Subsequently 
she worked as Marketing officer at Egebank Elmadağ 
Branch. In 1989 she joined Ak-Al Tekstil Sanayii A.Ş 
as Finance Assistant Manager, and afterwards she 
assumed the role of Assistant General Manager for 
Finance. She currently serves as Assistant General 
Manager for Finance at Akiş REIT, a position she has 
held since 2008. Married with one child, Naile Banuhan 
Yürükoğlu is fluent in English.

Hakan Biçen
Leasing Director

Born in Istanbul in 1963, Hakan Biçen graduated from 
the Department of Economics at Istanbul University. He 
started his career at Profilo Holding in the Purchasing 
department. Subsequently, he worked as Export 
Manager at Edpa Pazarlama A.Ş., a subsidiary of Akin 
Holding, then as Real Estate Development Manager at 
McDonalds Turkey, Leasing Director at ECE Turkey, and 
then served as Leasing Director at AVM Mfi Partners. He 
joined AKİŞ REIT in 2009, and currently works as Leasing 
Director. Fluent in English, Hakan Biçen is married and 
has one daughter. 

Didem Hiçyorulmazlar
Sales and Marketing Director

Starting her career as Director of the Finance 
Department at Mert Metal Ltd. in 1996, from 2004 to 
2009, she acted as Sales Executive and Sales Manager 
respectively at Yapi Kredi Koray GYO A.Ş. Hiçyorulmazlar 
joined the Akkök Group in 2009, initially working as 
Sales and Marketing Manager at GAC Gayrimenkul 
Yatırimi A.Ş. and then transferring to Akiş. Since 2017, 
she has served as Sales and Marketing Director of Akiş 
REIT. Hiçyorulmazlar studied at the Sociology Science 
and Literature Department at Mimar Sinan University 
and graduated in 1998. She was born in 1975 in Istanbul, 
is married and speaks English.

Özlem Özbatır
Human Resources Director

Özbatır started her career as Store Group Executive 
at Mudo Mağazacilik A.Ş. in 1990. Between 1991 and 
1993 she was Human Resources and Training Manager 
at F Profil Ltd. and in 1993 she joined the Koç Group, 
and worked on various Human Resources projects 
at Arçelik A.Ş. as a Senior Executive. Continuing her 
career at the same group between 2002 and 2007 as 
Management Development Director at Koç Holding 
A.Ş., she was transferred to Aygaz A.Ş. in 2007 as Human 
Resources Manager. She joined the Akkök Group as HR 
Consultant in December 2009 and played an active role 
in the implementation of the strategic human resources 
programs. Promoted to Consultant to the Human 
Resources Manager of Akkök Holding A.Ş. from 2010 
to 2014, she managed the HR administration of several 
companies within the group. She then assumed varying 
duties and roles as the Akkök Holding Organizational 
Development and Real Estate Human Resources 
Coordinator from 2014 to 2017, and since February 
2017 she has served as HR Director of Akiş REIT. Özbatır 
completed her Bachelor’s degree in the Psychology 
Department of Middle East Technical University in 1989, 
and finished her Master’s in the Business Management 
and Organization Department of Uludağ University. She 
successfully completed the Turkish Adler Professional 
Mentoring Certificate Program in 2014. She was born in 
Merzifon, is married with one child and speaks English.
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Mustafa Ozan Hançer
Business Development, Strategic Planning and 
Investor Relations Director

Mustafa Ozan Hançer started his career as a Management 
Trainee at the Risk Management Department of Garanti 
Bank in 2005. Acting as a Corporate Finance Executive 
in Merger and Acquisitions administration at İş Yatırim 
from 2007 to 2008, Hançer was the Senior Executive in 
investments at Unicorn Capital Girişim Sermayesi from 
2008 to 2010. He joined the Akkök Group in 2010 and 
respectively acted as a Strategic Planning and Business 
Development Executive and Business Development 
and Shareholder Relations Director at Akiş REIT. Since 
2017, he has been the Strategic Planning, Business 
Development and Investor Relations Director at Akiş 
REIT. Graduating from the Civil Engineering Department 
at the Middle East Technical University in 2002, he 
completed the MBA Program at Bilkent University in 
2005. He was born in 1980 in Istanbul, is married and 
speaks English.

Abdulkadir Çelik
Assistant General Manager / Public Institutions 
Relations

Born in 1977 in Çorlu, Çelik completed his education 
as a Construction Technician at the Çorum Vocational 
School of Higher Education at Gazi University. Runner 
up in the associate degree, he was offered a scholarship 
by Istanbul Kültür University in the Civil Engineering 
Department, in English, and again achieved second 
place. He joined Sinpaş Yapi in 1991 as a construction 
technician and then joined SAF REIT in August 2012 
as Assistant General Manager in charge of Sales 
and Marketing. Çelik acted as a Field Engineer at 
the Central Life Resident Project and İkitelli A5 Blok 
Business Center Project; Section Chief at the Bursa 
Ottomanors Residence Project, Construction Site 
Chief at the İkitelli Business Center Social Facility A 6 
Block; Rough Work Chief at the Çengelköy Boğaz Tepe 
Vilal Project; Project Manager at the İkitelli Deposite 
Shopping Center Project; Rough Work Chief at the 
Sinpaş General Directorate Construction Site; Sales at 
Site Development and Administrative Authorization 
Process Directorate, Kentsel Hizmetler REIT, and 
Process Assistant Manager at the Site Development and 
Administrative Authorization.
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To Akiş Gayrimenkul Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş. Corporate Governance Committee,

Pursuant to the Communiqué Regarding the Determination and Implementation of Corporate Governance Principles 
(Serial: II, No: 17.1) issued by the Capital Market Board, Articles of Association, and the criteria set forth in related 
legislation, as a candidate for independent membership of the Board of Directors of Akiş̇ Gayriṁenkul Yatirim Ortakliği 
Anoniṁ Şirketi, I hereby declare that:

a) There is no employment relationship in executive positions assuming key duties and responsibilities in the past five 
years among the Company, the partnerships over which the Company has management control as per Turkish Financial 
Reporting Standards 10, or on which the Company has significant impact as per Turkish Accounting Standards 28, and 
the shareholders holding the management control of the company or having a significant impact on the company, and 
the legal entities over which these shareholders have management control, with me, my spouse and my blood relatives 
or relatives by marriage up to the second degree. I do not own, individually or jointly, more than 5% of the capital or 
voting rights or privileged shares, and no significant commercial relationship is established; 

b)  I have not served as a partner (5% and above), at a managerial position to undertake major duties and responsibilities 
and/or as a board member in any companies, particularly those conducting the auditing (including tax audit, legal audit 
and internal audit), grading and counseling of the Company, to which the company has sold or purchased a significant 
amount of products or services in the framework of the agreements, during the periods of selling or purchasing products 
or services, in the last five years,

c)  I have the requisite professional training, knowledge and experience in order to fulfill the tasks that I will assume in 
the Company as an independent member of the Board of Directors,

d) I will not work in public institutions and organizations, other than academic positions at universities, provided that 
it is appropriate to their relevant legislations, on a full-time basis, after being elected as a member,

e)  I am considered as a resident in Turkey according to the Income Tax Act (I.T.A.) dated December 31, 1960 and 
numbered 193,

f)  I possess the requisite strong ethical standards, professional reputation and experience to contribute positively to 
the Company’s activities, to maintain my objectivity in conflicts of interest between the company and the shareholders, 
and to decide freely in consideration of stakeholders’ rights,

g)  I will spare enough time for the Company’s affairs in order to follow-up the functioning of the Company’s activities, 
and to fully meet the requirements of the duties that I will assume, 

h)  I haven’t served as a member of the Company’s Board of Directors for more than six years during the last ten years,

i)  I haven’t served as an independent member of the Board of Directors in more than three companies whose 
management is controlled by the same person, Company or shareholders holding the management control of the 
Company, and in more than a total of five companies traded on the exchange,

 
Name and Surname: Ayşe Selen Kocabaş
Signature:
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To Akiş Gayrimenkul Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş. Corporate Governance Committee,

Pursuant to the Communiqué Regarding the Determination and Implementation of Corporate Governance Principles 
(Serial: II, No: 17.1) issued by the Capital Market Board, Articles of Association, and the criteria set forth in related 
legislation, as a candidate for independent membership of the Board of Directors of Akiş̇ Gayriṁenkul Yatirim Ortakliği 
Anoniṁ Şirketi, I hereby declare that:

a) There is no employment relationship in executive positions assuming key duties and responsibilities in the past five 
years among the Company, the partnerships over which the Company has management control as per Turkish Financial 
Reporting Standards 10, or on which the Company has significant impact as per Turkish Accounting Standards 28, and 
the shareholders holding the management control of the company or having a significant impact on the company, and 
the legal entities over which these shareholders have management control, with me, my spouse and my blood relatives 
or relatives by marriage up to the second degree. I do not own, individually or jointly, more than 5% of the capital or 
voting rights or privileged shares, and no significant commercial relationship is established; 

b)  I have not served as a partner (5% and above), at a managerial position to undertake major duties and responsibilities 
and/or as a board member in any companies, particularly those conducting the auditing (including tax audit, legal audit 
and internal audit), grading and counseling of the Company, to which the company has sold or purchased a significant 
amount of products or services in the framework of the agreements, during the periods of selling or purchasing products 
or services, in the last five years,

c)  I have the requisite professional training, knowledge and experience in order to fulfill the tasks that I will assume in 
the Company as an independent member of the Board of Directors,

d) I will not work in public institutions and organizations, other than academic positions at universities, provided that 
it is appropriate to their relevant legislations, on a full-time basis, after being elected as a member,

e)  I am considered as a resident in Turkey according to the Income Tax Act (I.T.A.) dated December 31, 1960 and 
numbered 193,

f)  I possess the requisite strong ethical standards, professional reputation and experience to contribute positively to 
the Company’s activities, to maintain my objectivity in conflicts of interest between the company and the shareholders, 
and to decide freely in consideration of stakeholders’ rights,

g)  I will spare enough time for the Company’s affairs in order to follow-up the functioning of the Company’s activities, 
and to fully meet the requirements of the duties that I will assume, 

h)  I haven’t served as a member of the Company’s Board of Directors for more than six years during the last ten years,

i)  I haven’t served as an independent member of the Board of Directors in more than three companies whose 
management is controlled by the same person, Company or shareholders holding the management control of the 
Company, and in more than a total of five companies traded on the exchange,

 
Name and Surname: Fatma Füsun Akkal Bozok
Signature:
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To Akiş Gayrimenkul Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş. Corporate Governance Committee,

Pursuant to the Communiqué Regarding the Determination and Implementation of Corporate Governance Principles 
(Serial: II, No: 17.1) issued by the Capital Market Board, Articles of Association, and the criteria set forth in related 
legislation, as a candidate for independent membership of the Board of Directors of Akiş̇ Gayriṁenkul Yatirim Ortakliği 
Anoniṁ Şirketi, I hereby declare that:

a) There is no employment relationship in executive positions assuming key duties and responsibilities in the past five 
years among the Company, the partnerships over which the Company has management control as per Turkish Financial 
Reporting Standards 10, or on which the Company has significant impact as per Turkish Accounting Standards 28, and 
the shareholders holding the management control of the company or having a significant impact on the company, and 
the legal entities over which these shareholders have management control, with me, my spouse and my blood relatives 
or relatives by marriage up to the second degree. I do not own, individually or jointly, more than 5% of the capital or 
voting rights or privileged shares, and no significant commercial relationship is established; 

b)  I have not served as a partner (5% and above), at a managerial position to undertake major duties and responsibilities 
and/or as a board member in any companies, particularly those conducting the auditing (including tax audit, legal audit 
and internal audit), grading and counseling of the Company, to which the company has sold or purchased a significant 
amount of products or services in the framework of the agreements, during the periods of selling or purchasing products 
or services, in the last five years,

c)  I have the requisite professional training, knowledge and experience in order to fulfill the tasks that I will assume in 
the Company as an independent member of the Board of Directors,

d) I will not work in public institutions and organizations, other than academic positions at universities, provided that 
it is appropriate to their relevant legislations, on a full-time basis, after being elected as a member,

e)  I am considered as a resident in Turkey according to the Income Tax Act (I.T.A.) dated December 31, 1960 and 
numbered 193,

f)  I possess the requisite strong ethical standards, professional reputation and experience to contribute positively to 
the Company’s activities, to maintain my objectivity in conflicts of interest between the company and the shareholders, 
and to decide freely in consideration of stakeholders’ rights,

g)  I will spare enough time for the Company’s affairs in order to follow-up the functioning of the Company’s activities, 
and to fully meet the requirements of the duties that I will assume, 

h)  I haven’t served as a member of the Company’s Board of Directors for more than six years during the last ten years,

i)  I haven’t served as an independent member of the Board of Directors in more than three companies whose 
management is controlled by the same person, Company or shareholders holding the management control of the 
Company, and in more than a total of five companies traded on the exchange,

 
Name and Surname: Recep Yılmaz Argüden
Signature:
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS ASSESSMENT REGARDING THE WORKING PRINCIPLES AND EFFICIENCY 
OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ COMMITTEES

After the election of the Chairman and members, carried out in compliance with Corporate Governance Principles, with the resolution 
of our Board of Directors;

 Fatma Füsun Akkal Bozok, an Independent Board Member, was appointed Audit Committee Chairman, and Ayşe Selen Kocabaş,  
 was appointed Committee Member.
 Recep Yilmaz Argüden, an Independent Board Member was appointed Corporate Governance Committee Chairman, and   
 Mehmet Emin Çiftçi and Mustafa Ozan Hançer were assigned as Members of the Committee.
 Ayşe Selen Kocabaş, an Independent Board Member was appointed Chairman of the Early Risk Detection Committee, and   
 Fatma Füsun Akkal Bozok and Alize Dinçkök Eyüboğlu were assigned as Members of the Committee.

The Directives regulating the duties and working principles of the three committees above have been accepted by the Board of 
Directors, and have been published on our Company website. 

In 2017, all Board of Directors’ Committees performed their duties and responsibilities according to the Corporate Governance 
Principles and their own Directives.

In line with the annual meeting plans as stated in the Directives and required for efficiency in 2017;

 The Audit Committee convened five meetings; on February 20, 2017, March 09, 2017, May 05, 2017, August 14, 2017 and   
 November 06, 2017.
 The Corporate Governance Committee held three meetings; on January 30, 2017, March 08, 2017 and September 08, 2017. 
 The Early Risk Detection Committee held six meetings; on March 23, 2017, May 03, 2017, June 20, 2016, August 25, 2017,   
 November 07, 2017 and December 27, 2017.

The Audit Committee in charge of taking all the required measures for internal and independent audits to be adequate and transparent 
and in addition, of adequate implementation of the internal control system, has submitted its suggestions and views about all issues 
it is responsible for, including those about the internal audit and internal control system, to the Board of Directors. 

The Corporate Governance Committee, in charge of monitoring company compliance with Corporate Governance Principles and 
submitting suggestions to the Board of Directors, monitored the application of the Corporate Governance Principles and the 
operations of the Investor Relations Unit. 

The formation of the Board of Directors, the meetings of the Board of Directors and the work principles and procedures of the Board 
of Directors’ committees, have been regulated in line with the principles and procedures regarding Board of Directors meetings and 
the working procedures of the members of the Board of Directors. 

The compliance of our Corporate Governance Committee and Investor Relations Department is audited and rated by Saha Kurumsal 
Yönetim ve Derecelendirme Hizmetleri A.Ş. (Saha). In line with the assessment of Saha, our Corporate Governance Principles 
Compliance Rating was 9.16 in 2014, 9.28 in 2015, and 9.44 in 2016. In line with the improvements carried out, it was revised to 
9.49 in 2017, and was announced to our investors in a Special Case Announcement on 21.11.2017. With this rating, we became the 
company with the highest corporate governance of companies engaged in the Real Estate and Construction fields.

The Early Risk Detection Committee strives to detect risks that may endanger the development and continuity of the Company, and 
implements measures related to the detected risks. It has carried out risk management since the foundation of the Company, and has 
reviewed the Risk Management Systems and compliance with Corporate Governance Principles and the Directive of the Early Risk 
Detection Committee.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
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Investor Relations

29.01.2018

To Akiş Gayrimenkul Ortaklığı A.Ş. Board of Directors 

Our annual report, which is prepared as per the provision 
of Article 11 of the Corporate Governance Communiqué 
(II-17.1) published by the Capital Markets Board, is hereby 
presented for your consideration, and it will be covered in 
the Board of Directors’ annual report for 2017.

Sincerely,

N. Banuhan Yürükoğlu M. Ozan Hançer 
Assistant General Manager  Strategic Planning, Business 
Finance Development and Investor
  Relations Director - Member of the 
 Corporate Governance Committee

INVESTOR RELATIONS ANNUAL REPORT 2017 

The fundamental duty of Akiş Real Estate Investment 
Fund Investor Relations Department is to keep in line with 
legal regulations and transparency for stakeholders, and it 
adopts an accountable, fair and responsible management 
model. In order to attain this goal, Akiş REIT uses and 
manages an investor relations tool for the purpose of 
providing comprehensive and fully accurate information 
to stakeholders about the course of Akiş shares. 

The basic working principles of the Investor Relations 
unit can be listed as: availability, providing swift 
feedback to stakeholders, transparent, consistent and 
prompt informing, and maintaining an updated website. 
Strict attention is paid so that the unit is composed of 
competent individuals, who have a good command of 
legal regulations, know the company and sector dynamics 
very well, and have the ability to transfer the same. 
Accordingly, the Investor Relations department knows well 
and analyses the company, has an excellent command of 
company strategies, and thus aims to create a difference 
by communicating these strategies by the most efficient 
methods.

Major Developments in 2017

In 2017, the Investor Relations Department was engaged 
in the Corporate Governance Rating, the SAF REIT Merger 
and subsequent processes, the General Assembly and 
Annual Report administration, and the Analyst meetings.  
Furthermore, answering questions from the Capital 
Markets Board, providing the requested documents 
and information, and maintaining accurate and efficient 
communication with the Board are among the Investor 
Relations Department’s key responsibilities.

The necessary feedbacks were provided to all questions 
coming from investors within the year, by adhering 
to the principle of providing the same answers to all 

shareholders. Questions received from investors in 2017 
can be classified as issues related to dividends, financial 
tables, investments, land sales and share certificate 
performance.  These questions can be classified as timing 
of investments and performance of share certificates. 
Strict attention was paid to sharing the explanations given 
for the said questions in PDP (Public Disclosure Platform), 
as clearly and quickly as possible, and ensuring that all 
shareholders were informed about the developments.

Information regarding the Corporate Governance Rating, 
deemed as the most important development of 2017, is 
provided below:

Corporate Governance Rating

The Corporate Governance Rating Report, issued for 
the first time in 2014 by Saha Kurumsal Yönetim ve 
Derecelendirme Hizmetleri A.Ş., which is authorized for 
rating in line with the Corporate Governance Principles 
of the Capital Markets Board (CMB) of Turkey, was also 
issued in 2017. 

This report on the assessment of compliance with 
Corporate Governance Principles has been issued based 
on the results of detailed analysis by Saha on behalf of our 
Company, and on the current methodology.

Our Corporate Governance rating was determined as 9.16 
for 2014, 9.28 for 2015, 9.44 for 2016 and 9.49 for 2017. 
Our Company continued to hold the highest corporate 
governance rating among REITs and construction 
companies this year.

Share Stock Performance

Investor Relations Department Contact
Tel. : +90 212 393 0100 
Faks :+90 212 393 0107 
E-mail: ozan@akisgyo.com 
Address: Acibadem Mah. Çeçen Sok No:25 Akasya AVM 
B2 Blok Üsküdar/İstanbul
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AKİŞ REIT 2017 CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRINCIPLES COMPLIANCE REPORT

SECTION I - COMPLIANCE STATEMENT ON CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE PRINCIPLES

Akiş Gayrimenkul Yatırim Ortakliği Anonim Şirketi (“Akiş” 
Akiş Gayrimenkul Yatırim Ortakliği Anonim Şirketi (“Akiş” or 
the “Company”) is aware of the fact that the quality of the 
corporate governance practices has gained importance in 
addition to financial performance in a period where rapid 
competition and change is experienced. In this regard, the 
Company has included creating sustainable value for its 
shareholders in its prioritized objectives. The characteristic 
of Akiş as a reputable, innovative, hardworking, creative and 
sharing organization and its corporate and reliable stance 
before its customers, employees and the society, particularly 
before its shareholders and investors, is sustained by
Corporate Governance Principles.

The purpose of determining and applying these principles is to 
reinforce the confidence of all of the Company’s stakeholders. 
Within the framework of this goal, AKİŞ declares that it 
shall apply Corporate Governance Principles, and put the 
arrangements required by these principles into operation as 
per current practices.

The Company abides by all obligatory corporate governance 
principles stipulated under the Capital Markets Board’s 
Corporate Governance Communiqué numbered (II-17.1).

Pursuant to Article 6 of the Capital Markets Board’s Corporate 
Governance Communiqué numbered (II-17.1), the principle 
that Akiş is exempt from is defined below: 

Within the scope of the provision regulated under clause 
4 (four) of the said article, which reads, ‘Execution of the 
transactions stated on principle numbered (1.3.9.) by the 
investment trusts is possible without seeking General 
Assembly approval, even in the absence of the majority 
of independent members’ approval in board decisions. 
However, in that case, the opposing reason by the majority 
of independent board members must be announced on the 
Public Disclosure Platform, and the shareholders must be 
informed about the issue by adding an article to the agenda 
of the General Assembly.’, the execution of the transactions 
by our Company, under the status of real estate trust, stated 
under corporate governance principle numbered 1.3.9, is 
possible without seeking the General Assembly’s approval, 
even in the absence of the majority of independent members’ 
approval, provided that the issues stipulated under the said 
provision are fulfilled. There was no such transaction in 2017.

The reason for not applying the non-obligatory principles that 
are stipulated under Corporate Governance Communiqué 
numbered (II-17.1) of the Capital Markets Board are provided 
below:

 Referring to “Corporate Governance Principle” No. 
1.3.11, although there are no provisions in this regard in 
the Articles of Association, General Assembly meetings are 
held open to the public, as stated in the Company’s Internal 
Guidelines of the General Assembly. 

 Referring to “Corporate Governance Principle” No. 1.5.2, 
utmost care is given to the utilization of minority rights, but 
there is no representative of minority rights on the Board. 
In addition, minority rights are not recognized for persons 
possessing less than one-twentieth of the share capital.

 Corporate Governance Communiqué Principle 
numbered 3.2.1: There is no model or mechanism created 
pertaining to the issue of participation of stakeholders in the 
management. However, the independent members in the 
Board of Directors ensure that not only the Company and 
shareholders, but also all stakeholders are represented in the 
management. The Company takes into account the opinions 
and recommendations of employees, suppliers, various NGOs 
and all other stakeholders, as well as customer satisfaction 
questionnaires.

 Referring to “Corporate Governance Principle” No. 4.2.5, 
although there are no provisions in this regard in the Articles 
of Association, the Company’s Chairman of the Board of 
Directors and Chief Executive Officer are different persons. 
No one in the company is entrusted with unlimited authority 
to decide on an individual basis.

 Referring to “Corporate Governance Principle” No. 4.2.8, 
any possible damages in the Company caused by members 
of the Board of Directors due to their negligence during the 
fulfillment of their duties are not insured directly by the 
Company. However, the liability insurance for any possible 
damages in the Company caused by members of the Board 
of Directors due to their negligence during the fulfillment of 
their duties was underwritten by our main partner, Akkök 
Holding A.Ş., covering the executives of the company for an 
insured sum of USD 30 million.

 Referring to “Corporate Governance Principle” No. 4.4.5, 
since the format of the Board of Directors’ meetings has 
already been delineated in detail in the Company’s Articles 
of Association, this format hasn’t been put in writing with the 
Company’s internal regulations.

There is no conflict of interest arising from the foregoing non-
obligatory principles governed under the Capital Markets 
Board’s Corporate Governance Communiqué numbered 
(II-17.1). In the future period, the necessary works will 
be conducted in consideration of the developments and 
practices in the regulation towards alignment with Corporate 
Governance Principles.
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Section II - Shareholders

2.1 Shareholders Relations Department

In addition to the corporate functions, established pursuant to 
the legislation, the “Investor Relations Unit” functions under 
the Vice President of Financial Affairs, and plays an active 
role in overseeing the rights of share ownership, particularly 
the rights of access to information and examination, and 
facilitating the exercise of such rights.

In this context, the questions directed to the unit shall be 
answered either in writing or by phone upon discussing with 
the top responsible of the relevant matter, excluding the 
information deemed as confidential and trade secrets.

Strategic Planning, Business Development and Investor 
Relations Director Mustafa Ozan Hançer works as a full 
time executive, reporting to the Assistant General Manager 
in charge of Financial Affairs, and holds a Capital Market 
Activities Advanced Level Licence (Lisans No: 204279), 
‘Corporate Governance Rating License’ (Lisans No: 701748) 
and Real Estate Appraisal (Lisans No: 404455).

Assistant General Manager that the Investor Relations 
Department Reports to:
Naile Banuhan Yürükoğlu
Assistant General Manager - Finance
Phone: 0 212 393 01 00/53506
E-mail: banuhan@akisgyo.com  
 
Persons Assigned to the Investor Relations Department:
Mustafa Ozan Hançer
Strategic Planning, Business Development and Investor
Relations Director
Phone: 0 (212) 393 01 00/53519
E-mail: ozan@akisgyo.com
Fax: 0 (212) 393 01 02

Sercan Uzun
Investor Relations, Strategic Planning and Business 
Development Assistant Manager
Phone: 0 (212) 393 01 00/53544
E-mail: sercan.uzun@akisgyo.com 
Fax: 0 (212) 393 01 02

*Bengü Tutak
Investor Relations Officer 
Phone: 0 (212) 393 01 00/53544
E-mail: bengu.tutak@akisgyo.com 
Fax: 0 (212) 393 01 02
* Bengü Tutak, who was Investor Relations Officer for our Company, resigned from 
her position on February 28, 2018.

The Investor Relations Department operates to provide 
accurate, timely and consistent information to current and 
potential investors, analysts and 3rd parties on request, to 
enhance the Company’s recognition and credibility, to reduce 
the Company’s cost of capital through the implementation 
of Corporate Governance principles, and to ensure 
communications between the Board of Directors and the 
participants of the capital market.

The company created an accessible and transparent 
communication platform with all of its shareholders. Excluding 
information that was not declared to the public or that was 
confidential or trade secret, all inquiries, written or verbal, 
received from shareholders, potential shareholders, analysts 
assessing the Company, and academicians and students 
conducting research on the Company/sector, were promptly 
addressed via e-mail, phone or meetings.

There were six applications filed with the department in 
2017, and six investors received replies.
 
In the framework of the public disclosure and transparency 
principle, 121 “Material Event Disclosures” were made in 
2017 to ensure that stakeholders, mainly shareholders, and 
other related parties were informed in a timely manner. Since 
the Company is not a medium of quoted capital market in the 
international exchange markets, it has no obligation to make an 
extra Material Disclosure other than Borsa Istanbul. All Material 
Disclosures were performed within the period that the law 
required. Therefore, Turkey’s Capital Markets’ Board (CMB) did 
not apply any sanctions on the company during 2017.

The report prepared by the Investor Relations department for 
activities that were held in 2017 was presented to the Board 
of Directors on January 29, 2018.

2.2.  The Use of Right to Information by 
Shareholders

All shareholders are entitled to obtain and examine all kinds 
of information in accordance with the regulations in force and 
those not relating to trade secrets. Right to access information 
and examination is not revoked or restricted by the articles of 
association or one of the company functions. 

Any type of information and explanation that may affect the 
use of the shareholder rights are regularly presented on the 
website (www.akisgyo.com.tr) of the Company for the use of 
the shareholders.

The Disclosure Policy, found within “Investor Relations/
Policies” on the Company’s website, delineates the methods 
and tools Akiş uses for public disclosure, as well as the basis 
and procedures regarding communication with Akiş’s capital 
markets participants.
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Company information to be disclosed to the public is presented 
on the “Public Disclosure Platform” (www.kap.gov.tr) and 
on the Company’s website in a timely, accurate, complete, 
understandable and easily accessible manner, and in a cost 
effective way, and so as to assist persons and establishments 
that may benefit from the disclosure to decide. Additionally, 
the “e-GOVERNANCE: Corporate Governance and Investor 
Relations Portal” is used for direct and effective informing of 
the Company’s shareholders.

The Company avoids any operation that would make special 
auditing difficult. The right to appoint a Private Auditor was 
not governed separately under the Articles of Association of 
the Company.

There were no requests for special auditor assignment in 2017.

2.3. General Assembly Meetings

The Ordinary General Assembly meeting of the Company 
for 2016 was held on April 14, 2017. The invitation to the 
meeting was announced on the Company’s corporate 
website (akisgyo.com), Public Disclosure Platform (KAP), the 
electronic general assembly system and on the Turkish Trade 
Registry Gazette three weeks before the meeting, excluding 
the announcement and meeting dates. All documents stated 
in Article 437 of the Turkish Commercial Code have been 
submitted for examination by shareholders and in addition, 
the issues stated in corporate governance principle no. 1.3.1 
of the Corporate Governance Notification were announced to 
the shareholders.

In addition to the notifications and disclosures that the 
company is required to make on the Company’s corporate 
website pursuant to the regulations along with the 
general assembly meeting announcement, the “General 
Assembly Information Document” prepared to include the 
points stipulated in clause 1.3.1 of the communiqué on 
Determination and Implementation of Corporate Governance 
Principles was also published on the website.

Each proposal was listed clearly and as a separate item on the 
General Assembly agenda.

There were no issues communicated in writing by the 
shareholders to our Investor Relations Department for 
inclusion on the agenda at the Ordinary General Assembly 
Meeting held on April 14, 2017 for 2016.

At the Ordinary General Assembly Meeting held on April 14, 
2017, out of 430,091,850 shares representing the capital 
of the Company, by means of taking over all assets and 
liabilities of Saf REIT, and due to the merger between Saf 
REIT and the Company, and the right to withdraw from the 
partnership due to this merger, shares with a nominal value 
of TRY 74,800,803.65 were not included in the calculation of 

the meeting quorum. Of the remaining TRY 355,291,046.35 
(three hundred and fifty five million two hundred and ninety 
one thousand and forty six point three five Turkish Lira), 
325,634,935.51 share certificates (75,71%) with a total 
nominal value of TRY 325,634,935.51 were represented at 
the meeting. In order to expand and facilitate the attendance 
of shareholders to the General Assembly, particular attention 
was paid to hold the meeting in a central location in Istanbul 
that would not create inequality among the shareholders, and 
that would enable the shareholders to attend the meetings at 
the lowest possible cost. The meeting location was selected 
based on the estimated number of attendees. No members of 
the media participated in the meeting.

During the General Assembly meeting, the Chairman of the 
Assembly ensured all topics on the agenda were conveyed 
in an impartial, detailed, and understandable manner, while 
questions not considered as trade secrets from general 
assembly attendees were answered. 

No individuals or institutions were granted privileges for 
accessing the company information.

Members of the board of directors, other relevant parties, 
persons responsible for the preparation of financial 
statements, and auditors were present in the ordinary general 
assembly meeting at both in order to provide the necessary 
information and respond to the questions regarding the items 
having a priority in the agenda.

There is no transaction, whereby positive votes of the 
majority of the independent board members is sought to 
take a decision at the Board of Directors, and no transaction 
was made that required the escalation of the decision to the 
General Assembly due to their negative votes.

During the General Meeting for 2016, held in 2017, the co-
partners were informed of the charitable donations made 
by the Company within the period and their beneficiaries as 
a separate agenda topic, and information on the charitable 
donations paid during the year was also provided in the 
annual reports.

The minutes and Participant list of the general assembly were 
published on the Company’s official website, www.akisgyo.
com and the Public Disclosure Platform, KAP.

The shareholders who held management control in 2017, 
the members of the Board of Directors, the executive 
managers, and their first and second degree relatives by 
blood or by marriage, haven’t carried out any significant 
transactions that may result in conflicts of interest, either 
with the Company or its subsidiaries. Furthermore, they 
haven’t carried out any transactions in the same line of 
business as the Company or its subsidiaries, by themselves 
or on behalf of others, and haven’t become partners without 
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limits of liability in a company that is engaged in the same line 
of business. Likewise, there are no transactions carried out by 
people who also have access to Company information other 
than the aforesaid persons, on behalf of themselves, within 
the scope of the Company’s line of business.

Although there are no provisions pertaining to this matter in 
the Articles of Association, General Assembly meetings are 
held open to the public, as stated in the Company’s Internal 
Guidelines on Working Principles and Procedures of the 
General Assembly.

2.4. Right to Vote and Minority Rights

The Company avoids any activity that would obstruct using the 
right to vote and provides each shareholder the opportunity 
to vote in the easiest and the most appropriate way possible, 
including cross border voting.

Each share in the Company has one voting right and there is 
no privilege granted with respect to voting rights, as per the 
Company’s Articles of Association.

The Company does not have a mutual subsidiary relationship 
with any companies.

Utmost attention is paid for using the  minority rights. There 
is no representative of minority rights on the Board. The 
Company acts in accordance with the relevant legislation 
on the issue of minority rights. Dissenters’ rights were not 
granted to anyone with less than 1/20 of the capital, in line 
with the Articles of Association.

Exercising minority rights in the Company is subject to the 
Turkish Code of Commerce, Capital Markets Law, and related 
legislation practices.

2.5. Dividend Right

The dividend distribution policy adopted by the General 
Assembly of the Company has been announced to the public 
on the corporate website and annual report.

Dividend distribution policy of the Company consists of the 
minimum information clear enough to allow the investors 
to anticipate the procedures and principles intended for the 
distribution of the profit that the Company shall make in 
future periods. A balanced policy between the interests of 
the shareholders and the interest of the Company is pursued 
in the dividend distribution policy.

The decision to distribute the profits was passed at the ordinary 
General Assembly meeting for 2016 held in 2017, and dividends 
equaling TRY 180,000,000.00 were distributed in two equal 
installments in April and June.

There is no privilege regarding the issue of participating in the 
profit of the Company.

2.6. Transfer of Shares

Group A shares of the Company are registered shares, and 
group B shares are bearer shares. Group A shares have the 
privilege to nominate candidates for the election of the 
members of the Board of Directors. Transfer of the privileged 
group (A) registered shares is subject to the permission of the 
Capital Markets Board.

Section III - Public Disclosure And Transparency 

3.1. Corporate Website and Its Contents

The website www.akisgyo.com owned by the Company, is 
actively used in disclosing information to the public. 

The Company’s website is designed and updated in 
accordance with Article 2.1.1 of the Capital Markets Board’s 
(CMB) Corporate Governance Communiqué Serial: II-17.1, the 
Turkish commercial Code, and relevant secondary legislation. 
Moreover, stakeholders requesting more information about 
the Company may reach contact persons by sending e-mail to 
info@akisgyo.com.

Company’s partnership structure is announced on the 
Company’s corporate website showing the shareholder 
names, number of shares and rates.

The essential information announced on the website is also 
available in English for the use of international investors. 
Moreover, international investors requesting more 
information about the Company may reach contact persons 
by sending e-mail to info@akisgyo.com.

3.2. Annual Report

The Annual Report of the Board of Directors of the Company was 
prepared in detail, based on the applicable regulations that allow 
the public to have complete and correct information regarding 
the activities of the Company.

In addition to the matters stated in the Codes and other sections 
of Corporate Governance Principles, the Annual Report includes;

a) Details of the duties of members of the Board of Directors 
and executives, carried out externally from the Company, and 
declarations regarding the independence of the members of the 
Board of Directors.
b) The Board of Directors assessment regarding the principles, 
procedures and efficiency of committees formed under the 
Board of Directors and their members, meeting frequency and 
the activities carried out,
c) The number of meetings held by the Board of Directors within 
the year and the participation of the Board of Directors members 
at these meetings,
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d) Information on changes in codes and regulations that may 
significantly affect the activities of the Company.
e) Any lawsuits filed against the Company and details of the 
possible outcome.
f) Any conflicts of interest between the Company and institutions 
providing investment consultancy and rating services, and the 
measures taken by the Company in order to prevent these 
conflicts.
g) Details regarding affiliations where direct capital participation 
exceeds 5% mutually.
h) Information about corporate social responsibility regarding 
social rights, professional training of employees and other public 
and environment issues.

Section IV - Stakeholders

4.1. Disclosure of Information to Stakeholders

Company’s stakeholders are, entities or interest groups such 
as; employees, creditors, customers, suppliers and various non-
governmental organizations that are related to the Company 
achieving its objectives or the activities of the Company. In 
cases where the rights of the stakeholders are not protected by 
legislations and mutual agreements, the Company shall protect 
the interests of the stakeholders within the framework of the 
principles of good faith and within the company’s capabilities. 

The Company created its Stakeholder Policies and announced 
these to the public on the Company’s website. Moreover, the 
Company and the related stakeholders are informed via e-mail, 
phone or meeting regarding issues of interest. 

When the rights of the stakeholders, which are protected by 
legislation and mutual agreements, are violated, an opportunity 
for effective and swift compensation is provided. The Company 
makes every effort towards the ease of use of mechanisms 
such as compensation provided to stakeholders in line with 
legislation. There is a special “compensation policy”, which 
has been established by considering the legislation for the 
employees of the Company, and this policy is published on the 
Company’s corporate website.

If the need arises, the stakeholders can communicate any 
proceeding that is contrary to the Company’s regulation or 
ethics to the Corporate Governance Committee, the Auditing 
Committee, or to the Business Ethnics committee through the 
ethics hotline or e-mail. No notification was received from 
stakeholders in this regard during 2017. 

When a conflict of interest arises between stakeholders, or in 
case a stakeholder is part of more than one interest group, a 
policy as balanced as possible in terms of the assertion of held 
rights is pursued, and efforts are made to protect each right 
individually from one other.

The Company pays special attention to customer satisfaction in 
sales and marketing of goods and services, and accordingly takes 
necessary measures.

The Company takes precautions to establish and maintain 
relations in the marketing and sales of its goods and services, 
in accordance with the provisions of the legal regulation on 
customer and suppliers, and the provisions of the agreement 
executed between the parties, as well as to oversee international 
and sectoral standards in providing goods and services. The 
Company also revises and renews its processes.

It is essential that demands of the customer in respect of the 
goods or services purchased by the customer are immediately 
fulfilled, if any, in accordance with the agreement provisions, 
otherwise in accordance with the legislation provisions, and 
customers are informed regarding the delays without waiting for 
the deadline.

Strict attention is paid to the confidentiality of customers’ and 
suppliers’ information within the scope of trade secret.

Quality standards are abided by in goods and services, and 
protection of these standards is vital. For this purpose, a certain 
guarantee is provided for this quality.

4.2. Participation of Stakeholders in Company
Management

While there are no models in the Articles of Association 
supporting the participation of stakeholders, and company 
employees, in particular, in the company management, the 
Company is trying to improve the situation without disrupting 
the company activities.

Inclusion of the employees in the management is provided by 
means of annual performance review meetings, suggestion 
systems and annual meetings organized within the Company.

The Company takes the opinions and suggestions of other 
stakeholders into consideration.

4.3. Human Resources Policy

The Company values utilizing human resources practices that 
use internationally-accepted models and internally integrated 
systems. It aims at using contemporary, integrated and results-
oriented systems in all human resources processes, from 
recruitment to performance management, development, 
compensation, through to severance.

The principle of providing equal opportunities to individuals 
under equal conditions is adopted when establishing recruitment 
policies and career planning.
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The Company’s Human Resources Policy aims at gaining candidates 
who are suitable to its corporate culture and values, who have the 
knowledge, skills, experience and competencies demanded by the 
job/position, and who will move the Company forward, and thereby 
serve the strategies and goals of the Company. Having adopted the 
right person for the right job principle, the Company uses modern 
evaluation systems to support the most objective decisions in the 
recruitment and placement processes. Measures pertaining to 
recruitment were determined.

If reassignments in management might impede the administration 
of the Company, a Company Top Management Backup Plan, with a 
5-year strategic vision, has been issued for the selection of newly 
assigned executives. In the Recruitment Process, job postings are 
presented primarily Inside the Group and also then Outside the 
Group for positions arising. CVs are scanned for suitable candidates 
from among applicants. A candidate pool is created for each 
position. In the recruitment process, a Competency Based Interview 
and Personality Inventory is applied for each position. As for the 
recruitment process for managerial roles, a specialized institution 
evaluates the managerial competences of each person by means 
of the Practice of Assessment and Development Center, and 
different inventories are applied, in addition to the abovementioned 
practices. 

The Company uses world class Job Evaluation and Salary models 
with proven validity and reliability. This is an objective and 
transparent salary and fringe benefits model that reflects the 
realities of the domestic and international business world, and is 
based on the principles of equality and fairness, and position-based 
compensation.

The Performance Management System is a structure, which aims 
to encourage individuals to adopt corporate goals and enhances 
a shared corporate culture. The system enables employees to 
transparently identify their individual contributions, as well as 
the impact of their contributions at the corporate level. Outputs 
of the Performance Management System are used in the 
development planning, talent management, career planning and 
succession planning, compensation and rewarding processes 
by Human Resources, thereby creating an integrated structure 
where all processes support each other. The Company supports 
employees towards a common goal through incentives that serve 
to strengthen the high performance culture. The leadership and 
functional competencies of the Company are measured with a 360 
degree approach, and the ways that employees achieve results are 
evaluated. By this means, the same system both reinforces and 
applies the competences that will move the Company forward, and 
serve its reputation and sustainability.

Job descriptions of company staff are prepared by the employees 
and finalized with the approval of their respective executives 
and Human Resources. Performance, award criteria and duty 
descriptions are then announced to the employees. Expertise is 
considered in determining the wages and other benefits offered to 
employees.

Within the framework of the Training and Development Policy, the 
Company organizes trainings and development programs where 
its employees improve their knowledge, skills, competences and 
experience. In line with its continuous learning, development and 
results-oriented approach, the Company aims to organize employee 
development programs based on corporate goals, for improving the 
knowledge, skills, expertise and competencies of its employees. The 
Company strives to allocate resources for programs that support its 
employees’ social and cultural development. Development planning 
offers training and development solutions suitable for the current 
needs of both the Company and the employees. The employees are 
treated fairly and provided with equal opportunities for development, 
as observed in other rights.

Informative meetings are convened with employees where 
discussions are held regarding the financial status of the Company, 
salaries, career, training and health applications. The Company 
implements a management system that values people, motivates 
creativity, communication and employee participation. We are 
aware that an accessible, close and uninterrupted communication 
environment is of the utmost importance for the motivation and 
productivity of our employees.

One to one and collective interviews and meetings are held in order to 
improve a work environment where employees trust and feel loyal to 
the Company, are proud of their job and workplace, work in complete 
harmony and collaboration with their colleagues, and appreciate the 
support of the management. Requests and demands arising as a result 
of these meetings are converted into action plans and implemented.

Our priority is to integrate all practices stipulated by our country’s 
laws and regulations in our business model in order to help our 
employees work in a happy and peaceful environment and commute 
healthily. We carry out our activities by valuing people and therefore 
with an objective to continuously improve our Occupational Health 
and Safety (OHS) performance. The Company constantly carries out 
improvements and developments to provide employees with a safe 
working environment, as well as safe working conditions. 

Significant operational changes that may influence our employees 
shall be notified to the employees in advance taking into account 
the periods of notice and notification stipulated by the laws. The 
stipulated periods of notice and notification shall be made to the 
employees in accordance with the method and period specified in 
personnel regulations.

Our Company encourages employees to participate in management 
with the help of annual goal setting, performance assessment 
meetings, suggestion systems, and meetings held within the 
Company. Since the number of employees is not more than 
thirty, no representatives have been assigned to manage these 
relations. Instead, this function is fulfilled by the Human Resources 
department. Playing the role of a bridge between the employees 
and the management, Human Resources works with the company’s 
management by communicating any inquiry or request to the 
management, and creating solutions in line with needs. Human 
Resources shares its responsibility for healthily conducted processes 
with the management.



Annual Report 2017 57

Akiş REIT offers employees an open door policy. Accordingly, each 
employee is easily able to contact the General Manager and the 
chief executives of their departments about any subject pertaining 
to their work or the Company. No complaints have been submitted 
by our employees to the independent Ethics Line and Ethics 
Representative, managed by the Company regarding ethical issues, 
in 2017. The Ethics Line, managed by an independent company, 
was established to facilitate receiving anonymous complaints and 
policy violations by the Company. 

There are measures in place to prevent any racial, religious, 
language, and gender discrimination among employees, and 
to protect them against physical, psychological and emotional 
abuse. The Company’s ethical process includes practices to defend 
employees in this sense (Ethics Hotline, Ethics Representative, 
Ethics Committee etc.).

The Company does not place any limitations on its employee’s 
freedom to establish associations and efficiently use their batch 
employment contract rights.

4.4. Code of Ethics and Social Responsibility

The Company’s activities are executed in line with the Code of 
Ethics disclosed to the public on its corporate website.

Seeking, developing, adopting and implementing innovative and 
environment friendly technologies is of vital importance in the 
company’s environmental policy and quality policy. Based on 
the responsibilities of being one of leading companies of the 
sector, Akiş REIT accepts minimizing the environmental impact 
arising from activities, protecting the health and safety of 
employees, customers and local community, achieving maximum 
savings in using natural resources and energy for its processes 
and developed projects, and preserving the environment 
and ecological balance for future generations, as the focus of 
corporate social responsibility approach and sustainability.

The Company is sensitive about its social responsibilities, 
observing arrangements pertaining to the environment, 
customers and public health, as well as the codes of conduct. It 
supports and respects human rights with international standards.  

Acting with social responsibility, Akiş REIT aims to contribute 
to the social development with donations and social benefits 
made primarily to education, culture-arts and sports activities. 
Donations were made to various entities as Akiş REIT acting 
collaboratively with sector-specific associations as a part of social 
responsibility objectives.

The Company takes measures against all sorts of corruption, 
including extortion and bribery, and Human Resources coordinate 
the required consciousness-raising and controlling activities.

Ethical Values
Responsibility

We are aware of our responsibilities.
Honesty

We communicate openly and honestly.
Trust and Equality

We behave equally and fairly to each other.
Confidentiality

We protect the confidential information of our group, of each other and our other stakeholders.
Compliance with the Laws

We keep reliable records and reports. We abide by the laws.
Our Customers

We establish consistent, fair and meticulous communication with our customers and approach them on the 
same commercial level.

Our Colleagues
We act fairly and respectfully to each other. We establish consistent and fair relations based on trust.

Products
We value the safety and quality of our products and services.

Our Suppliers
We evaluate our suppliers fairly and similarly. We act meticulously in the relationships we establish with our 

suppliers.
Our Competitors

We compete fairly and in line with regulations.
Environment

We protect the environment and act according to the principles of sustainability.
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Section V - The Board of Directors

5.1. Structure and Composition of the Board of Directors
The members of the Board of Directors elected to be active for three years at the Extraordinary General Assembly 
Meeting held on December 28, 2016 are; Ahmet Cemal Dördüncü, Raif Ali Dinçkök, Mehmet Emin Çiftçi, İhsan Gökşin 
Durusoy, Alize Dinçkök Eyüboğlu, Doğu-Batı Sanayi Ürünleri İhracat ve İthalat A.Ş., Recep Yilmaz Argüden, Ayşe Selen 
Kocabaş and Fatma Füsun Akkal Bozok. 

Our Board of Directors consists of one executive and eight non-executive members (out of which, three are independent 
members), the backgrounds of whom are stated under the Corporate Governance title of the Annual Report.

Board of Directors

Ahmet Cemal DÖRDÜNCÜ Chairman of the Board  Non-Executive 28.12.2016 3 Years
Raif Ali DİNÇKÖK Vice Chairman of the Board  Non-Executive 28.12.2016 3 Years
Mehmet Emin ÇİFTÇİ Board Member  Non-Executive 28.12.2016 3 Years
İhsan Gökşin DURUSOY Board Member - General Manager  Executive 28.12.2016 3 Years
Alize Dinçkök EYÜBOĞLU Board Member  Non-Executive 28.12.2016 3 Years
Doğu - Batı Sanayi Ürünleri  
İhracat ve  İthalat A.Ş.  Board Member   Non-Executive 28.12.2016 3 Years
Recep Yilmaz ARGÜDEN Independent Board Member  Non-Executive 28.12.2016 3 Years
Ayşe Selen KOCABAŞ Independent Board Member  Non-Executive 28.12.2016 3 Years
Fatma Füsun AKKAL BOZOK Independent Board Member  Non-Executive 28.12.2016 3 Years

There are executive and non-executive members in the Board of Directors. Non-executive Board members are individuals 
who do not hold an administrative position in the Company other than his/her Board membership and thus who do 
not get involved in the daily workflow and regular activities of the Company. Majority of the Board members are non-
executive members.

Assigning the Chairman and the Deputy Chairman, the work distribution among the Members of the Board of Directors 
was determined. The Chairman of the Board and the General Manager are different persons, and the General Manager 
is a Member of the Board of Directors.

The duties and power of the Chairman of the Board and the General Manager are defined and separated with a Company 
organisation chart.

Among the members of the Board of Directors, there are independent members who have the capability of performing 
their duties without being influenced under any circumstances.

Three independent members have been nominated for the Corporate Governance Committee, and the report dated 
January 12, 2016, indicating that the nominees meet the criteria, was submitted to the Board of Directors on January 
12, 2016.

The Independence Declarations of Independent Board of Directors Members are stated on the Annual Report. No events 
occurred in 2017 that would cancel the status of independent members.

Name Surname Title

Executive/
Non-Executive

Independent

Election Date Term of
Office
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The following table indicates the duties of the Members of the Board of Directors outside the company (clarifying the 
difference between inside or outside the Group):
  Duties Assumed in Other Duties He Assumed
Name Surname Title the Partnership in  outside of the Partnership
  the Past 5 Years as of the Latest Status

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

Member of the Board of Directors and 
Chairman of the Executive Board of Akkök 

Holding A.Ş. Chairman/Assistant Chairman/
Member of the Board of Directors of Akmerkez 

REIT, Aksa Acyrlic, Akenerji, Ak-kim, Gizem 
Seramik Frit, Akcez, Akasya Çocuk Dünyasi and 

various Akkök Group companies, in addition, 
Board of Directors Member of Anadolu Isuzu 
Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş., Coca-Cola İçecek A.Ş., 

Anadolu Efes Biracilik ve Malt Sanayii A.Ş. and 
the International Paper Co. 

Member of the Board of Directors and 
Chairman of the Executive Board of Akkök 

Holding A.Ş. Chairman/Assistant Chairman/
Member of Aksa Acrylic, Akmerkez REIT, Ak-kim, 
Gizem Seramik Frit, Aktek, Dinkal, Akasya Çocuk 

Dünyasi, Ak Havacilik, Karlitepe Gayrimenkul 
Geliştirme and various Akkök Group companies

Member of the Board of Directors of Akkök 
Holding A.Ş. Board of Directors Member 

of Ak-kim, Aktek and various Akkök Group 
companies

Member of the Board of Directors and 
Member of the Executive Board of Akkök 

Holding A.Ş. Chairman/Assistant Chairman/
Member of the Board of Directors of 

Akmerkez REIT, Akmerkez Lokantacilik, Ak-
Pa, Üçgen, Akyaşam, Akhan, Akasya Çocuk 

Dünyasi, Ak Havacilik, Dinkal Aktek and 
various Akkök Group companies

Chairman/Assistant Chairman/Member of the 
Board of Directors of Akasya Çocuk Dünyasi, 
Akyaşam, Karlitepe Gayrimenkul Geliştirme 

and Aksu Real Estate EAD
Chairman of the Board of Directors of ARGE 

Danişmanlik A.Ş. 

MultinetUP Group Board Member, Simit 
Sarayi Board Advisor

Member of the Board of Directors of Yapi 
Kredi and Koç Financial Services 

Chairman of the
Board of Directors

Deputy Chairman of  
the Board of Directors

Chairman of the
Board of Directors

Chairman of the
Board of Directors 

and Assistant General 
Manager - Sales and 

Marketing

Member of the Board 
of Directors (General 

Manager)

Independent Member of 
the Board of Directors

Independent Member of 
the Board of Directors

Independent Member of 
the Board of Directors

Chairman of the
Board of Directors

Deputy Chairman of  
the Board of Directors

Chairman of the
Board of Directors

Chairman of the
Board of Directors

Member of the Board 
of Directors (General 

Manager)

Independent Member of 
the Board of Directors

Independent Member of 
the Board of Directors

Independent Member of 
the Board of Directors

Ahmet Cemal Dördüncü

Raif Ali Dinçkök

Mehmet Emin  Çiftçi

Alize Dinçkök Eyüboğlu

İhsan Gökşin Durusoy

Recep Yilmaz Argüden

Ayşe Selen Kocabaş 

Fatma Füsun Akkal 
Bozok  
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The formation of the Board of Directors, the meetings of the 
Board of Directors, and work principles and procedures of 
the Board of Directors Committees have been regulated by 
the Principles and Procedures regarding Board of Directors 
meetings and the Working Procedures of members of the 
Board of Directors. 
 
The Members of the Board of Directors spend sufficient 
time on their responsibilities in the Company. In the 
event that a member of the Board of Directors serves 
as a manager or a member of the Board of Directors in 
another company, the aforementioned situation doesn’t 
lead to a conflict of interest or hinder the responsibility 
of the member in the Company. Therefore, serving of the 
Members of the Board of Directors of some other duty or 
duties outside the Company is not regulated or restricted 
by certain rules.

There are two female board members on the Company’s 
Board of Directors and, as per principle number 4.3.9 of 
the Corporate Governance Communique, the ratio of 25% 
is met for female members of the Board.

5.2. Operating Principles of the Board of 
Directors

The Board of Directors executes its activities in a transparent, 
accountable, fair and responsible manner.

The Board of Directors is liable for reaching the operational and 
financial performance goals that the Company determines.

Assigning the Chairman and the Deputy Chairman, the work 
distribution was determined among the Members of the 
Board of Directors. 

By taking the related Board of Directors committees’ views 
into consideration, the Board of Directors establishes internal 
control systems, ensuring these systems also incorporate risk 
management and information systems and their processes, 
which can minimize the impacts of risks that may affect 
primarily the shareholders and the Company’s stakeholders.

The Board of Directors revises the efficiency of the risk 
management and internal control systems at least once a 
year.

Not included in the Articles of Incorporation, the power of 
the Chairman and the General Manager are separated. The 
Company’s General Manager and the Chairman of the Board 
of Directors are different persons, and the duties and power 
of the Chairman of the Board and the General Manager are 
defined and separated.

Playing a role in maintaining efficient communication between 
the Company and the shareholders, and eliminating and 
solving any possible disputes, the Board of Directors works in 
collaboration with the Corporate Governance Committee and 
Investor Relations Unit. 

Any possible damages in the Company caused by the 
members of the Board of Directors due to their negligence 
during the fulfillment of their duties are not insured by the 
Company. Moreover, also covering our Company’s managers, 
liability insurance valued at USD thirty (30) million in total for 
damages caused to the company by mistakes of the Board 
Members on duty was taken out by our main partner, Akkök 
Group Companies. 

The Board of Directors gathers often enough to effectively 
fulfill its duties. 

The Chairman of the Board determines the agenda of the 
Board of Directors’ meetings by discussing with other Board 
members and Chief Executive Officer/General Manager, and 
other members can make proposals for making changes in 
the meeting agenda. Members pay attention to participate 
and express their opinions in every meeting by getting ready 
after examining the information and documentation related 
to the items on the agenda. 

When a member fails to attend a meeting but has informed 
the Board of Directors of their opinions in writing, their 
opinions are submitted to other members. 

Each member of the Board of Directors has one right to vote 
whilst the provisions of the Turkish Commercial Code are 
applicable in meeting and decision quorums as specified in 
the Articles of Association.

The Articles of Association and the applicable provisions for 
regulation are applied to meetings of the Board of Directors 
and to the process of holding such meetings. According to 
the Company’s Articles of Association, the Board of Directors 
meets with the majority of the number of members and 
passes resolutions with majority votes. If there is a tie, the 
voting is repeated at the next meeting.

In the Board of Directors meetings, the items on the agenda 
are discussed clearly and in all aspects. It is ensured that 
the non-executive members effectively attend the Board of 
Directors meetings.  

During the 2017 operational year, the Board of Directors 
gathered 6 times, with average participation of 96%. A total 
of 64 board decisions were made during the year.

Regarding the subjects of dissension during the meetings, the 
Members of the Board of Directors had their reasonable and 
detailed justifications for dissenting votes kept in the decision 
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records. There was no member of the Board of Directors with 
such a decision in the meetings held in 2017. 

The Board Members were not offered the right of weighted 
vote or veto. 

5.3. Number, Structure and Independence of
Committees Established within the Board of 
Directors

The Company’s Board of Directors has reviewed the structures 
and activities of the existing committees in the framework of 
the provisions of the Corporate Governance Communiqué 
of the Capital Markets Board, and has established the Audit 
Committee, Early Detection of Risk Committee and Corporate 
Governance Committee. The duties and responsibilities of 
the Nomination Committee and Compensation Committee 
are carried out by the Corporate Governance Committee. 

Assigned tasks, working principles and members of the 
committees are determined by the Board of Directors, and 
disclosed to the public via Public Disclosure Platform and on 
the Company’s corporate website.

All members of the Audit Committee and the Chairmen of the 
Corporate Governance Committee and the Early Detection of 
Risk Committee were elected from independent members of 
the Board of Directors.

The General Manager is not assigned in any committee.

For the Company, it is significant that a board member 
participates in only one committee. However, considering the 
related members’ knowledge and experience, some board 
members who already perform duties in one committee may 
also take on duties in other committees.  

All kinds of resources and support are provided to the 
committees by the board of directors in order to fulfill their 
duties. Committees are allowed to invite the director that 
they deem as necessary to their meetings and get his/her 
opinions.

Committees make use of independent expert opinions on 
the issues that they deem as necessary with regard to their 
activities. The fees of the consultancy services required by the 
committees are covered by the company. Such service was 
not received in 2016.

Committees keep written records of all operations carried 
out. Committees convene with the necessary regularity 
to work effectively as stipulated in the working principles. 
Committees submit the reports to the Board of Directors, 
that contain information about the tasks performed and the 
outcomes of the meeting.  

The Audit Committee

Name Surname Title

Fatma Füsun Akkal Bozok  Chairman of the Audit Committee
Ayşe Selen Kocabaş  Member of Audit Committee

The committee in charge of auditing supervises the 
accounting system, declaration of financial information to the 
public, independent auditing, and the process and efficiency 
of internal control and internal auditing. The selection of an 
independent auditing firm, identification of the services to 
be received from this firm, preparation of independent audit 
contracts, initiation of the independent audit process, and 
the works of the independent auditing firm at every stage, are 
all carried out under the supervision of the audit committee.

The independent auditing firm that will provide services to 
the Company, and the services to be received from this firm, 
are determined by the Audit Committee and then submitted 
to the Board of Directors for approval. 

The methods and criteria to be applied in the issues of 
investigation and resolution of complaints received by the 
Company about the accounting and internal control system 
and independent auditing of the Company, and evaluation 
of the notifications of employees on accounting and 
independent auditing of the Company within the context of 
the confidentiality principle, are also determined by the Audit 
Committee.

By taking opinions of the Company’s responsible managers 
and independent auditors, the committee in charge of 
auditing submits, along with its own assessments, a written 
assessment on the annual and interim financial statements 
to be declared to the public regarding their accuracy, 
authenticity, and compliance with the accounting principles 
the Company follows. 

The committee in charge of audits submits its evaluations 
about the areas of duties and responsibility, and makes 
suggestions in this regard to the Board of Directors in writing.

The audit committee convened6 (six) times in 2017, and the 
decisions taken were submitted to the Board of Directors as 
the results of the meetings were written in the minutes.
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The Corporate Governance Committee

Name Surname Title

Recep Yilmaz Argüden Committee Chairman 
  (independent member)
Mehmet Emin Çiftçi Member of Committee  
  (Board Member)
Mustafa Ozan Hançer Member of Committee
  (Strategic Planning, Business Development 
  and Investor Relations Director)

The Company’s Corporate Governance Committee observes 
whether or not corporate governance principles are applied 
in the company and, if not, identifies the reasons and the 
conflicts of interests arising due to not fully complying with 
these principles. The committee offers recommendations on 
optimizing corporate governance practices, and monitors the 
works of the Investor Relations unit.  One of the members of 
the Corporate Governance Committee, Mustafa Ozan Hançer 
is the service manager of the Investor Relations department, 
holding the license required by regulation.

Apart from its duties set forth in legislation, the Corporate 
Governance Committee also carries out the duties and 
responsibilities of the Nomination Committee, Early Risk 
Identification Committee and Compensation Committee.

The Corporate Governance Committee held three meetings 
in 2017 and submitted the reports required for works stated 
and issued according to its own Directives, to the Board of 
Directors.  

The compliance efforts of our Corporate Governance 
Committee and Investor Relations Department to Corporate 
Governance Principles has been assessed by Saha Kurumsal 
Yönetim ve Derecelendirme Hizmetleri A.Ş. in detail, and our 
Corporate Governance Principles Compliance Rating was 9.16 
for 2014, 9.28 for 2015, 9.44 for 2016, and was revised to 9.49 
for 2017. This was relayed to investors via a Special Status 
Announcement dated November 21, 2017.

The Early Detection of Risk Committee

Name Surname Title

Ayşe Selen Kocabaş  Chairman of the Early Detection of  
  Risk Committee (Independent Member)
Fatma Füsun Akkal Bozok   Member of the Early  Detection of 
  Risk Committee (Independent Member)
Alize Dinçkök Eyüboğlu Member of the Early Detection of 
  Risk Committee (Board Member)

The Early Detection of Risk Committee was established 
to identify any risks in advance, which may threaten the 
Company’s existence, development and continuity, to apply 
the necessary measures pertaining to the identified risks, 
and to perform activities to manage the risks. The Committee 
reports their assessments every two months, points out 
potential hazards if any, and offers solutions. After duty 
distribution to the Board of Directors, the members of the 
Early Risk Detection Committee were selected based on the 
resolution of the Board of Directors passed in May 2013. 

The Committee holds meetings every 2 (two) months 
and offers advice and recommendations to the Board of 
Directors upon early detection of any kind of strategic, 
financial, operational, etc. risks that may affect the Company, 
assessment of these risks, evaluation of their impact and 
probability, management and reporting of these risks in 
accordance with the Company’s corporate risk-taking profile, 
implementation of the necessary measures in relation to 
the risks identified, consideration of these risks in decision-
making mechanisms, and establishment and integration of 
effective internal control systems in this regard.

The Early Risk Detection Committee held six meetings in 
2017 and submitted its reports on the results of these 
meetings to the Board of Directors. 

5.4. Risk Management and Internal Control 
Mechanism

By taking the related Board of Directors committees’ views 
into consideration, the Board of Directors establishes internal 
control systems, ensuring these systems also incorporate risk 
management and information systems and their processes, 
which can minimize the impacts of risks that may affect 
primarily the shareholders, as well as all of the Company’s 
stakeholders.

The Board of Directors revises the efficiency of the risk 
management and internal control systems at least once a 
year. Information regarding the functioning and efficiency of 
the internal audit system is provided in the annual report.

The Company’s risk inventory is one of the most important 
follow-up tools used in Akiş’s risk management activities. The 
risk inventory includes the company’s operational, financial, 
reputational and strategic risks. Risks with high or very high 
level risk scores are monitored at the level of the Board of 
Directors. Detailed action plans are created for such risks, 
and a risk owner is assigned for each of these risks. The risk 
owner is responsible for managing the related risk within 
the framework of the agreed action plan. Thus, the risk 
management philosophy has become a permanent item on 
the agenda of routine business of Akiş executives. Updated 
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in line with sectoral and institutional developments, this 
philosophy has become an integral part of the Company’s 
applications.

The current internal control system, particularly increasing 
the efficiency and productivity of Company operations, 
maintaining reliability in financial reporting and compliance 
with applicable law and legislation, is being audited by the 
Audit Group established within the main partnership of the 
Company, Akkök Holding A.Ş., in accordance with the annual 
internal audit plan; and the outcome of the audit is reported 
to the Audit Committee.

The Internal Audit team gets in touch with the independent 
auditors when necessary within the scope of audit activities, 
and occasionally performs common process controls with 
independent auditors.

5.5. The Strategic Goals of the Company

The Board of Directors keeps the balance between risk, growth 
and return at an ideal level through the strategic decisions 
it makes, and manages and represents the Company by 
primarily looking after its long term interests through rational 
and cautious risk management.

The Board of Directors defines the strategic goals of the 
Company, determines the human and financial resources it 
shall need, and inspects management performance.

The Board of Directors oversees the compliance of the 
Company activities to legislation, Articles of Association, 
internal regulations and established policies.

The Company’s short and long-term performances and 
strategic objectives are evaluated, and the necessary action 
plans are carried out according to the results obtained in the 
Finance Board meetings held on a monthly basis, and the 
Industrial Evaluation meetings held on a quarterly basis, and 
headed by the executive board member/general manager.

The Board of Directors reviews the degree to which the 
Company achieves its targets, as well as its activities and 
past performance. Within this scope, the Board of Directors 
made an assessment revealing that the Company reached the 
operational and financial performance goals for 2016.

5.6. Financial Rights

The Board of Directors is responsible for achieving the 
Company’s set targets. Evaluation on whether the Company 
has achieved its publicly disclosed operational and financial 
performance targets and justifications in the event of 
failure is described in the annual report. The Board of 
Directors conducts a performance evaluation and auto-
critique on the basis of the Board, members and managers 
with administrative responsibility. The Board of Directors 
rewards or dismisses the Board members and managers with 
administrative responsibility considering these evaluations. 

The principles of the compensation of the board members and 
senior executives were written and submitted for the partners’ 
information as a separate topic during the ordinary general 
meeting for 2016, held in 2017, and partners were offered the 
opportunity to voice their opinions. The compensation policy 
prepared for this very purpose is available on the company’s 
corporate website.

The Company has authorized the Corporate Governance 
Committee to fulfill the duties of the compensation 
committee as stipulated in the legislation.

Stock options or payment plans based on Company’s
performance are not used in compensation of independent 
Board members. We are making efforts to set the 
compensation of independent Board members at a level 
allowing them to keep their independence and such 
compensations are determined in the General Assembly 
meeting.

The Company will not lend money, make loan available
to and grant guarantees such as surety in own favor to any 
board member or senior executives.

Compensation given to the Board Members and senior
executives and all other benefits provided are collectively
disclosed to the public in the annual report and financial
statement footnotes. Our statements are not made on an 
individual basis, and cover the Board of Directors and the 
senior executives.
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Major Developments of the Current Term

a) On registration of the Extraordinary General Assembly 
for the Merger of our Company with SAF REIT

The registration regarding the merger of our Company 
with SAF REIT was completed, and the merger took 
place on January 18, 2017. In addition to the economic 
and operational productivity gained from this merger, 
our Company also became one of the crucial players in 
the real estate sector in terms of brand recognition and 
competitive strength.

b) Amendment to the Articles of Association

The Amendment Text to the Articles of Association for 
raising our issued capital from TRY 200,000,000 to TRY 
430,091,750, and the amendment of Article 8 of the 
Articles of Association titled Capital and Shares, Article 13 
titled Board of Directors and Duty Period and Article 15 
titled Meetings of the Board of Directors were registered 
by the Prime Ministry Capital Markets Board on November 
15, 2016 under No. 12074, and by the Republic of Turkey 
Ministry of Customs and Trade on December 07, 2016 
under No. 20832977.

c) Information on Using the Right to Withdraw from the 
Partnership relative to the Merger 

In line with Article 24 titled, The Right to Withdraw from 
Partnership of the Capital Markets Board, and Article 
9 titled, Using The Right to Withdraw from Partnership 
of the Notification on Common Principles Regarding 
Major Transactions and the Right to Withdraw From 
Partnership, shareholders and proxies who attended the 
general assembly meeting in which the merger with Akiş 
REIT was confirmed and used nay votes, and who placed 
the explanation for their opposition on the minutes of 
the meeting, have used their right to withdraw from 
partnership by selling their shares to Akiş REIT. Twenty-
one shareholders have used their right to withdraw from 
partnership with their shares with a nominal value of TRY 
1 over the TRY 2,967 withdrawal price, and shares with 
a nominal value of TRY 7,819,159.393 were purchased 
for TRY 22,417,529.98. Eight shareholders and proxies 
who attended the general assembly meeting in which 
the merger with Akiş REIT was confirmed and used nay 
votes, and who placed the explanation for their opposition 
on the minutes of the meeting, have used their right to 
withdraw from the partnership with their shares with a 
nominal value of TRY 1 over the TRY 0.8060 withdrawal 
price, and shares with a nominal value of TRY 207,225,109 
were purchased for TRY 167,023,438. 

Subsequent to the use of the right to withdraw from 
partnership, our Company holds 17.39% of the capital 
with a nominal value of TRY 74,800.803. 

d) Establishing Mortgages

In order to finance the Right to Withdraw from the 
Partnership arising out of the merger between Akiş REIT 
and SAF REIT, the independent sections (independent 
sections no. 1-487) located in Istanbul, Esenyurt District, 
Kapadik Village, with map section no. F21D19D3A, city 
block no. 383 and plot no. 3, A Block in Akbatı were 
mortgaged as loan collateral in favor of Yapi ve Kredi 
Bankasi A.Ş. for TRY 216,720,911. Mortgages in favor of 
Akbank T.A.Ş. and Ak Finansal Kiralama A.Ş. on the same 
property were cancelled.

e) Duty Distribution of Board of Directors Members

AHMET CEMAL DÖRDÜNCÜ was appointed Chairman 
of the Board of Directors and RAİF ALİ DİNÇKÖK was 
appointed Assistant Chairman of the Board of Directors.

f) 2016 General Assembly

Our 2016 Ordinary General Assembly was held on April 14, 
2017 at 11:00 at the Grand Hyatt Istanbul Hotel located at 
Taşkişla Caddesi, No: 1, 34437, Taksim, Istanbul.

As a result of the 2016 General Assembly, the resolutions 
mentioned below were passed:

• In line with article 1 of the agenda, a meeting council was 
established by a vote majority.

• In line with article 2 of the agenda, information regarding 
the Annual Report was provided.

• In line with article 3 of the agenda, the Independent 
Auditor Report was read. 

• In line with article 4 of the agenda, the 2016 Financial 
Tables were accepted and approved by the majority of 
shareholders. 

• In line with article 5 of the agenda, the members of the 
Board of Directors did not use voting rights arising out of 
their 2016 activities, and were acquitted by a vote majority.
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• In line with article 6 of the agenda, the proposal to 
distribute profits and dividend shares relevant to 2016 was 
accepted by a vote majority. No vote took place regarding 
whether to distribute dividends to members of the Board 
of Directors, as there were no suggestions, resolutions or 
recommendations in this regard. 

• In line with article 7 of the agenda, the monthly salary 
of net TRY 8,500.00 to be paid to members of the Board 
of Directors and each independent member was accepted 
by a vote majority.

• In line with article 8 of the agenda, Güney Bağimsiz 
Denetim ve Serbest Muhasebeci Mali Müşvarilik Anonim 
Şirketi was elected to audit the financial tables and reports 
for 2017, according to the report of the Committee in 
Charge of Audit, and was accepted by a vote majority.

• In line with article 9 of the agenda, information was 
provided to shareholders according to the Corporate 
Governance Notification of the Capital Markets Board 
regarding the obligation of shareholders with the control 
of the management, members of the Board of Directors, 
executives with administrative responsibilities and their 
spouses, second degree blood relatives and relatives by 
marriage, not to carry out any transactions that would lead 
to a conflict of interest with the Company or affiliates, and/
or not to conduct any kind of commercial transactions on 
behalf of themselves or others which may be included in 
the field of activity of the Company or its affiliates, and not 
to become an unlimited partner of another partnership 
dealing with similar commercial businesses.

• In line with article 10 of the agenda, the authorities and 
permissions stated in Articles 395 and 396 of the Turkish 
Commercial Code was provided to the members of the 
Board of Directors by a vote majority.

• In line with article 11 of the agenda, information 
regarding donations and aid carried out in 2016 was 
provided according to the Capital Markets Code.

• In line with article 12 of the agenda, information 
regarding income and benefits as a result of mortgages, 
liens, pledges and securities, given to third persons by 
our Company in 2016, were provided to shareholders in 
accordance with Article 12 of the Corporate Governance 
Notification.

• In line with article 13 of the agenda, information regarding 
all purchases, sales and rentals in 2016, in accordance with 
Article 37 of the Real Estate Investment Trust Principles, 
were provided to shareholders. 

• In line with article 14 of the agenda, information 
regarding the Repurchase Program No. II issued by the 
Board of Directors for shares to be repurchased by the 
Company according to Article 5 of Repurchased Shares 
Notification No. (II-2 2.1) of the Capital Markets Board, 
was provided to the shareholders. 

Our Ordinary General Assembly Meeting held on April 14, 
2017 was registered on April 19, 2017, and was announced 
on the Turkish Trade Registry Bulletin on April 25, 2017 
under No. 9313.

g) Selection of Real Estate Valuation Company

In accordance with the resolution of the Board of 
Directors, it was resolved that the valuation service for 
assets included in our Company profile in 2017 will be 
provided by Terra Gayrimenkul Değerleme ve Danişmanlik 
A.Ş., Nova Taşinmaz Değerleme ve Danişmanlik A.Ş. and 
Lotus Gayrimenkul Değerleme ve Danişmanlik A.Ş.

h) Selection of the Independent Auditor

Güney Bağimsiz Denetim ve Serbest Muhasebeci Mali 
Müşavirlik Anonim Şirketi (a member firm of Ernst & Young 
Global Limited) was elected for the audit of our financial 
tables and reports in 2017 at the Ordinary General 
Assembly for 2016, held on April 14, 2017, according to 
the report of the Committee in Charge of Audit.

i) Payment of Dividends for 2016 

Total of TRY 180,000,000.00 to be distributed to our 
shareholders (dividend amount corresponding to nominal 
shares of TRY 1.00 equals to gross TRY 0.418515 and dividend 
rate equal to gross 41.8515%) were distributed in two equal 
installments on April 24, 2017 and June 20, 2017. 

j) Capital Increase of Affiliates

It was decided that the capital of Aksu Real Estate EAD, 
owned solely by our Company and established in Silistra, 
Bulgaria, will be increased by 30,000 Leva (approximately 
TRY 61,000), for 300 new shares issued with a nominal 
value of 100 Leva from 170,000 Leva to 200,000 Leva, and 
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the increased capital amount of 30,000 Leva subscribed to 
be paid by our Company, the sole owner of Aksu Real Estate 
EAD, in cash. 

About Mergers of Affiliates

Akyaşam Yönetim Hizmetleri A.Ş. (Akyaşam), 100% affiliate 
of our Company to purchase Ak Yön Yönetim ve Bakim A.Ş., 
100% affiliate of our Company in line with 155/1-b, 156 and 
other applicable articles of the Turkish Commercial Code 
and Articles 18, 19, 20 of the Corporate Tax Law together 
with all assets and liabilities. Ak Yön was to be dissolved 
without liquidation, and the legal entity of Akyaşam was 
registered before the Istanbul Trade Registry Directorate on 
October 03, 2017 and the merger was completed.

Company Headquarters Address Change

Our Company headquarters, located at Miralay Şefikbey 
Sokak, No: 11 Gümüşsuyu 34437, Beyoğlu/Taksim-
ISTANBUL, was moved to Acibadem Mahallesi Çeçen Sokak 
No: 25, 34660 Akasya AVM, Acibadem/Üsküdar-ISTANBUL.

Sales of Real Assets 

Our Company sold the investment property located at 
Kocaeli, Gebze District, Balçik Village with map section 
G22B14C4B, City Blok 177 and Plot No. 15 on a 67,907,47-
m2 site to 5M İnşaat Tekstik İthalat İhracat Sanayi Limited 
Şirketi for US$ 23,728,813. 56 + VAT (US$ 28,000,000.00 
including VAT) in cash.

Summary of the 2017 Subsidiary Company 
Report Prepared by the Board of Directors 
of Akış̇ Gayrıṁenkul Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş. 
Pursuant to Article 199 of the Turkish 
Commercial Co.

Pursuant to Article 199 of the Turkish Commercial Code 
No. 6102, which came into force on July 1, 2012, the Board 
of Directors of Akiş is obliged to prepare a report within 
the first three months of the fiscal year about the relations 
of the Company with its controlling shareholder and the 
subsidiaries of the controlling shareholder, and to include 
the conclusion part of this report in the annual report. The 
necessary explanations on related party transactions made 
by Akiş are provided in footnote No. 27 of the financial 
report. It is stated in the Commitment report prepared 
by the Board of Directors of Akiş that, “An appropriate 
counter action was taken in all transactions made in 2017 
by Akiş with its controlling shareholders or subsidiaries, 
according to the circumstances known by us at the time the 
transaction was made or the measure was taken or avoided, 
and any measure that was taken or avoided didn’t cause any 
damage to the Company, and in this context, it is concluded 
that no damage that would require compensation was 
encountered”.
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Dividend Distribution Policy

AKİŞ GAYRİMENKUL YATIRIM ORTAKLIĞI ANONİM ŞİRKETİ 
DIVIDEND DISTRIBUTION POLICY

Our Company’s ‘Profit Distribution Policy’ was determined 
as indicated below within the framework of the Turkish 
Commercial Code, the Capital Markets Board’s (‘CMB’) 
Corporate Governance Notice, and the Dividend Notice 
No. II-19.1, and other CMB Legislation, Tax Legislation 
and other related legislation provisions; and within the 
framework of Article 33 of our Articles of Association 
provision regarding profit distribution.

 Considering future investment expenses to be 
proposed by our Company and other funding needs, 
when there are no unfavorable economic conditions, and 
provided that there is no contradiction with the current 
arrangements of the Capital Markets Board, at least 20% of 
the total distributable profit, which will be available within 
the framework of Article 33 of the Articles of Association, 
will be distributed each year, in order for our partners to 
acquire steady dividends, as well as share yields.

 Within the framework of the provision of sub-
paragraph (c) of Article 33 of the Articles of Association 
and the Company’s “Compensation Policy for the 
Members of the Board of Directors and Senior Executives”, 
it will be possible to pay dividends to the Members of the 
Board of Directors depending on the General Assembly 
decision. The entire amount of the dividend planned to be 
distributed, may be distributed only if it can be met from 
net distributable profits and other resources existing in 
statutory records.

 In compliance with the provisions of the Articles 
of Association, there are no privileges for dividends. 
The dividends to be distributed to the shareholders are 
equally distributed to all of the available shares as of the 
distribution date, regardless of their issuing or acquisition 
dates.

 Dividend can be distributed in cash or by bonus shares 
or partially in cash and partially by bonus shares.

 The dividend distribution date is determined by the 
General Assembly in accordance with the proposal of the
Board of Directors provided that it is not contrary to the 
Capital Markets Board legislation, and starting no later
than the end of the fiscal year of the General Assembly in 
which the distribution decision was taken.

 Distributable dividend can be paid in equal or varying 
installments. The number of installments shall be
determined by the General Assembly or by the Board of 
Directors, provided that it is expressly authorized by the
General Assembly. In the event that the installment 
payment dates are determined by the Board of Directors, 
the payment dates shall be disclosed to the public, in the 
framework of the Capital Markets Board’s regulations on
material disclosures, within fifteen days following the date 
of the General Assembly. 

 Dividend advance payments may be distributed to the 
shareholders provided that such payments are in
compliance with the relevant Capital Markets Board 
Legislation.

 This “Dividend Distribution Policy” may be revised 
annually, taking into account the Company’s financial
performance, anticipated investment projects, and 
sectoral and economic conditions.
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Dividend Distribution Proposal

Dear Shareholders,

In accordance with the terms of the dividend distribution 
policy that we have previously shared with our 
shareholders, the Company has drawn up its proposal for 
the distribution of dividends concerning the profits of 2017 
as follows, subject to ratification by the General Assembly.

Our net period profit, stated on our consolidated financial 
tables and issued in line with Series II, No: 14.1 Notification 
of the Capital Markets Board is TRY 490,551,211.00, and 
our net profit for the period stated on our financial tables 
issued in accordance with the Tax Procedure Law stands at 
TRY 241,445,188.42.

It was decided that no General Legal Reserve Funds will 
be retained from our net profit for the period stated on 
our consolidated financial tables, issued in line with 
Series II, No: 14.1 Notification of the Capital Markets 
Board TRY 490,551,211.00, in line with Article 519 of the 
Turkish Commercial Code, and Article 33 of the Articles of 
Association. 

As our profit has not reached the ceiling amount stated 
in Paragraph (1.) of Article 519 of the Turkish Commercial 
Code and 33(a) of the Company’s Articles of Association, 
TRY 21,504,592.50 corresponding to 5% of our paid up 
capital of TRY 430,091,850.00 (the dividend amount 
corresponding to nominal shares of TRY 1.00 equal to 
gross TRY 0.05 and dividend rate equals to gross 5.00%) is 
to be distributed to our shareholders in cash. 

TRY 113,495,407.50 out of the remaining TRY 
469,046,618.50 (dividend amount corresponding to 
nominal shares of TRY 1.00 equal to gross TRY 0.263886 
and dividend rate equal to gross 5.00%) is to be distributed 
as the second dividend to our shareholders in cash.

The General Legal Reserve Fund of TRY 11,349,540.75 
based on the second dividend is to be retained.

The total of the 1st and 2nd dividends to be distributed 
to our shareholders equals to TRY 135,000,000.00 (the 
dividend amount contributing to shares with a nominal 
value of TRY 1.00 equal to gross TRY 0.313886 and the 
dividend gross share equal to 31.388644%).

The General Legal Reserve Fund of TRY 11,349,540.75 
based on the total is to be reserved.

To set aside the remaining amount as an Extraordinary 
Reserve,

The General Assembly to decide on which dates these 
dividends will be paid.

We submit the Board of Directors’ above-mentioned 
proposal regarding the dividend distribution for the 
approval of the General Assembly.

AKİŞ GAYRİMENKUL YATIRIM ORTAKLIĞI 
ANONİM ŞİRKETİ
BOARD OF DIRECTORS
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Other Developments

a) Information on lawsuits and their results:

Although they would not affect the Company’s financial 
state or activity, the following claims were filed by one 
of the shareholders, Ömer Dinçkök, against the Company.

Ömer Dinçkök, a shareholder of the Company has filed 
a lawsuit against the Company before the Istanbul 
3rd Commercial Court of First Instance under file no. 
2016/709E, requesting a private auditor according to 
Article 439/1 of the Turkish Commercial Code. His request 
for a private auditor was rejected at the Ordinary General 
Assembly for 2016 held on March 29, 2016, and the Court 
has rejected the lawsuit in favor of our Company. The 
court decree was appealed by the plaintiff and the appeal 
investigation will take place at the Istanbul Regional Court 
of Law, 14th Civil Chamber under File No. 2017/419 E.

Ömer Dinçkök, a shareholder of the Company, has 
filed a lawsuit against the Company before the Istanbul 
12th Commercial Court of First Instance under File No. 
2016/739E for nullification and cancellation of resolutions 
included in agenda articles 2, 5, 6 and 7, passed at the 
2015 Ordinary General Assembly dated March 29, 2016. 
The Court ordered expert examination regarding the 
lawsuit and the expert report is currently being prepared. 
The next hearing will take place on June 18, 2018.

Ömer Dinçkök, a shareholder of the Company, has 
filed a lawsuit against the Company before the Istanbul 
16th Commercial Court of First Instance under File 
No. 2015/703 E for the nullification and cancellation 
of resolutions included in agenda articles 2, 4, 5 and 6 
passed at the 2014 Ordinary General Assembly dated 
April 1, 2015. The Court ordered the cancellation of 
agenda article 6 passed at the general assembly, and 
the rejection of the cancellation of the other articles on 
September 29, 2016. The dividend of TRY 2,307,537.90 
paid by the Company according to agenda article 6 of the 
general assembly meeting was returned to the Company 
on September 4, 2016 together with the commercial 
interest of default incurred from the payment date, and 
the partial acceptance and partial rejection decisions of 
the court were appealed. At the committee trial on July 6, 
2017, the Court rejected the appeal on procedural grounds 
as the appeal application no longer had active grounds 
to sue, and the appeal application of the Company is to 
be accepted, the decree of the Istanbul 16th Court of 
First Instance dated September 29, 2016 under File No. 
2015/703 and No. 2016/648 is to be annulled, and the 
lawsuit of the plaintiff is to be rejected on procedural 
grounds since the lawsuit has no active grounds to sue. 
This Court decree was passed as a result of the appeal 
investigation and finalized, as the parties did not appeal.

Ömer Dinçkök, a shareholder of the Company has filed 
a lawsuit against the Company before the Istanbul 12th 
Commercial Court of First Instance on File No. 2015/706E, 
requesting a private auditor according to Article 439/1 of 
the Turkish Commercial Code. His request for a private 
auditor was rejected at the Ordinary General Assembly 
for 2014 held on April 1, 2015. The lawsuit was rejected at 
the preliminary hearing held on December 28, 2015, and 
was resolved in favor of the Company.

Ömer Dinçkök, a shareholder of our Company has filed 
a lawsuit against the Company before the Istanbul 15th 
Commercial Court of First Instance under File No. 2015/393 
E, with the claim that his right to obtain information and 
examination at the General Assembly meeting for 2014 
held on April 1, 2015 was improperly refused. The lawsuit 
was implicitly rejected at the hearing on July 9, 2015, 
and the lawsuit was reconciled in favor of our Company. 
Although the plaintiff appealed the verdict, the Court’s 
decision was final and the appeal was rejected. However, 
the plaintiff also appealed this Court decision. As a result 
of the appeal examination, the 11th Civil Chamber of 
the Supreme Court approved the decision under File No. 
2016/1162 E, 2017/3675K, and the plaintiff has applied to 
request a revision of the decision.

A lawsuit was filed by one of our Company’s shareholders, 
Mr. Ömer Dinçkök, at the Istanbul 18th Commercial Court 
of First Instance (formerly the Istanbul 50th Commercial 
Court of First Instance), with file number 2014/545 
E. (older 2014/208 E.), requesting the cancellation of 
resolutions numbered 2, 5, 6, 7, 10 and 11, taken during 
the 2013 Ordinary General Assembly meeting, dated 
March 28, 2014. On April 9, 2015, it was decided, with the 
partial acceptance of the lawsuit, to cancel the resolution 
taken under item 6 of the agenda regarding the use of the 
profit, determination of the dividend and dividend share 
to be distributed; and to reject the cancellation requests 
regarding the resolutions taken on agenda items 2, 5, 7, 
10 and 11. The Courts verdict regarding the cancellation 
of agenda item 6 of the said general assembly meeting 
was appealed by our Company on April 1, 2016, and 
the Company also responded to recourse to appeal by 
the plaintiff. Examination of the appeal still continues 
under file 2016/6238 E. of the Supreme Court’s 11th Civil 
Department.

A lawsuit was filed on April 7, 2014 by one of our Company’s 
shareholders, Mr. Ömer Dinçkök, at the 7th Commercial 
Court of First Instance, with file number 2014/120 E., with 
the request of obtaining the right to acquire information 
and examine all of the company’s commercial books and 
records, claiming that the right to acquire information was 
unfairly rejected during the ordinary general assembly 
meeting, dated March 28, 2014. During the first hearing, 
dated December 10, 2014, the lawsuit was definitively 
rejected, and it resulted in favor of our Company.
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There are a number of various debt claims, business 
or administrative proceedings, other than the 
abovementioned lawsuits, filed against the Company. The 
relevant lawsuits will not have a material impact on the 
Company’s financial status and activities.

Other Lawsuits involving the Company;
 

With the service of the Notice Decision under File 
No. 2017/640 of the Regional Administrative Court, 
4th Lawsuit Chamber, Istanbul, Republic of Turkey, a 
lawsuit for the cancelation of the license dated June 17, 
2016 and No. 0000542-16 located in Istanbul, Kadiköy 
District, Erenköy Quarter, Çiftehavuzlar Neighbourhood, 
Map Section 106, City Block 1435, Plot 39 belonging to 
the Company, and for which a construction project is 
currently being developed, was filed by the owner of 
the neighboring plot at the Istanbul 3rd Administrative 
Court against the Kadiköy Municipality Mayor’s Office and 
Istanbul Metropolitan Municipality Mayor’s Office. It was 
determined under Decree No. 2016/1504 E, 2017/553 K of 
the Istanbul 3rd Administrative Court, that the transaction 
was to be cancelled. However, this was also appealed. 
Since the decrees passed have the potential of affecting 
the Company, based on the notice of the Istanbul Regional 
Administrative Court 4th Lawsuit Chamber, the lawsuit 
was contested along with the defendants, the Office of 
the Mayor, Kadiköy Municipality and Office of the Mayor, 
Istanbul Metropolitan Municipality. The appeal application 
was rejected under Decision No. 2017/640 E, 2017/736K 
of the 4th Lawsuit Chamber, Istanbul. However, this 
decision has also been appealed and the appeal process 
is still ongoing.

Upon the rejection of applications regarding the 
aforementioned plot to be included in green areas by 
the owner of the plot, located at map section 106, city 
block 1435 and plot 39 by the related administration, 
the lawsuit filed for the cancellation of these rejections 
before the Istanbul 10th Administrative Court, against the 
Office of the Mayor, Istanbul Metropolitan Municipality 
and the Office of the Mayor, Kadiköy Municipality, were 
accepted under Decree No. 2014/115 E, 2015/800 K of 
the Istanbul 10th Administrative Court. The decree was 
passed and appealed against. In this lawsuit, to which 
the Company is also a party, the appeal application was 
rejected under Decree No. 2015/11861 E, 2017/4590 K of 
the 6th Chamber of State Council, and the proceedings for 
the revision of the decision still continue. 

In the lawsuit filed against the related administration with 
the request to cancel the Assembly Decree dated May 10, 
2016 of the Istanbul Metropolitan Municipality Assembly, 
pertaining to the transactions regarding the application 
rejection by the owner of the plot located at map section 

106, city block 1435 and plot 49, Istanbul Metropolitan 
Municipality, the lawsuit was accepted under Decree No. 
2016/1486E, 2017/65 K of the Istanbul 3rd Administrative 
Court. The plaintiff, Istanbul Metropolitan Municipality, 
appealed the decree, and the appeal review applied to 
open the rejection of the request. The appeal continues 
before the 6th Chamber of State Council.

For the Kadiköy Municipality to seal the construction on 
the plot with map section 106, city block 1435 and plot 
39 owned by the Company, a lawsuit was filed against 
the Kadiköy Municipality. The lawsuit was rejected under 
Decree No. 2017/880 E, 2017/2043K of the Istanbul 3rd 
Administrative Court. Subsequently this decree was 
appealed and the proceedings continue.

b) Financial Rights Provided for Managing Body Members 
and Senior Executives

A gross material benefit of TRY5.745.975 was provided to 
our Company’s management members and senior executives 
as compensation. All of the benefits offered to the senior 
executives consist of short-term compensation or similar 
benefits, and they do not include long-term benefits. 
Managing body members or senior executives do not receive 
any allowances, travel, accommodation or representation 
expenses, or real and monetary opportunities or similar 
assurances.

c) Information on Portfolio Restrictions

Information regarding the Company’s portfolio restrictions is 
found on the Financial statements’ postscript numbered 31, 
titled ‘Monitoring Compliance for Portfolio Restrictions’. 

d) Related Party Transactions

Information regarding benefits provided for related party 
transactions and balances, and the board of directors and 
senior executives, is found on the Financial Statements’ 
postscript numbered 27, titled ‘Related Party Comments’. 

e) Comments on Administrative Sanctions or Law Enforcements 
Applied for Company or Managing Body Members Due to 
Practices Contrary to Provisions of Legislation 

As of the date of the annual report, there are no administrative 
sanctions or law enforcements applied to the Company of the 
Managing Body Members due to practices contrary to the 
provisions of the legislation.
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f) Information on expenses made within the year by the 
Company in relation to charitable donations and social 
welfare projects 

In full awareness of its social responsibilities, Akiş GYO aimed 
to make contributions to social progress by means of making 
charitable donations and social welfare within the framework 
of the Charitable Donations and Welfare Policy.

Our company made charitable donations, amounting to 
TRY6.253.912 in total in 2017, to various institutions and 
organizations.

g) Companies Entrusted with Consultancy, Auditing, 
Ratings and Assessment

Tax Advisor: BDO Denet Yeminli Mali Müşavirlik A.Ş.
Independent Auditor: Güney Bağimsiz Denetim ve Serbest 
Muhasebeci Mali Müşavirlik Anonim Şirketi

Ratings Agency for Corporate Governance Principles 
Compliance Rating: Saha Kurumsal Yönetim ve Kredi 
Derecelendirme Hizmetleri A.Ş.

Real Estate Assessment Companies Selected for 2017: Nova 
Taşinmaz Değerleme ve Danişmanlik A.Ş., Lotus Gayrimenkul 
Değerleme ve Danişmanlik A.Ş., Terra Gayrimenkul Değerleme 
ve Danişmanlik A.Ş.

Statement Regarding Conflicts of Interest Between Selected 
Institutions and the Company:

The Company conforms to the relevant capital markets 
regulations, and exercises due diligence to prevent any 
possible conflicts of interest regarding the determination of 
the Entrusted Institutions.

In 2017, there was no issue regarding conflict of interests 
between the institutions that rendered service for 
investment consultancy and ratings. 

h) The Company’s other statements as part of the Capital 
Markets Board and Turkish Commercial Code are as 
follows:

After Akiş REIT’s merger with SAF REIT was completed on 
January 18, 2017, the Company retains its own share with a 
nominal amount of 74,800,803.42, and at a rate of 17.39%.

There were no major legislation amendments that changed 
the Company’s activities in 2017.

The Company has no unfulfilled goals and no failed General 
Assembly decisions.

The Company did not have any unredeemed capital, nor was 
it debt-choked.

The Company does not have any partnership with reciprocal 
shareholding.

Information on the Company’s financial sources is found 
on the Financial statements’ postscript number 7, titled 
‘Financial Borrowing’, and there was no issued or on-going 
capital market instrument within the year.

ı) Events Following the Balance Sheet Date

Update of the explanation regarding the pre-proposal 
received from the Real Estate Investment Trust for Akbatı

No further developments have taken place regarding the 
authorization announced on November 24, 2017 to the 
explanation we gave to the Public Disclosure Platform. Any 
developments regarding the process will be shared on the 
Public Disclosure Platform.

About the Explanation within the scope of Article 40/3/ç of 
Notification on Principles Regarding Real Estate Investment 
Trusts

In accordance with sub-paragraph ç of paragraph 3 of Article 
40 of the Notification on Principles Regarding Real Estate 
Investment Trusts (III-48.1) of the Capital Markets Board, our 
total purchases are TRY 5,404,226 + VAT and our monthly 
rental total is US$ 831,898 + VAT, within the scope of the 
announcement of purchases, sales or rent transactions which 
do not exceed 2% of the total assets stated in the financial 
tables revealed to the public in 2017.

About the Selection of Real Estate Valuation Companies for 
2018

In line with Article 35 of the Selection of Real Estate Valuation 
Companies of Notification on Principles Regarding Real Estate 
Investment Trusts Series: III No: 48.1 of the Capital Markets 
Board, our Board of Directors decided that the valuation 
service for assets included in the Company portfolio is to be 
provided by Lotus Gayrimenkul Değerleme ve Danişmanlik 
A.Ş., Terra Gayrimenkul Değerleme ve Danişmanlik A.Ş. and 
Gayrimenkul Değerleme A.Ş., and the Board decided to work 
with Nova Taşinmaz Değerleme ve Danişmanlik A.Ş. and Lotus 
Gayrimenkul Değerleme ve Danişmanlik A.Ş. for potential 
asset purchases that would require valuation.
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STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY AS PER ARTICLE 9 OF THE CAPITAL MARKETS BOARD COMMUNIQUE
SERIAL: II- 14.1 ON PRINCIPLES REGARDING FINANCIAL REPORTING IN CAPITAL MARKETS

UPON THE APPROVAL OF THE ANNUAL REPORT, THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS’;
Decision Date   : 09.03.2018
Decision Number  : 13

We hereby declare that,

The 2017 annual report, which was prepared pursuant to the provisions of the Capital Markets Board’s (CMB)
Communiqué Serial: II-14.1 on “Principles Regarding Financial Reporting in Capital Markets” (“Communiqué”), and
in compliance with the format and content specified by the CMB and the relevant legislations;

• Was examined by our side;

• Did not include any explanation contrary to the facts with respect to important matters or any gaps that could
be misleading as of the date when the explanation was made, to the extent of the information we have, as per our
duty and responsibility within the Company;

• To the extent of the information we have, as per our duty and responsibility within the Company, the annual
report, which was prepared in accordance with the relevant Communiqué, solely reflects the truth regarding the
development and performance of the business; and along with those under the scope of consolidation, reflects the
truth regarding the Company’s financial status, together with the significant risks and uncertainties it faces, and
that we are liable for the statement made.

Yours Faithfully,

 Fatma Füsun Akkal Bozok            Ayşe Selen Kocabaş                    Naile Banuhan Yürükoğlu
 Chairman of the Audit Committee Member of the Audit Committee Assistant General Manager - Finance

Statement of Responsibility



Decision Date  : 09.03.2018
Decision Number  : 13

Members of the Board of Directors of AKİŞ GAYRİMENKUL YATIRIM ORTAKLIĞI ANONİM ŞİRKETİ took the following 
decision in compliance with Article 390 of the Turkish Commercial Code: 

It was decided that;

The 2017 annual report of our Company, and the report dated 09.03.2018 by the committee in charge of auditing, 
were approved, and agreed to be issued on the Public Disclosure Platform.

                  Ahmet Cemal Dördüncü                                    Raif Ali Dinçkök                                             İhsan Gökşin Durusoy                               
                  Chairman of the Board                           Vice Chairman of the Board                                          Board Member                      
                 

                Alize Dinçkök Eyüboğlu                                  Mehmet Emin Çiftçi                            Doğu Batı San.Ürünleri İhr. ve İth. A.Ş.
                       Board Member                                              Board Member                Representative Meral Miryam Molinas-Board Member                                           

                 Ayşe Selen Kocabaş                                      Fatma Füsun Akkal Bozok                             Recep Yılmaz Argüden                               
           Independent Board Member                           Independent Board Member                       Independent Board Member                  

Board of Directors Decision on the Approval of the Annual Report
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AKİŞ GAYRİMENKUL 
YATIRIM ORTAKLIĞI A.Ş.
CONVENIENCE TRANSLATION INTO ENGLISH OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE PERIOD 1 JANUARY - 31 DECEMBER 2017
TOGETHER WITH INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
(ORIGINALLY ISSUED IN TURKISH)



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Shareholders of Akiş Gayrimenkul Yatırım Ortaklığı Anonim Şirketi

A) Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

1) Opinion
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Akiş Gayrimenkul Yatırım Ortaklığı Anonim Şirketi (the Company) and 
its subsidiaries (the Group) which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 2017, and the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash 
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting 
policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial 
position of the Group as at December 31, 2017, and its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year 
then ended in accordance with the Turkish Accounting Standards (TAS).

2) Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with standards on auditing as issued by the Capital Markets Board of Turkey and Independent 
Auditing Standards (InAS) which are part of the Turkish Auditing Standards as issued by the Public Oversight Accounting and Auditing 
Standards Authority of Turkey (POA). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities 
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the 
Code of Ethics for Independent Auditors (Code of Ethics) as issued by the POA, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities 
in accordance with the Code of Ethics. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our opinion.

3) Key Audit Matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated 
financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter

Valuation of investment properties and significant information 
disclosed

As explained in note 2 and 1, the Group recognizes investment 
properties at their fair values, after initial recognition. As of 
December 31, 2017, fair value amount of the investment 
properties disclosed in the consolidated financial statements 
amounts to TL 3.535.536.000 as determined by independent 
appraisal firms and details of the valuation have been 
disclosed in note 2 and 11. Due to the fact that investment 
properties are a significant part of the Group’s assets and 
applied valuation methods contain significant judgements and 
assumptions, we have considered the valuation of investment 
properties as a key audit matter.

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

We assessed the qualifications, competencies and 
independence of the professional appraisers engaged by the 
management.

In our audit, we assessed whether the valuation methods 
as applied by appraisers are acceptable for valuation of the 
underlying investment property. We reconciled the appraised 
value for independent sections in the valuation report with 
disclosed amount in note 11. In addition, we reconciled 
standing data included in the valuation report such as rental 
income, duration of lease contracts, occupancy rates and 
administration expenses to source documents.

Among the other audit procedures we performed, we verified 
the assumptions used by the external appraisers in their 
valuations (including the discount rate, the market rent and 
the expected occupancy rates) against external data. For this 
assessment we involved internal valuation experts in our 
audit procedures. 

Due to the high level of judgment in the valuation of 
investment property and the existence of alternative 
assumptions and valuation methods, we assessed if the result 
of the external valuation is within an acceptable range.



We also examined the suitability of the information in 
the financial statements and explanatory note, given the 
importance of this information for users of the financial 
statements.

As of December 31, 2017, in the consolidated financial 
statements of the Group there has been inventories 
amounting to TL 357.748.074 in the current assets and TL 
68.337.854 in the non-current assets. Inventories comprise of 
cost of land that is held to build housing projects for sale 
in the short-term and construction costs of housing units. 
Accounting policy regarding to inventories is disclosed in 
note 2, related inventory amounts are disclosed in note 12. 
Due to the fact that inventories are a significant part of the 
Group’s assets and matters such as accounting of purchase, 
conversion-capitalization and other necessary costs which are 
included to inventories, housing inventories to be sold are 
considered as a key audit matter to our audit.

As explained in note 3 to the consolidated financial 
statements, the Company merged with Saf Gayrimenkul 
Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş. (“Saf GYO”), which operated in the same 
sector, using the financial statements dated January 18, 2017. 
The merger has been recognized in the name of the Company 
and merger transaction has been evaluated in accordance 
with IFRS 3 requirements and in accordance with the standard, 
the acquisition method accounting has been applied and 
merged balance sheet has been prepared. As disclosed in note 
3, accounting applied regarding to merger transaction, which 
required significant and complex judgments, including but 
not limited to the determination of the fair values of assets 
acquired and liabilities assumed at the acquisition date.

Given the magnitude in terms of consolidated financial 
statement and the level of judgement required in choosing 
appropriate assumptions, merger has been considered as a 
key audit matter.

Within the scope of our audit procedures performed regarding 
the subject stated above, we focused on the following;

• Testing cost of development additions in the current year 
by comparing with documents such as invoice and progress 
payment

• Review of borrowing costs capitalized to inventories in the 
current year and review the capitalization ceiling test

• Testing of foreign currency differences capitalized and its 
verification with borrowing costs

• Controlling of net realizable value of the inventories with 
valuation report and realized sales.

In this context, we performed audit procedures on the 
financial statements dated January 18, 2017 which were 
considered in the merger transaction.

Net asset value of Saf GYO based on the merger was 
determined based on fair value of real estate in use that are in 
the account of property, plant and equipment and fair value 
of inventories. We involved internal valuation experts in our 
audit procedures for assessment of valuation methods and 
assumptions used.

The Company worked with an independent valuation firm 
in order to determine fair value of Saf GYO which has been 
used in the merger accounting and key valuation assumptions 
(including weighted average cost of capital, future projections 
and share prices) and valuation methods were examined by 
internal valuation experts in our audit procedures. Within this 
scope, we evaluated bargain purchase income resulting from 
difference between net asset value subject to merger and the 
fair value of Saf GYO.

Furthermore, we assessed the compliance of disclosures 
included in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements 
and accounting regarding to the merger with TFRS 3.

How our audit addressed the key audit matter (continued)

Inventories

Accounting for business combination



4) Other matter
The consolidated financial statements of the Group which were prepared in accordance with the accounting principles and standards 
in force as of December 31, 2016 were subject to full-scope audit by another independent audit firm. In their independent auditor’s 
report dated February 20, 2017, independent audit firm expressed unqualified opinion on the consolidated financial statements 
prepared at December 31, 2016.

5) Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with TAS, 
and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements 
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a 
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless 
management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

6) Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance 
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with InAS and the standards on auditing 
as issued by the Capital Markets Board of Turkey will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise 
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with InAS and the standards on auditing as issued by the Capital Markets Board of Turkey, we exercise 
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design 
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as 
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures 
made by management.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence 
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report 
to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may 
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and 
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within the Group 
to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of 
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.



We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our 
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of most significance in 
the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these 
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare 
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so 
would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

B) Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

1) Auditors’ report on Risk Management System and Committee prepared in accordance with paragraph 4 of Article 398 of Turkish 
Commercial Code (“TCC”) 6102 is submitted to the Board of Directors of the Company on February 16, 2018.

2) In accordance with paragraph 4 of Article 402 of the TCC, no significant matter has come to our attention that causes us to believe 
that the Company’s bookkeeping activities for the period 1 January - 31 December 2017 and financial statements are not in compliance 
with laws and provisions of the Company’s articles of association in relation to financial reporting.

3) In accordance with paragraph 4 of Article 402 of the TCC, the Board of Directors submitted to us the necessary explanations and 
provided required documents within the context of audit.

The name of the engagement partner who supervised and concluded this audit is Seda Akkuş Tecer.

Güney Bağımsız Denetim ve Serbest Muhasebeci Mali Müşavirlik Anonim Şirketi 
A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited

February 16,

Partner



Akiş REIT 80

    Audited Audited
    31 December  31 December 
   Notes 2017 2016

ASSETS

Current Assets  548,480,318 198,807,017

Cash and cash equivalents 5 88,837,174 19,451,752
Financial investments 6 17,439,996 -
Trade receivables  65,277,994 75,986,306
   - Trade receivables from related parties 8, 27 236,969 2,547
   - Trade receivables from third parties 8 65,041,025 75,983,759
Other receivables  10,933,689 2,714,689
   - Other receivables from related parties 27 10,552,020 -
   - Other receivables from third parties 9 381,669 2,714,689
Inventories 12 357,748,074 97,476,420
Prepaid expenses 10 4,823,759 3,143,875
Other current assets 15 3,419,632 33,975

Non - current Assets  3,724,024,479 1,804,188,086

Financial Investments 6 1,892,579 -
Investments accounted for using the equity method 3 - 337,113,225
Trade receivables  56,439,941 56,151,008
   - Trade receivables from third parties 8 56,439,941 56,151,008
Other receivables  9,204,860 4,159,560
   - Trade receivables from related parties 27 7,249,627 4,159,560
   - Trade receivables from third parties 9 1,955,233 -
Inventories 12 68,337,854 291,205,450
Investment properties 11 3,535,536,000 1,103,592,419
Property, plant and equipment 13 32,045,644 2,126,857
Intangible assets  6,914,942 752,036
   - Goodwill  707,176 707,176
   - Other intangible assets 14 6,207,766 44,860
Deferred tax assets  306,163 176,454
Prepaid expenses 10 10,521,361 6,784,116
Other non-current assets 15 2,825,135 2,126,961

Total Assets  4,272,504,797 2,002,995,103

The consolidated financial statements for the 1 January - 31 December 2017 accounting period have been reviewed 
by the audit committee and approved by the Board of Directors resolution dated 16 February 2018. The consolidated 
financial statements are subject to approval by the General Assembly.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

AKİŞ GAYRİMENKUL YATIRIM ORTAKLIĞI A.Ş.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
AT 31 DECEMBER 2017 AND 2016
(Amounts are expressed in Turkish Lira (“TRY”) unless otherwise indicated.)
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    Audited Audited 
    31 December  31 December 
   Notes 2017 2016

LIABILITIES

Current Liabilities  468,721,580 247,891,475

Short-term borrowings 7 133,602,406 96,993,411
Short-term portion of long-term borrowings 7 295,627,546 85,160,868
Trade payables  16,566,175 10,427,385
   - Trade payables to related parties 8, 27 1,895,696 1,681,375
   - Trade payables to third parties 8 14,670,479 8,746,010
Employee benefit related liabilities 17 870,618 464,062
Other payables  2,355,647 2,792,264
   - Other payables to third parties 9 2,355,647 2,792,264
Deferred income 10 8,333,184 51,018,038
Short-term provisions  11,323,611 1,012,839
   - Short-term provisions for employee benefits 16, 17 533,178 167,799
   - Other short-term provisions 16 10,790,433 845,040
Income tax payable  42,393 22,608

Non-current liabilities  1,304,160,902 564,175,265

Long-term borrowings 7 1,293,166,591 563,258,210
Trade payables  582,128 -
   - Trade payables to third parties 8 582,128 -
Deferred Income 10 9,412,508 -
Long-term provisions  999,675 917,055
   -Long term provisions for employee
       termination benefits 17 999,675 917,055

EQUITY  2,499,622,315 1,190,928,363

Attributable to equity holders of the parent  2,499,622,315 1,190,928,363

Paid-in share capital 25 430,091,850 200,000,000
Adjustment to share capital  121,877,344 121,840,877
Share premium  944,975 208,659
Combination offset account  870,289,152 -
Treasury shares  (189,440,968)                         -
Other comprehensive income / (expense)   
   not to be reclassified to profit or loss  247,881 (7,724)
   - Remeasurement loss arising from   
        defined benefit plan 18 247,881 (7,724)
Other comprehensive income / (expense)   
   to be reclassified to profit or loss 18  1,368,741 
(560,658)
   - Currency translation reserve 18 103,487 61,667
   - Investments accounted for using the equity method   
     reclassified to other comprehensive income/loss 18 1,265,254 (622,325)
Effects of business combination   
   of entities under common control  (4,109,167) (4,109,167)
Other reserves 18 54,696,807 54,696,807
Restricted reserves appropriated from profit 18 281,542,533 33,301,617
Retained earnings 18 441,561,956 615,628,763
Net profit for the yearww   490,551,211    169,929,189

Attributable to non-controlling interests  - -

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY  4,272,504,797 2,002,995,103
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

AKİŞ GAYRİMENKUL YATIRIM ORTAKLIĞI A.Ş.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
AT 31 DECEMBER 2017 AND 2016
(Amounts are expressed in Turkish Lira (“TRY”) unless otherwise indicated.)
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    Audited Audited 
    1 January - 1 January -
    31 December  31 December 
  Notes 2017 2016

PROFIT OR LOSS

Revenue 19 319,649,955 78,563,118
Cost of sales (-) 19 (85,194,969) (26,543,769)

Gross profit  234,454,986 52,019,349

General administrative expenses (-) 20 (41,321,935) (29,138,170)
Marketing expenses (-) 20 (3,408,025)  (1,082,753)
Other operating income 22 59,489,983 36,535,162
Other operating expenses (-) 22 (78,442,680) (18,519,241)

Operating profit  170,772,329 39,814,347

Income from investing activities 23 303,619,674 155,457,160
Other income from participations, joint control
      entities and subsidiaries 3 181,804,762 -
Share of profit from joint control entities
      using the equity method 3 (9,121,184) 76,801,790

Operating profit before financial loss  674,075,581 272,073,297

Financial income 24 140,917,252 36,772,760
Financial expenses (-) 24 (297,113,459) (138,806,927)

Profit before tax from continuing operations  490,879,374 170,039,130

Current tax expense 26 (402,957) (109,941)
Deferred tax income/expense 26 74,794 -

Net profit for the year from continuing operations  490,551,211 169,929,189

NET PROFIT FOR THE YEAR  490,551,211 169,929,189

Total income for the period attributable to:
Non-controlling interest  - -
Equity holders of the parent  490,551,211 169,929,189

Earnings per share 25 1,14 0.85

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME / (EXPENSE)

Items not to be reclassified to profit and loss  255,605 244,628

Remeasurement loss arising from defined benefit plan 17 255,605 244,628
Items not be reclassified to profit and loss of 
   investments accounted for using the equity method  - -

Items to be reclassified to profit or loss  41,820 (511,734)

Items not be reclassified to profit and loss of 
   investments accounted for using the equity method 14 - (622,325)
Currency translation differences  41,820 110,591

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS  297,425 (267,106)

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  490,848,636 169,662,083

Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Non-controlling interest  - -
Equity holders of parent  490,848,636 169,662,083

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

AKİŞ GAYRİMENKUL YATIRIM ORTAKLIĞI A.Ş.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE 
INCOME FOR THE YEARS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 AND 2016
(Amounts are expressed in Turkish Lira (“TRY”) unless otherwise indicated.)
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AKİŞ GAYRİMENKUL YATIRIM ORTAKLIĞI A.Ş.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGE IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEARS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 AND 2016
(Amounts are expressed in Turkish Lira (“TRY”) unless otherwise indicated.)



Akiş REIT 84

    Audited Audited 
    1 January - 1 January -
    31 December  31 December 
  Notes 2017 2016

A. CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES  172,916,385 28,009,440

Net profit/(loss) for the period  490,551,211 169,929,189

Adjustments to reconcile net profit/(loss) to net cash 
   provided by operating activities  (316,867,869) (107,935,243)

Adjustments related to depreciation and amortization 13, 14 4,661,691 788,372
Adjustments related to impairment/(cancellation) on assets 12,24 25,082,503 -
Adjustments related to provisions  7,711,215 831,288
Adjustments related to interest income and expenses 24 75,383,418 19,185,720
Adjustments related to unrealized exchange differences  46,193,599 104,032,772
Adjustments related to tax income/expenses 26 402,957 109,941
Adjustments related to fair value gain, net 3,23 (202,960,724) (124,666,570)
Adjustments related to undistributed profits of subsidiaries 3 9,121,184 (76,801,790)
Adjustments for other items that cause cash flow 
   resulting from financing and investing activities 23 (56,494,,428) (30,790,590)
Adjustments related to gains resulting from bargained purchase 3 (225,969,284) -
Other adjustments related to non-cash items  - (624,386)

Changes in net working capital  21,851,961 (5,434,696)

Increases in inventories  (15,122,614) (56,176,489)
Decrease in trade receivables  51,657,341 (29,281,025)
Decrease in trade payables  6,720,918 908,911)
Adjustments related to other increases in operating capital  (21,403,684) 79,113,907
-Decrease (Increase) in other receivables arising from operating activities  5,820,712 1,945,438
-Increase (Decrease) in other payables arising from operating activities  (27,224,396) 77,168,469

Cash flows from operating activities  195,535,303 56,559,250

Tax paid  (22,701,538) (28,487,209)
Other cash proceeds/outflows  82,620 (62,601)

B. CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES  138,077,224 102,501,658

Cash proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment and intangibles  - -
Cash outflows from purchase of property, plant and equipment and intangibles 13, 14 (6,048,275) (433,598)
Cash proceeds from disposal of investment property  122,296,532 108,558,941
Cash outflows from purchase of investment property  (6,459,184) (11,873,296)
Dividends received  - 3,942,073
Other cash entries 3 28,288,151 2,307,538

C. CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES  (239,313,242) (156,859,927)

Cash proceeds arising from borrowings 7 378,328,707 264,137,009
Cash outflow arising from repayments of borrowings 7 (345,933,470) (351,407,233)
Dividends paid  (148,694,742) (30,000,000)
Cash outflows arising from purchasing business’s own
Share and other equity-based derivatives  (55,342,158) 
Interest received  2,734,752 2,991,525
Interest paid 7 (70,406,331) (42,581,228)

Net Decrease in Cash and Cash Equivalents
   Before Currency Translation Differences  71,680,367 (26,348,829)

D. Effects of Currency Translation Differences
     on Cash and Cash Equivalents  (2,294,945) 3,237,203

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents  69,385,422 (23,111,626)

E. Cash and Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of the Year 5 19,451,752 42,563,378

Cash and Cash Equivalents at the End of the Year 5 88,837,174 19,451,752

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

AKİŞ GAYRİMENKUL YATIRIM ORTAKLIĞI A.Ş.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 AND 2016
(Amounts are expressed in Turkish Lira (“TRY”) unless otherwise indicated.)
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NOTE 1 - ORGANISATION AND NATURE OF OPERATIONS

Akiş Gayrimenkul Yatırım Ortaklığı Anonim Şirketi (“Akiş GYO” or “the Company”) was established on 22 November 
2005 with the title of “Akiş Gayrimenkul Yatırımı A.Ş.” in Istanbul/Turkey. The Company’s legal title was changed to “Akiş 
Gayrimenkul Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş.” The mentioned changes in the articles of association has been registered on 18 May 
2012 and published on the Trade Register Gazette on 24 May 2012. The company, included in the Akkök Group, is a 
subsidiary of Akkök Holding A.Ş. which is the dominant partner in the Group.

The Company’s main business activity is to engage in objectives and matters written in the regulations concerning the 
real estate investment trusts of the Capital Markets Board (“CMB”), such as, investment in real estate, real estate based 
capital market instruments, real estate projects, real estate based rights and capital market instruments.

At the meeting of the Board of Directors held on 17 August 2012, it was decided to merge with Ak-Al Gayrimenkul 
Geliştirme ve Tekstil Sanayi A.Ş. (Ak-Al), through takeover, in accordance with the article 136 of the Turkish Commercial 
Code No. 6120 and articles 18,19 and 20 of the Corporate Tax Law, and the merger was to be carried out based on 
the balance sheets of the entities dated 30 June 2012 prepared in accordance with the related arrangements of the 
CMB, and through transfering all assets and liabilities of Ak-Al to Akiş and the merger operation was approved at the 
extraordinary general meeting held on 31 December 2012.

With the Company resolution dated 8 September 2016 and 134th and the following articles of the Turkish Commercial 
Code (TCC) numbered 6102, 18th, 19th and 20th articles of the Corporate Tax Law Taxes No: 5520 and since both 
companies are subject to the Capital Markets Law numbered 6362 (SPK.) and their shares are publicly traded and traded 
in the Borsa İstanbul A.Ş. (Stock Exchange), 23rd and 24th articles of the Capital Market Laws which was published in 
the Official Gazette dated 28 December 2013 and numbered 28865, that has the title of “Merger and separation” (II-
23.2), and the article “Common Principles on Important Qualifications and Separation Articles” (II-23.1) published on 
Capital Markets Board’s (CMB’s) Official Gazette dated 24 December 2013 and numbered 28861, and in accordance 
other relevant legislative provisions; it has been decided to merge with Saf Gayrimenkul Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş. (“Saf 
GYO”) within Akiş GYO, including assets and liabilities, as of the balance sheet date 30 June 2016, of Saf GYO to be taken 
over by Akiş GYO as a whole, within the context of the Extraordinary General Assembly held on 28 December 2016.

The Company is registered in İstanbul Trade Registry Office in Turkey, and the registered address is:

Acıbadem Mahallesi Çeçen Sokak No: 25, 34660 Akasya AVM, Acıbadem / Üsküdar - İstanbul.

Akiş, together with its subsidiaries and joint ventures, is referred to as “the Group”. 

The Company’s shareholder structure as of 31 December 2017 is as follows:

  31 December 2017
 Share Rate  (%) Share Amount

Ali Raif Dinçkök   24.19 104,022,994
Akiş Gayrimenkul Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş.   17.39 74,800,803
Akkök Holding A.Ş.   14.66 63,065,858
Nilüfer Dinçkök Çiftçi   7.44 32,005,908
Emniyet Ticaret A.Ş.   7.48 32,185,417
Other, publicly traded   Shared included (*)   28.84 124,010,870
Total paid capital (**)   100.00 430,091,850

(*)  As of 31 December 2016, 26.75% of Akiş’s shares are traded on Borsa İstanbul A.Ş. (“BIST”).
(**)   The increase in the paid-in capital compared to 31 December 2016 is explanied in note 3.
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The Company’s shareholder structure as of 31 December 2016 is as follows:

  31 December 2017
 Share Rate  (%) Share Amount

Akkök Holding A.Ş.   31.53 63,065,858
Ali Raif Dinçkök   20.45 40,910,344
Nilüfer Dinçkök Çiftçi   12.87 25,741,469
Raif Ali Dinçkök   6.22 12,430,497
Other, publicly traded   Shared included   28.93 57,851,833
Total paid capital   100.00 200,000,000

As of 31 December 2017 and 2016, the share groups representing the issued capital consist of group A with 19,422,649 
shares equivalent to TRY 19,422,649 while the rest of shares represent group B. The group A are registered shares, 
and group B are shares to bearer. Transfer of registered shares can’t be restricted. Group A shares have the privilige of 
nominating canditates for the election of Board members. Five members of the Board of Directors are elected by the 
General Assembly among the candidates nominated by the majority vote of group A shareholders.

As of 31 December 2017, the registered share capital of the Company is TRY 500,000,000  (31 December 2016: TRY 
500,000,000). As of 31 December 2017, the paid-in capital of the Company is TRY 430,091,850 and consists of 430,091,850 
shares with a nominal value of TRY 1 per each (31 December 2016: TRY 200,000,000 consisting of 200,000,000 shares 
with a nominal value of TRY 1 per each).

As of 31 December 2017, number of employees of the Group is 338 (31 December 2016: 75).

Subsidiaries

Akiş GYO’s subsidiaries are operating in Turkey and Bulgaria and the nature of their business is as follows:

Subsidiaries Nature of business

Aksu Real Estate E.A.D. (“Aksu Real Estate”) Real estate investment
Karlıtepe Gayrimenkul Geliştirme ve Yatırım A.Ş. (“Karlıtepe”) Real estate investment
Akyaşam Yönetim Hizmetleri A.Ş. (“Akyaşam”) Shopping mall and office management
Akasya Çocuk Dünyası A.Ş. (“Akasya Çocuk”) Children entertainment industry

 31 December 2017 31 December 2016
 Direct and Effective Direct and Effective
 ndirect ownership ndirect ownership
 ownership rate  (%) rate(%) ownership rate  (%) rate(%)

Ak Yön (*) - - 100.00 99.99
Aksu Real Estate 100.00 100.00 100.00 100.00
Karlıtepe (*) 100.00 100.00 100.00 100.00
Akyaşam 100.00 100.00 - -
Akasya Çocuk 100.00 100.00 - -
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(*)  Ak Yön Yönetim ve Bakım Hizmetleri A.Ş. (“Ak Yön”) was established in İstanbul and registered on 12 August 2011. 
The main operational activity of the Company is to procure the correct usage of real estate residences, modern 
accommodation units, shopping malls, trade and business centers; hotels, social facilities, building of cinema, theatre, 
hospital and nursing home, to take the necessary actions for the protection, to provide maintenance, repair, surveillance 
and inspection services for real estate and to provide all kinds of support and management services.

In accordance with the articles 115/1-b, 156 and other relevant articles of Turkish Commercial Code (TCC), and legislative 
provisions of article 18, 19, 20 and other relevant legislative provisions of Corporate Tax Law, merger of Akyaşam and Ak 
Yön, including assets and liabilities to be taken over completely and by the means of liquidation and simplified merger 
under Akyaşam legal entity has been registered to İstanbul Register of Commerce on 3 October 2017.

Akyaşam

Akyaşam Yönetim Hizmetleri A.Ş. was established on 6 January 2014 with the aim of management of shopping malls and 
offices. Akiş GYO owns 100% of share capital 

Aksu Real Estate

Aksu Textiles E.A.D was established in Bulgaria on 18 December 2000 and its main business activity is the production 
of all kinds of textiles and clothing, importation and exportation. Aksu Textiles E.A.D whose all capital belongs to Ak-Al 
became a subsidiary of Akiş GYO with the merger registered on 4 January 2013

With the Board of Directors’ decision dated 16 August 2013, the title of Aksu Textile EAD was decided to be changed to 
Aksu Real Estate EAD. With the change of title, the operational activity of the Company was also changed as to perform 
real estate investment activities both locally and abroad.

Karlıtepe 

Karlıtepe Gayrimenkul Geliştirme ve Yatırım A.Ş. was registered on 12 May 2015 and established in İstanbul, and its 
main operating activities are: purchasing land or miscellaneous real estate in its own name, leasing, dividing up into 
plots, amalgamate, selling in sections, creating or having reconstruction plan created, acquisition of maps/projects and 
to make constructions at related land, providing architecture, engineering, technical consultancy and operating services 
for any kind of building, office, facility, landscape and environmental design and involving commercial activities in this 
context. On 28 May 2015, it became Akiş GYO’s subsidiary. Karlıtepe was purchased in scope of business development 
process of Beykoz lands.

Akasya Çocuk Dünyası

Akasya Çocuk Dünyası A.Ş. provides children, inside Akasya shopping mall, with the opportunity to play in different roles 
in the thematic park scaled according to their own interior. The Company was acquired on 3 February 2016 by Akyaşam 
Yönetim Hizmetleri A.Ş.

Joint operations

Joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to 
the assets, and obligations for the liabilities, relating to the arrangement. A participant of a joint operation is evaluated 
according to the owned asset, obligation, revenue and cost. Assets, liabilities, equity items, income and expenses and 
cash flows of the joint operations are consolidated on proportionate basis, the transactions and unrealized profit/losses 
with the joint operations are eliminated from the financial statements. 
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The joint ventures of Akiş GYO are operating in Turkey and the nature of their business is as follows:

Joint Venture Nature of Business Entrepreneur Partner

Akiş-Mudanya Ordinary Partnership   Real Estate Investments             Mudanya Gayrimenkul 
                  Geliştirme ve Yatırım A.Ş.

 31 December 2017 31 December 2016
 Direct and Effective Direct and Effective
 indirect ownership indirect ownership
 ownership rate  (%) rate (%) ownership rate  (%) rate (%)

Akiş - Mudanya 
   Ordinary Partnership 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00

Akiş-Mudanya Ordinary Partnership

Ordinary Partnership has been established on 28 May 2015 with the contract of project partnership signed by Akiş GYO 
and Mudanya Gayrimenkul Geliştirme ve Yatırım A.Ş. Akiş’s share in partnership is 50%. The purpose of the project 
partnership is the execution of rights and obligations due to the construction in return for flat agreements on project 
development in İstanbul, Beykoz district, Gümüşsuyu neighborhood.

Approval of Financial Statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended at 31 December 2017 has been approved by the Board of 
Directors on 16 February 2018.

Accounting policies used for the preparation of consolidated financial statements are presented below. Unless otherwise 
indicated, these accounting policies are applied to all the periods presented.

NOTE 2 - BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.1 Basis of Preperation

2.1.1 Satement of Complience

The consolidated financial statements of group have been prepared in accordance with communique No: II, 14.1 
“Communique on Financial Reporting Standarts in Capital Markets” (“Comminuqeu”) promulgated by CMB, which 
is published at 13 June 2013 in the official Gazette numbered 28676 and in accordance with the Turkish Accounting 
Standarts (“TAS”), issued by the Public Oversight Accounting and Auditing Standarts Authority (“POA”). TAS; Turkish 
Accounting Standarts is composed of Turkish Financial Reporting Standarts with related additions and interpretations. 
TAS/TFRS is updated via comminiques in order to be parellel to changes in the International Financial Reporting Standarts 
(IFRS).

The consolidated financial statements and disclosures have been prepared in accordance with the resolution of CMB 
dated 7 June 2013 about the “illustrations of financial statements and application guidance”

Preparation of Financial Statements in Hyperinflationary Economies

In accordiance with the communique issued by CMB, for companies that operate in Turkey and prepare their financial 
statements applying Turkish Accounting Standards, it is decided not to apply inflation accounting from 1 January 2005 
which is published on 17 March 2005 numbered 11/367. Accordingly, as of 1 January 2005 No:29 “ Financial reporting 
in Hyperinflationary Economies” (“TAS 29”) was not applied. 
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Presentation and functionla currency

The reporting currency of the Group is Turkish Lira (TRY) and all financial information are expressed in TRY unless 
otherwise is indicated. The financial information expressed in the currencies other TRY is full unless otherwise indicated.

Ofsetting

Financial assets and liabilities are clearly shown in cases, necessary legal rights, intention to clearly evaluate related 
assets and liabilities, or obtaining assets and fulfilment of obligations occurring simultaneously.

Going Concern

The Group’s consolidated financial statements are prepared under the going concern approach.

Periodicity of Activities

There is not any effect on the financial performance of the Group for the 12 months period that ends as of 31 December 
2017 that is related to periodicity of activities.

2.2 Amendments in accounting policies

2.2.1 The new standards, amendments and interpretations

The accounting policies adopted in preparation of the consolidated financial statements as at December 31, 2017 are 
consistent with those of the previous financial year, except for the adoption of new and amended TFRS and TFRIC 
interpretations effective as of January 1, 2017. The effects of these standards and interpretations on the Group’s financial 
position and performance have been disclosed in the related paragraphs.

i) The new standards, amendments and interpretations which are effective as at January 1, 2017 are as follows:

TAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows (Amendments)
In December 2017, POA issued amendments to TAS 7 ‘Statement of Cash Flows’. The amendments are intended to 
clarify TAS 7 to improve information provided to users of financial statements about an entity’s financing activities. 
The improvements to disclosures require companies to provide information about changes in their financing liabilities. 
These amendments are to be applied for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2017 with earlier application 
permitted. When the Group first applies those amendments, it is not required to provide comparative information for 
preceding periods. The Group disclosed additional information in its annual consolidated financial statements for the 
year ended 31 December 2017. 

TAS 12 Income Taxes: Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses (Amendments)
In December 2017, POA issued amendments to TAS 12 Income Taxes. The amendments clarify how to account for 
deferred tax assets related to debt instruments measured at fair value. The amendments clarify the requirements on 
recognition of deferred tax assets for unrealised losses, to address diversity in practice. These amendments are to be 
retrospectively applied for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2017 with earlier application permitted. 
However, on initial application of the amendment, the change in the opening equity of the earliest comparative period 
may be recognised in opening retained earnings (or in another component of equity, as appropriate), without allocating 
the change between opening retained earnings and other components of equity. If the Group applies this relief, it shall 
disclose that fact. The amendments are not applicable for the the Group and will not have an impact on the financial 
position or performance of the the Group.
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Annual Improvements to TFRSs - 2014-2016 Cycle
In December 2017, POA issued Annual Improvements to TFRS Standards 2014-2016 Cycle, amending the following 
standards:

- TFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities: This amendment clarifies that an entity is not required to disclose 
summarised financial information for interests in subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures that is classified, or included 
in a disposal group that is classified, as held for sale in accordance with TFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and 
Discontinued Operations. These amendments are to be applied for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017. 

The Group is in the process of assessing the impact of the amendments on financial position or performance of the 
Group.  

ii) Standards issued but not yet effective and not early adopted

Standards, interpretations and amendments to existing standards that are issued but not yet effective up to the date 
of issuance of the consolidated financial statements are as follows. The Group will make the necessary changes if not 
indicated otherwise, which will be affecting the consolidated financial statements and disclosures, when the new 
standards and interpretations become effective.

TFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
In September 2016, POA issued TFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers. The new standard issued includes 
the clarifying amendments to IFRS 15 made by IASB in April 2016. The new five-step model in the standard provides 
the recognition and measurement requirements of revenue. The standard applies to revenue from contracts with 
customers and provides a model for the sale of some non-financial assets that are not an output of the entity’s ordinary 
activities (e.g., the sale of property, plant and equipment or intangibles). TFRS 15 effective date is January 1, 2018, with 
early adoption permitted. Entities will transition to the new standard following either a full retrospective approach 
or a modified retrospective approach. The modified retrospective approach would allow the standard to be applied 
beginning with the current period, with no restatement of the comparative periods, but additional disclosures are 
required. The amendment is not expected to have a significant impact on the financial position or performance of the 
the Group.

TFRS 9 Financial Instruments
In January 2017, POA issued the final version of TFRS 9 Financial Instruments. The final version of TFRS 9 brings together 
all three aspects of the accounting for financial instruments project: classification and measurement, impairment and 
hedge accounting. TFRS 9 is built on a logical, single classification and measurement approach for financial assets that 
reflects the business model in which they are managed and their cash flow characteristics. Built upon this is a forward-
looking expected credit loss model that will result in more timely recognition of loan losses and is a single model that 
is applicable to all financial instruments subject to impairment accounting. In addition, TFRS 9 addresses the so-called 
‘own credit’ issue, whereby banks and others book gains through profit or loss as a result of the value of their own debt 
falling due to a decrease in credit worthiness when they have elected to measure that debt at fair value. The Standard 
also includes an improved hedge accounting model to better link the economics of risk management with its accounting 
treatment. TFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, with early application permitted 
by applying all requirements of the standard. Alternatively, entities may elect to early apply only the requirements for 
the presentation of gains and losses on financial liabilities designated as FVTPL without applying the other requirements 
in the standard. The amendment is not expected to have a significant impact on the financial position or performance 
of the the Group.

TFRS 4 Insurance Contracts (Amendments)
In December 2017, POA issued amendments to TFRS 4 Insurance Contracts. The amendments introduce two approaches: 
an overlay approach and a deferral approach. These amendments are to be applied for annual periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2018. Earlier application is permitted. The standard is not applicable for the Group and will not have an 
impact on the financial position or performance of the Group.
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TFRIC 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration
The interpretation issued by POA on December 2017 clarifies the accounting for transactions that include the receipt or 
payment of advance consideration in a foreign currency.

The Interpretation states that the date of the transaction for the purpose of determining the exchange rate to use on 
initial recognition of the related asset, expense or income is the date on which an entity initially recognises the non-
monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising from the payment or receipt of advance consideration. An entity is not 
required to apply this Interpretation to income taxes; or insurance contracts (including reinsurance contracts) it issues 
or reinsurance contracts that it holds.

The interpretation is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. Earlier application is 
permitted. The interpretation is not applicable for the Group and will not have an impact on the financial position or 
performance of the Group.

TFRS 2 Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment Transactions (Amendments)
In December 2017, POA issued amendments to TFRS 2 Share-based Payment, clarifying how to account for certain types 
of share-based payment transactions. The amendments, provide requirements on the accounting for: 
a. the effects of vesting and non-vesting conditions on the measurement of cash-settled share-based payments;
b. share-based payment transactions with a net settlement feature for withholding tax obligations; and 
c. a modification to the terms and conditions of a share-based payment that changes the classification of the transaction 
from cash-settled to equity-settled. 

These amendments are to be applied for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. Earlier application is 
permitted. The amendments are not applicable for the Group and will not have an impact on the financial position or 
performance of the Group.

Amendments to TAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures (Amendments)
In December 2017, POA issued amendments to TAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures. The amendments 
clarify that a company applies TFRS 9 Financial Instruments to long-term interests in an associate or joint venture that 
form part of the net investment in the associate or joint venture.

TFRS 9 Financial Instruments excludes interests in associates and joint ventures accounted for in accordance with TAS 28 
Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures. In this amendment, POA clarified that the exclusion in TFRS 9 applies only 
to interests a company accounts for using the equity method. A company applies TFRS 9 to other interests in associates 
and joint ventures, including long-term interests to which the equity method is not applied and that, in substance, form 
part of the net investment in those associates and joint ventures.

The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019, with early application permitted.

The Group is in the process of assessing the impact of the amendments on financial position or performance of the 
Group.

TAS 40 Investment Property: Transfers of Investment Property (Amendments)
In December 2017, POA issued amendments to TAS 40 ‘Investment Property ‘. The amendments state that a change in 
use occurs when the property meets, or ceases to meet, the definition of investment property and there is evidence of 
the change in use. These amendments are to be applied for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. Earlier 
application is permitted. The Group is in the process of assessing the impact of the amendments on financial position 
or performance of the Group.
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TFRS 10 and TAS 28: Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture (Amendments)
In December 2017, POA postponed the effective date of this amendment indefinitely pending the outcome of its 
research project on the equity method of accounting. Early application of the amendments is still permitted

Annual Improvements to TFRSs - 2014-2016 Cycle
In December 2017, POA issued Annual Improvements to TFRS Standards 2014-2016 Cycle, amending the following 
standards:

- TFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards: This amendment deletes the short-
term exemptions about some TFRS 7 disclosures, IAS 19 transition provisions and IFRS 10 Investment Entities. These 
amendments are to be applied for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. 

- TAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures: This amendment clarifies that the election to measure an 
investment in an associate or a joint venture held by, or indirectly through, a venture capital organisation or other 
qualifying entity at fair value through profit or loss applying TFRS 9 Financial Instruments is available for each associate 
or joint venture, at the initial recognition of the associate or joint venture. These amendments are to be applied for 
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. Earlier application is permitted.

The Group is in the process of assessing the impact of the amendments on financial position or performance of the 
Group.

iii) The new standards, amendments and interpretations that are issued by the International Accounting Standards 
Board (IASB) but not issued by Public Oversight Authority (POA)

The following standards, interpretations and amendments to existing IFRS standards are issued by the IASB but not 
yet effective up to the date of issuance of the financial statements. However, these standards, interpretations and 
amendments to existing IFRS standards are not yet adapted/issued by the POA, thus they do not constitute part of 
TFRS. The Group will make the necessary changes to its consolidated financial statements after the new standards and 
interpretations are issued and become effective under TFRS.

Annual Improvements - 2010-2012 Cycle

IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement
As clarified in the Basis for Conclusions short-term receivables and payables with no stated interest rates can be held at 
invoice amounts when the effect of discounting is immaterial. The amendment is effective immediately.

Annual Improvements - 2011-2013 Cycle

IFRS 16 Leases
The IASB has published a new standard, IFRS 16 ‘Leases’. The new standard brings most leases on-balance sheet for 
lessees under a single model, eliminating the distinction between operating and finance leases. Lessor accounting 
however remains largely unchanged and the distinction between operating and finance leases is retained. IFRS 16 
supersedes IAS 17 ‘Leases’ and related interpretations and is effective for periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019, 
with earlier adoption permitted if IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’ has also been applied. The Group is 
in the process of assessing the impact of the standard on financial position or performance of the Group.

IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments
The interpretation clarifies how to apply the recognition and measurement requirements in “IAS 12 Income Taxes” when 
there is uncertainty over income tax treatments. 
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When there is uncertainty over income tax treatments, the interpretation addresses:

(a) whether an entity considers uncertain tax treatments separately;
(b) the assumptions an entity makes about the examination of tax treatments by taxation authorities;
(c) how an entity determines taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, unused tax losses, unused tax credits and tax rates; and
(d) how an entity considers changes in facts and circumstances.

An entity shall apply this Interpretation for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. Earlier 
application is permitted. If an entity applies this Interpretation for an earlier period, it shall disclose that fact. On initial 
application, an entity shall apply the interpretation either retrospectively applying IAS 8, or  retrospectively with the 
cumulative effect of initially applying the Interpretation recognised at the date of initial application. 

The Group is in the process of assessing the impact of the interpretation on financial position or performance of the 
Group.

IFRS 17 - The new Standard for insurance contracts
The IASB issued IFRS 17, a comprehensive new accounting standard for insurance contracts covering recognition and 
measurement, presentation and disclosure. IFRS 17 model combines a current balance sheet measurement of insurance 
contract liabilities with the recognition of profit over the period that services are provided. IFRS 17 will become effective 
for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021; early application is permitted. The standard is not 
applicable for the Group and will not have an impact on the financial position or performance of the Group.

Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation (Amendments to IFRS 9)
In October 2017, the IASB issued minor amendments to IFRS 9 Financial Instruments to enable companies to measure 
some prepayable financial assets at amortised cost. 

Applying IFRS 9, a company would measure a financial asset with so-called negative compensation at fair value through 
profit or loss. Applying the amendments, if a specific condition is met, entities will be able to measure at amortised cost 
some prepayable financial assets with so-called negative compensation.

The amendments are effective from annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019, with early application 
permitted.

The Group expects no significant impact on its balance sheet and equity.

Annual Improvements - 2015-2017 Cycle
In December 2017, the IASB announced Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2015-2017 Cycle, containing the 
following amendments to IFRSs:
• IFRS 3 Business Combinations and IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements - The amendments to IFRS 3 clarify that when an entity 
obtains control of a business that is a joint operation, it remeasures previously held interests in that business. The 
amendments to IFRS 11 clarify that when an entity obtains joint control of a business that is a joint operation, the entity 
does not remeasure previously held interests in that business.
• IAS 12 Income Taxes - The amendments clarify that all income tax consequences of dividends (i.e. distribution of 
profits) should be recognised in profit or loss, regardless of how the tax arises.
• IAS 23 Borrowing Costs - The amendments clarify that if any specific borrowing remains outstanding after the related 
asset is ready for its intended use or sale, that borrowing becomes part of the funds that an entity borrows generally 
when calculating the capitalisation rate on general borrowings.

The Group expects no significant impact on its balance sheet and equity.
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2.3. Comparative figures and the restatement to the financial statements of the prior period

The consolidated financial statements of the Group include comparative financial information to enable the 
determination of the financial position and performance. In order to comply with the presentation of consolidated 
financial statements the current period when deemed necessary, comparative information is reclassified, and material 
differences are presented.

As of 31 December 2017, consolidated financial statements are provided comparative with previous period.  

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

2.4.1. Basis of Consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the parent company, Akiş GYO and its subsidiaries on 
the basis set out in sections below. The financial statements of the subsidiaries which are included in the scope of 
consolidation have been prepared as of the date of the consolidated financial statements and the required adjustments 
and reclassifications have been made in accordance with CMB Financial Reporting Standards and applying uniform 
accounting policies and presentation.

Subsidiaries

Control is achieved by having control over financial and operational policies in order to benefit from an operator’s 
activities.

Subsidiaries are companies that either (a) are directly or indirectly entitled to exercise more than 50% of the voting 
rights relating to the shares in the company as a result of their own voting rights, or (b) refers to companies that have 
the power and power to control their financial and operating policies in the interests of the Company by using the actual 
dominance effect on the financial and operating policies, without having the authority to use more than 50%.

The existence of potential convertible or usable potential voting rights is also taken into account when evaluating 
whether the Group controls another company.

Subsidiaries subject to consolidation, their voting rights and effective ownership interests at 31 December 2017 and 
2016 are shown in Note 1.

Subsidiaries have started to be consigned to the controlling Group since the date of the control, and the process of 
consoling is ended with the removal from the controlling Group. The accounting policies applied for the Subsidiaries are 
changed to ensure consistency with the accounting policies applied by the Group.

The results of subsidiaries purchased or disposed of during the period are included in the comprehensive income 
statement after the date of purchase or on the date of exclusion.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries and profit or loss and other comprehensive income statements are 
consolidated using the full consolidation method and the carrying value of the shares held by the Company and its 
subsidiaries is offset against the related equity. Intra-group transactions and balances between the Company and 
its subsidiaries are eliminated during consolidation. The carrying value of the shares held by the Company and the 
dividends arising therefrom have been netted from the related equity and comprehensive income statement accounts.

Minority interests in the net assets of subsidiaries in the Consolidated Subsidiary are separately stated in the equity 
of the Group. Minority interests consist of the shares in the initial business combinations and minority interests in the 
changes in equity since the date of the combination. The accumulated loss on a non-consolidated basis of a consolidated 
subsidiary may exceed the amount of the non-parent equity on that subsidiary. In this case, the cumulative loss and the 
subsequent current year losses to be deducted from the minority interest are attributable to minority interests. 
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2.4.2 Joint Agreements

Joint operations

The Group applies TFRS 11, “Joint Agreements” standard for its all joint agreements. In accordance with IFRS 11, 
investments in joint ventures are classified as joint ventures or joint ventures, depending on the investor’s rights 
and obligations to the contract. The Group has assessed the project partnership agreements detailed in Note 1 and 
determined that it is a joint venture. Project partnerships subject to joint operations are accounted by proportional 
consolidation method.

Joint operations have been included in the scope since the date that the rights and obligations in the contract were 
transferred to the Company and were excluded from the scope at the date of completion of joint operation. Where 
necessary, adjustments have been made to accounting policies in the financial statements of the project partnerships in 
the scope of joint operations so as to be consistent with the accounting policies followed by the Group.

The financial statements of the joint ventures and the profit or loss tables are included in the financial statements of the 
Group using proportional consolidation method and the carrying values of the shares in which the project partnerships 
are held are offset against the related equity. Transactions and balances between the Group and the project partnerships 
in the scope of the joint operations are proportionately offset during the acquisition of the financial statements. The 
carrying values of the shares held by the Group and the dividends arising therefrom are eliminated from the related 
equity and comprehensive income statement.

2.4.3 Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are considered as a combination of separate entities or businesses reporting on a single entity. 
Business combinations are accounted for in accordance with TFRS 3, using method of acquisition. The fact that an entity 
obtains control of one or more non-business operating entities and the combination of these entities is not considered 
a business combination. If the entity obtains a group of assets or net assets, these transactions are also not included 
within the scope of business combinations.

The cost of the purchase of an operating entity is allocated to the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent 
liabilities at the date of acquisition of the acquiree. The difference between the cost of the acquisition and the fair 
value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities is accounted for in the Consolidated 
Financial Statements as goodwill. Not included in the financial statements of the acquiree in the business combinations; 
however, assets, intangible assets and contingent liabilities that can be separated within the goodwill are reflected to 
the financial statements with their fair values. Goodwill amounts included in the financial statements of the acquiree 
are not recognized as identifiable assets.

If the acquirer’s share of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired exceeds the cost of the 
business combination, the difference is recognized in profit or loss. The minority interest of the acquiree for each 
acquisition is accounted for at the proportionate share of the net assets of the acquired company.  

The Group allocates the difference between the cost of each identifiable asset and liability and the fair value at the 
acquisition date for unobservable acquisitions within the business combinations. No such goodwill arises from such 
transactions.

The Group allocates the difference between the cost of each identifiable asset and liability and the fair value at the 
acquisition date for unobservable acquisitions within the business combinations. No such goodwill arises from such 
transactions. Goodwill is reviewed annually for impairment and carried in the balance sheet at fair value after deducting 
the accumulated impairment loss from cost value. Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for impairment testing. 
Distribution is made to the cash-generating units or groups of cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from 
the business combination generating the goodwill. The Group performs goodwill impairment tests on December 31 of 
each year. Provision for impairment on goodwill can not be reversed. Profits and losses arising from the sale of an entity 
include the carrying amount of the goodwill on the entity being sold.
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2.4.4 Segment Reporting

Segment reporting is designed as to supply consistence on reporting to the competent authority on taking decisions 
about the activities of the group. The competent authority is responsible for evaluation of the departments’ performance 
and decision taking related to the resources which are to be allocated according to departments.

2.4.5 Related Parties

For the purpose of the consolidated financial statements, shareholders, key management personnel and board 
members, in each case together with their families and companies controlled by or affiliated with them, associates and 
joint ventures within the scope of TAS 24 - Related Party Disclosures are considered and referred to as related parties.

2.4.6 Effects of Foreign Currency Translations

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into TRY at the exchange rate on the transaction date. Monetary assets 
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into Turkish Lira at the rate of exchange ruling at the 
balance sheet date. Exchange differences arising from such transactions are reflected in the comprehensive income 
statement.

2.4.7 Financial Instruments

Classification

The financial assets of the Group consist of financial assets available for sale, trade and non-trade receivables and cash 
and cash equivalents; the financial liabilities of the Group consist of trade payables and borrowings.

i) Non-derivative financial assets
The Group records its deposits on the date they are created. All other financial assets are recognized at the transaction 
date at which the Group becomes a party to the contractual terms of the related financial instrument. The Group 
derecognizes financial assets when it terminates rights related to the cash flows due to the contract or when the related 
rights are transferred through a purchase and sale account of all risks and rewards related to the financial asset. Any 
rights created or held by financial assets transferred by the Group are recognized as a separate asset or liability.

Derivative financial assets are initially recognized in the statement of financial position by including directly attributable 
transaction costs. Financial assets are valued as described below in the periods subsequent to their acquisition.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss is divided into three subgroups: “Financial assets held for trading”, 
“Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss” and “Derivative financial assets held for trading”.

Trading financial assets are financial assets that are acquired for the purpose of generating profits from short-term 
fluctuations in price or similar factors in the market, or are part of a portfolio for short-term profits, irrespective of the 
reason for the acquisition.

Financial assets held for trading are recognized in the statement of financial position with initial costs plus transaction 
costs after that subsequently measured at fair value. Difference between cost and fair value is recognized in the 
statement of profit/loss.
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Financial assets available for sale

Available-for-sale financial assets consist of financial assets other than trade and other receivables, held-to-maturity 
investments and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

Subsequent valuation of available-for-sale financial assets is carried at fair value. However, if their fair values can not be 
reliably determined, they are valued at the discounted value using internal efficiency rate method for those with fixed 
due date, and valued using fair value pricing models or discounted cash flow techniques for those with non-fixed due 
date. Unrealized gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of available-for-sale financial assets and which 
represent the difference between the amortized cost calculated using the effective interest method and the fair value 
are shown under the “Financial Assets Value Increase Fund” account in the equity items. If available-for-sale financial 
assets are derecognized, the fair value of the equity instruments is recognized in the profit or loss for the period.

Investments held to maturity

Investments held to maturity are the investments, for which there is an intention of holding until maturity and the 
relevant conditions for fulfillment of such intention, including the funding ability, and for which there are fixed or 
determinable payments with fixed maturity; and which are recognized at fair value at initial recognition. Investments 
held to maturity with the initial recognition at fair value including transaction costs are subject to valuation with their 
discounted cost value by using the internal rate of return method less provision for any impairment, if any. 

Interest income from investments held to maturity are recognized in the income statement as an interest income.

There is no financial asset held to maturity of the Group.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are comprised of cash, bank deposits with maturity periods of less than three-months and 
other highly liquid short-term investments which are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to 
an insignificant risk of change in value. The carrying values of these assets are close to their fair values.

ii) Non-derivative financial liabilities

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are recognized at fair value at the date of initial recognition. Financial liabilities are measured at 
amortized cost using the effective interest rate method, after they are recorded at acquisition costs after deducting 
transaction costs.

2.4.8 Offsetting

Financial assets and liabilities are carried at fair value if the legal right to net settlement exists, the net settlement or 
collection is possible or the obligation can be realized simultaneously.

2.4.9 Share premium

Share premium represents the difference as a result of its sale of the stocks of the investments which are evaluated 
through equity method with a higher price than their nominal prices or the stocks of its subsidiaries; or the difference 
between the nominal and net realizable values of the stocks of its acquired companies.
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2.4.10 Paid-in capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new ordinary shares are 
shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

2.4.11 Dividends

Dividend income is recognized in the consolidated financial statements by the Group at the date the right to collect the 
dividend is realized. Dividend payables are recognized as a result of profit distribution in the period they are declared.

2.4.12 Earnings per share

Earnings per share disclosed in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income are determined by dividing net 
income by the weighted average number of shares in existence during the year concerned.

In Turkey, companies can raise their share capital by distributing “bonus shares” to shareholders from retained earnings. 
For the purpose of earnings per share computations, such “bonus share” issuances are regarded as issued shares for 
all periods presented. Accordingly, the weighted average number of shares used in earnings per share computations in 
prior periods is adjusted retroactively for the effects of these shares. 

2.4.13 Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period represent the events that occur against or in favor of the Company between the 
reporting date and the date when reporting was authorized for the issue. There are two types of events after the 
reporting period:

- Those that provide evidence of conditions that existed as at reporting date (adjusting events after the reporting date); 
and

- Those that are indicative of conditions that arose after the reporting date (non-adjusting events after the reporting 
date).

If there is evidence of such events as of reporting date or if such events occur after reporting date and if adjustments 
are necessary, the Company’s financial statements are adjusted according to the new situation. The Company discloses 
events after the reporting period that are not adjusting events but material.

2.4.14 Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets

A provision is recognized in the consolidated financial statements when the Company has a present legal or constructive 
obligation as a result of past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be 
required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made. 

In case of the mentioned criteria unformed, the Company discloses the related situation in the notes.

If the inflow of economic benefits is probable, contingent assets are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. If 
the inflow of the economic benefit is more than likely to occur, such asset and income statement effect are recognized 
in the consolidated financial statements at the relevant period that income change effect occurs.
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2.4.15 Leases

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessee are classified as 
financial leases. The rest of leases other than finance leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as the lessor

The operating rental income is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income.

The group as the lessee

Finance lease

The assets acquired under finance leases is recognized as property; as for that recognized financial lease payable in 
the consolidated financial statements. Finance leases are capitalized at the lease’s commencement at the lower of the 
fair value of the leased property and the present value of the minimum lease payments and financial costs of leasing 
are distributed over the lease period with a fixed rate. The property acquired under finance leases is depreciated in 
accordance with the principles applied for property, plant and equipment.

Liabilities under finance leases, decreased by the payment of principal and interest payments are recorded as expense 
in the statement of comprehensive income.

2.4.16 Taxation

Corporate tax

According to Article 5/1(d) (4) of the Corporate Tax Law No: 5220, the income of Real Estate Investment Trusts (“REIT”) 
is exempt from corporate income tax. This exemption is also applicable to advance corporate tax.

Since the Company is exempt from corporate income tax in conformity with Article 5 of the Corporate Tax Law, deferred 
tax is not recognized.

The Company’s subsidiaries, Akyaşam, Akasya Çocuk Dünyası and Karlıtepe, have corporate tax obligation.

2.4.17 Employee benefits / provision for employee termination benefits

Provision for the employee termination benefits represent the present value of the estimated total reserve of the future 
probable obligation of the Group arising from retirement of its employees calculated in accordance with Turkish Labor 
Law. In conformity with the laws regulating the work life in Turkey and the Turkish Labor Law, the Company is required 
to pay termination benefits to each employee who has completed at least one year of service and whose employment 
is terminated without due cause, is called up for military service, dies or who retires after completing 25 years of service 
(20 years for women) and achieves the retirement age (58 for women and 60 for men).

Since the legislation was changed on 23 May 2002, there are certain transitional provisions relating to length of service 
prior to retirement. The amount payable consists of one month’s salary limited to a maximum of amount of TRY 4,732 
as of 31 December 2017 (31 December 2016: TRY 4,297).
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Provision is related to fair value of defined benefit plan calculated with the method of estimated liability. All actuarial profit 
and losses are accounted under the consolidated comprehensive income statement. TFRS requires actuarial valuation 
methods to be developed to estimate the enterprise’s obligation for such benefits. The liability for this unfunded plan 
recognized in the consolidated financial statements is the full present value of the defined benefit obligation at the end 
of the reporting period, calculated using the projected unit credit method. The present value of the defined benefit 
obligation is determined by discounting the estimated future cash outflows from the retirement of its employees.

The principal actuarial assumption is that the maximum liability will increase in line with inflation. Thus the effective 
discount rate applied represents the expected real interest rate after adjusting for the effects of future inflation.

The provision has been calculated by estimating the present value of the future probable obligation of the Group arising 
from the retirement of employees. TAS 19 “Employee Benefits” requires actuarial valuation methods to be developed to 
estimate the entity’s obligation under defined benefit plans. 

Unused vacation rights

Liabilities for unused vacation rights are accrued in the relevant period.

2.4.18  Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or net realizable value, Inventories comprise of construction costs of residences 
(completed and in-progress) and the cost of land used for these residence projects, Land held for future development of 
real estate are also classified as inventory. Cost elements included in inventory are purchase costs, conversion costs and 
other costs necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use. Unit costs of the inventories are valued at the lower of 
cost or net realizable value. Borrowing costs attributable to qualifying assets are capitalized. Lands which are currently 
used for real estate construction are evaluated in inventory. The inventories which are not estimated to be sold within a 
year as of the balance sheet date are classified under non-current assets. 

2.4.19 Trade receivables and payables

Trade receivables which arise from providing with a product or service to a buyer by the Group are recognized net 
of unaccrued financing income. Trade receivables of the Group are initially recognized at fair value and subsequently 
carried at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. Short term receivables with no stated interest rate are 
measured at original invoice amount unless the effect of imputing interest is significant.

An impairment provision for trade receivables is established if there is objective evidence that the Group will not be 
able to collect all amounts due in accordance with the original agreement terms. The amount of the provision is the 
difference between the carrying amount and the recoverable amount. Recoverable amount is the present value of all 
cash flows, including amounts recoverable from guarantees and collateral, discounted based on the original effective 
interest rate of the originated receivables. 

If the amount of the impairment subsequently decreases due to an event occurring after the write-down, the release of 
the provision is reversed through other operating income.

Trade payables consist of payables to suppliers for purchases of goods and services. Trade payables and other financial 
liabilities are presented as net of unaccrued financial expenses. Payable amounts in the subsequent period of recorded 
payables from original invoice values of trade payables and other liabilities after unaccrued financial liabilities are 
calculated with discounted based on the original effective interest rate. Short-term liabilities with undetermined interest 
rate are presented with their cost values, in case of the effect of the original effective interest rate is immaterial.
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2.4.20 Advances

Advances received consist of amounts received from customers who entered into preliminary sales contracts with the 
Group for its real estate projects and are classified as short-term and long-term considering the expected delivery date of 
residences. The advances received for other operational activities are classified as short-term and long-term according 
to nature and duration of advances. Advances are not subject to discount.

2.4.21 Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying 
assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, 
are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. 
Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying 
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalization. 

All other borrowing costs are recognized in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

2.4.22  Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and provision for impairment, if 
any. Any directly attributable costs of setting the asset in working order for its intended use are included in the initial 
measurement.

Depreciation is calculated over of the cost of property, plant and equipment using the straight-line method based on 
expected useful lives.

Estimated useful lives of property, plants and equipment is as follow;

Tangible assets Expected useful life (year)

Buildings 50
Land improvements 3-25
Plant, machinery and equipment 5-15
Furniture and fixtures 3-10
Leasehold improvements 5

Subsequent costs incurred for property, plant and equipment for increasing the future benefits from the asset by 
enhancing its capacity are included in the asset’s carrying amount and are amortized for its remaining economic life. 
The costs except from those are recognized as expense.

Where the carrying amount of an asset is greater than its estimated recoverable amount, it is written down to its 
recoverable amount and the provision for impairment is charged to expense accounts.

Gains and losses on the disposal of property, plant and equipment are determined by deducting the net book value of 
the property and equipment from its sales and are included in the related income and expense accounts, as appropriate.
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2.4.23  Intangible assets

Intangible assets include licenses, computer software and other rights. They are recorded at acquisition cost and from 
the date of acquisition over the estimated useful lives of 5 years are amortized using the straight-line method.

Estimated useful life and amortization method are reviewed at the end of each annual reporting period where necessary 
any changes in the estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.

2.4.24  Impairment on assets

Financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or 
group of financial assets is impaired. The existence of the mentioned objective evidence, the Group determines the 
amount of the related impairment.

A financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired and impairment losses are incurred only if there is objective 
evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (a ‘loss 
event’) and that loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or group 
of financial assets that can be reliably estimated. The highly probably losses resulting from events which will occur in 
the future is not recognized.

Non-financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence that the book value of a 
non-financial asset or group of non-financial assets is impaired. If the existence of the mentioned objective evidence, the 
Group estimates the recoverable amount of related non-current asset in order to determine the amount of impairment. 
In case of the assessment of recoverable amount is not possible, the recoverable amount of the cash generating unit 
relating that asset is calculated.

The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. The value in use is 
reduced the present value by using the discount rate before tax which is affected the projected future cash flows, time 
value of the money and risks in particular to relating non-financial asset.

In case of the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash generating unit) is less than its book value, the book value of 
the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. As a result of that impairment losses are accounted in the statement of 
income.

2.4.25  Revenue recognition

Rent income from investment properties is recognized on the accrual basis. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the 
consideration received or receivable. Revenue is recognized when the amount of revenue can be measured reliably and 
when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the Group. The seasonal 
rent discounts are netted off from rent revenue as incurred.

Revenue is presented net of discounts and sales taxes after elimination of intra-group sales transactions.

Income obtained from the sales of the real estate is accounted in the statement of comprehensive income when all 
significant risks and rewards associated property has been transferred to the buyer.
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2.4.26 Interest income

Interest income is recognized using the effective interest method. When a loan and receivable is impaired, the group 
reduces the carrying amount to its recoverable amount, being the estimated future cash flow discounted at the original 
effective interest rate of the instrument, and continues unwinding the discount as interest income. Interest income on 
impaired loan and receivables is recognized using the original effective interest rate.

2.4.27  Dividend income

Dividend income is recognized when the right to receive payment is established.

2.4.28  Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the shareholders of the Company is recognized as a liability in the Group’s financial statements 
in the period in which the dividends are approved by the Company’s shareholders.

2.4.29 Investment properties

Investment properties comprise of operative investment properties and investment properties under construction.

a) Operative investment properties

Property that is held for long-term rental yields or for capital appreciation or both is classified as operative investment 
property. The operative investment properties of the Group comprise of shopping mall, lands and buildings.

An investment property can be accounted as an asset, if and only if, it is probable that economic benefits related to real 
estate would flow to the company and the cost of the investment property would be measured reliably.

Investment properties is measured initially at cost. These cots comprise of the transaction costs and subsequent 
expenditures or services. The borrowing costs related to qualifying assets is also recognized during the construction of 
the asset, the mentioned capitalization continues until the completion of the construction. The Group does not include 
the daily service expenses related to real estate in the book value of the investment property. Those costs are recognizes 
in the profit or loss statement to the extent that they are realized. Daily services costs mainly comprise of the labor and 
consumables however, it may also include the cost of small pieces. These types of expenditures are classified as the 
“maintenance expenses” related with the real estates.

After initial recognition, investment property is carried at fair value. Fair value is based on active market prices, adjusted, 
if necessary, for any difference in the nature, location or condition of the specific asset. If this information is not 
available, the Group uses alternative valuation methods, such as discounted cash flow projections. The Group considers 
the conditions resulted with the difference in the determination of the fair value of the investment properties in order 
to make the most reliable estimation.

Gains and losses resulting from changes in fair values of investment property are recognized in the consolidated statement 
of comprehensive income as incurred. Gains and losses resulting from malfunction or dispose of investment property is 
a difference between cash proceeds from disposal of investment properties and its book value and is accounted as fair 
value gain or loss of investment property as incurred (Note 23).
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b) Investment properties under construction

The purchase transaction costs and constructions costs of investment properties under construction and the related 
subsequent expenditures can be capitalized, if, it is enhancing the economic benefits of the mentioned property. The 
capitalization is starts at the beginning date of the incurred expenditures and the mentioned capitalization continues 
until ready to use of the property. Investment properties under construction that is held for long-term rental yields or 
for capital appreciation or both is classified as investment property and is measured at fair value.

The Group measures the investment property under construction at fair value. Group, investment properties under 
construction for which the fair value cannot be determined reliably, but for which the Group expects that the fair value 
of the property will be reliably determinable when construction is completed, are measured at cost less impairment 
until the fair value becomes reliably determinable or construction is completed.

In order to evaluate whether the fair value of an investment property under construction can be determined reliably, 
management considers the following factors, among others;

- The stage of completion,
- Comparability of the project in market,
- The level of reliability of cash inflows after completion,
- The development risk specific to the property,
- Past experiences with similar constructions and
- Status of construction permits.

Group transfers its investment properties to inventory or fixed assets if and only if a change occurs in use of the investment 
property. The aforementioned change in use is to start development for the purpose of sale after the development. If 
the Group decides on disposal of the investment properties without any development, until the disposal date, it is 
continued to be classified as investment property. Likewise, if the Group re-develops an existing investment property to 
be used as an investment property in the future, the classification of the property remained as investment properly and 
cannot be reclassified to fixed assets during the course of development.

Transfers to, or from, investment property shall be made when, and only when, there is a change in use, evidenced by:

- Commencement of owner-occupation, for a transfer from investment property to owner-occupied property;
- Commencement of development with a view to sale, for a transfer from investment property to inventories;
- End of owner-occupation, for a transfer from owner-occupied property to investment property; or
- Commencement of an operating lease to another party, for a transfer from inventories to investment property.

For a transfer from inventories to investment property that will be carried at fair value, any difference between the fair 
value of the property at that date and its previous carrying amount shall be recognized in profit or loss.

The treatment of transfers from inventories to investment property that will be carried at fair value is consistent with 
the treatment of sales of inventories.

AKİŞ GAYRİMENKUL YATIRIM ORTAKLIĞI A.Ş.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2017
(Amounts are expressed in Turkish Lira (“TRY”) unless otherwise indicated.)



Annual Report 2017 105

2.5 Control of compliance with the portfolio limitations

As of 31 December 2017, the information stated in Note “Control of Compliance with the Portfolio Limitations” are the 
condensed information which comprised of Serial: II. No: 14.1 “Financial Reporting in Capital Markets” Amendment No: 
16 and prepared in accordance with Capital Markets Board’s Communiqué Serial: III, No: 48.1“Real Estate Investment 
Company” published in the Official Gazette dated 28 May 2013 numbered 28660 and Capital Markets Board’s 
Communiqué Serial: III. No: 48.1 a “Amendment on Real Estate Investment Company” published in the Official Gazette 
dated 23 January 2014 numbered 28891.

The related information which is stated Note 31 may not be consistent with the information given in the consolidated 
financial statements.

2.6 Significant accounting judgement, estimations and assumptions

Preparation of consolidated financial statements requires the usage of estimations and assumptions which may affect 
the reported amounts of assets and liabilities as of the balance sheet date, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities 
and reported amounts of income and expenses during financial period. Although these estimates rely on the best 
knowledge and belief of the management, due to their nature accounting estimates may differ from actual results.

As of 31 December 2017 and 2016, the significant estimates and assumptions stated in the consolidated financial 
statements are as follow;

Fair values of investment properties:

Significant evaluations, estimates and assumptions that are used at the time of determining the fair value of the 
immovables that are classified as investment property in the consolidated financial statements are explained below:

Akbatı Shopping Mall

The Group develops the Akbatı Project on a land piece of 50,838 m² in total that is classified under investment properties 
as of 31 December 2017 and 2016 and located in Istanbul Province, Esenyurt District, Kapadık Neighborhood, Island 383, 
and Parcel 3.The Akbatı Project comprises Akbatı Shopping Mall that has a construction area of 185,032 m² and leasable 
area of 65,496 m².

While determining the fair value of Akbatı Shopping Mall as of 31 December 2017, an expert report numbered 2017/003 
is prepared by Terra Gayrimenkul Değerleme ve Danışmanlık A.Ş. (“Terra”) on 29 December 2017 and the fair value of 
Akbatı Shopping Mall is determined as TRY 912,050,000 related to the expert report via income approach method.

While determining the fair value of Akbatı Shopping Mall as of 31 December 2016, the expert report prepared by Terra 
Gayrimenkul Değerleme ve Danışmanlık A.Ş. (“Terra”) and dated 31 December 2016 with No. 2016/004 was taken into 
account and the related expert report set the fair value of Akbatı Shopping Mall at TRY 893,721,000 via precedend 
comparison method.
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 Discount Annual rent  Capitalization
 Rate increase rate Rate
31 December 2017 %11 %3 %8

Akasya Shopping Mall

The Group’s Akasya Shopping Mall, classified under investment properties as of 31 December 2017, stands on a total 
of 41.357 m² land located in İstanbul Province,Üsküdar District, Bulgurlu Neighbourhood, Island 1083, and Parcel 38. At 
Akasya Project, there is Akasya Shopping Mall with 412.882 m² construction and 88.862 m² leasable area.

While determining the fair value of Akasya Shopping Mall as of 31 December 2017, the expert report prepared by Lotus 
Gayrimenkul Değerleme ve Danışmanlık A.Ş. (“Lotus”) and dated  29 December 2017 with No. 2017/595 was taken into 
account and the related expert report set the fair value of Akasya Shopping Mall at TRY 2,410,000,000 via discounted 
cash flows method.

 Discount Annual rent  Capitalization
 Rate increase rate Rate
31 December 2017 %11 %3 %8

Uşaklıgil

The Group completed Uşaklıgil Project at Istanbul City, Kadiköy District, Bostancı Street, Bağdat Avenue No: 481 located 
on City Block No 3206, Parcel No 14 and 1,437 m2 area with 3,432 m2 rentable area. 

While determining the fair value of Uşaklıgil project as of 31 December 2017, the expert report prepared by Terra 
Gayrimenkul Değerleme ve Danışmanlık A.Ş. (“Terra”) and dated 31 December 2017 with No. 2017/007 was taken into 
account and the related expert report set the fair value of Uşaklığil project at TRY 186,390,000 via market approach 
method. 

While determining the fair value of Uşaklıgil project as of 31 December 2016, the expert report prepared by Terra 
Gayrimenkul Değerleme ve Danışmanlık A.Ş. (“Terra”) and dated 31 December 2016 with No. 2016/006 was taken 
into account and the related expert report set the fair value of Uşaklıgil project at TRY 155,605,000 via cost approach 
method. The fair value calculated using this method was adopted as “developed land value” since the construction of 
the property, as of 31 December 2016, was not completed yet.

Çerkezköy building and lands

The Group’s lands with an area of 134.135 m² located on 29K2D Plot, 956 Island, 22 Parcel in Tekirdağ Province, Çerkezköy 
District, Fevzipaşa Neighbourhood, Çerkezköy Organized Industrial Zone, as of 31 December, were sold on 2 February 
2017 pursuant to the “Arrangement-type Real Estate Sale Promise Contract” signed on 22 November 2016. The fair 
value of the related lands as of 31 December 2016 was determined to be TRY 52,050,419 by considering the sale value 
USD 15,425,546 in the Sale Promise Contract.

Komili Factory

The Group’s investment property with an area of 67.907,47 m² located on G22B14C4B Plot, 177 Island, 15 Parcel in 
Kocaeli Province, Gebze District, Balçık Village was sold to 5M İnşaat Tekstil İthalat İhracat Sanayi Limited Şirketi for USD 
23,728,813.56 + VAT (USD 28,000,000 in total).
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Mecidiyeköy

The Group has 6 bureaus in the province of Istanbul, Şişli, Mecidiyeköy, Şehit Ahmet Sokak, Mecidiyekoy Business Center 
2014, numbered 124-125-126-127-128 and 129 in the parcel number 85.

While determining the fair value of the investment property as of 31 December 2017, the expert report prepared by 
Lotus Gayrimenkul Değerleme ve Danışmanlık A.Ş. (“Lotus”) and dated 29 December 2017 with No. 2017/600 was taken 
into account and the related expert report set the fair value at TRY 3,030,000 via precedend comparison method. 

Social Facility

While determining the fair value of the Group’s Akasya Social Facility located on 73 Plot, 1341 Island, 64 Parcel in 
İstanbul Province, Üsküdar District, Bulgurlu Neighbourhood as of 31 December 2017, the expert report prepared by 
Lotus Gayrimenkul Değerleme ve Danışmanlık A.Ş. (“Lotus”) and dated 29 December 2017 with No. 2017/597 was taken 
into account and the related expert report set the fair value at TRY19,715,000 via precedend comparison method.

Three Independent Units in Üsküdar

While determining the fair value of the the Group’s 3 independent sections in No:22 Gayret building located on 474 
Island, 4 Parcel in İstanbul Province, Üsküdar District, Bulgurlu Neighbourhood, Gayretli Street as of 31 December 2017, 
the expert report prepared by Lotus Gayrimenkul Değerleme ve Danışmanlık A.Ş. (“Lotus”) and dated 29 December 
2017 with No. 2017/598 was taken into account and the related expert report set the fair value at TRY 1,640,000 via 
precedend comparison method.

Building and lands in Bulgaria

The Group owns 22 pieces of land with an area of 110,580 m2 in total that are classified under in investment properties 
as of 31 December 2017 and 2016 located in Bulgaria, Silistre Province, Industrial Zone, 1, 23, 24, 25, 26, 27 and 28 
Island. Regarding the use of land the Group has not made any decision yet and currently holds it in order to increase 
value for capital appreciation.

While determining the fair value of these lands as of 31 December 2017 and 2016, the expert report prepared by Terra 
Gayrimenkul Değerleme ve Danışmanlık A.Ş. (Terra) and dated  31 December 2017 numbered 2017/009 and dated on 
31 December 2016 numbered 2016/008 were taken into consideration and the related expert reports set the total fair 
value of the Bulgaria building and lands as TRY 2,711,000 and TRY 2,216,000 respectively.

NOTE 3 - BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

Considering the synergies that will result from the economic, operational and competitive advantages of the merger of 
Akiş GYO and Saf GYO, which are operating in the same sector, and the opportunities and facilities that the company will 
create for the benefit of all the Capital Markets stakeholders in accordance with the decisions of Board of Directors of 
Saf GYO and Akiş GYO dated September 8, 2016, within the scope of the relevant legislation, Saf GYO has merged in the 
body of Akiş GYO, where all assets and liabilities of Saf GYO stated in the statement of financial position as at June 30, 
2016 has been taken over by Akiş GYO.

Following the receipt of the necessary approvals, it has been resolved at the Extraordinary General Assembly meeting 
of Akiş GYO held on Wednesday, December 28, 2016 that all the assets and liabilities of Saf GYO will be merged by Akiş 
GYO as a whole. The Extraordinary General Assembly meeting was registered on January 18, 2017 and declared in the 
Trade Registry Gazette No. 9248 dated January 24, 2017 of the Commercial Officer.
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The merger transaction was realized on the basis of the balances dated June 30, 2016 prepared in accordance with the 
related regulations of the CMB, based on the specified 46.50% merger rate and 0.32323 conversion ratio stated in the 
Expert Company Report of BDO Denet Bağımsız Denetim Anonim Şirketi dated September 20, 2016; the issued capital 
of Akiş was increased by TRY 230,091,850 to TRY 430,091,850 due to the merger transaction.

In accordance with the 24th article of the Capital Markets Law, which has the title of “Separation Right” and the 9th 
article of the Capital Markets Board’s “Common Principles on Important Qualifications and Separation Articles” (II-23.1) 
the shareholders or their representatives, who have participated in the General Assembly meeting approved by the 
merger transaction of Akiş GYO, and who have used negative votes and operated the dissenting proclamation to the 
meeting minutes, sold their shares to Akiş GYO and used their right to leave the company. All of the 21 shareholders 
used the right to set aside 2,867 used the right to separate on the rights of separation for each share with a per value 
of TL 1; the share with a nominal value of TRY 7,819,159,393 was acquired by Akiş GYO for a total consideration of 
TRY 22,417,530. Shareholders or their representatives who voted negative by participating in the General Assembly 
meeting approved by the said merger of the Saf GYO and the shareholders or representatives operating the opposition 
shareholders for the meeting minutes used the right to set aside the right to leave at a price of TRY 0.8060 for each share 
with a nominal value of TL 1; The share with a nominal value of TRY 207,225,109 has been taken over by Saf GYO for a 
total consideration of TRY 167,023,438.  

The merger transacition has been evaluated in accordance with IFRS 3 requirements and in accordance with the 
standard, the acquisition method accounting is applied and merged balance sheet is prepared.

Until January 18, 2017, the Group has accounted Saf GYO as investments accounted using the equity method.

At the date of merger; assets and liabilities included in the statement of financial position of Saf GYO are included in 
the statement of financial position of Akiş GYO and the adjustments in accordance with IFRS 3 acquisition method 
accounting are made. As of January 18, 2017, an independent valuation company has determined Saf GYO’s net asset 
value based on the merger and the fair value of the Saf GYO weighted by having (net asset value method, market value 
method and methods for analyzing discounted cash flows). The net asset value of the Company based on the merger 
was TL 1,498,786,781 and the fair value was TL 1,272,817,497.

The movement of carrying value of Saf GYO until 18 January 2017 and 31 December 2016 is as below:

 2017 2016

Opening balance  337,113,225 264,875,833

Share of net loss for the period  (9,121,184) 76,801,790
Repurchased shares  (32,924,365) -
Share of other comprehensive income  - (622,325)
Dividend received  - (3,942,073)

Closing balance 295,067,676 337,113,225

Investments accounted using the equity method as of 18 January 2017  295,067,676

The fair value of the Company as of 18 January 2017 
    (Effective ownership rate - 19,71%)  250,903,154

The effect of remeasurement of previously acquired shares of the Company   (44,164,522)
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The fair value of the net assets of Saf GYO on 18 January 2017 is as follows:  
 
 Book value Difference of revaluation Adjusted net assets 

Current assets 115,192,857 6,690,589 121,883,446
   
Cash and cash equivalents 28,288,151 - 28,288,151
Trade receivables 37,615,068 - 37,615,068
Other receivables 10,590,702 - 10,590,702
Inventories 5,334,411 6,690,589 12,025,000
Prepaid expenses 5,501,250 - 5,501,250
Current income tax assets 112,084 - 112,084
Other current assets 27,751,191 - 27,751,191
   
Other non-current assets 2,328,320,903 9,727,652 2,338,048,555
 1,892,579 - 1,892,579
Available for sale financial assets 4,014,131 - 4,014,131
Trade receivables 1,478,798 - 1,478,798
Other receivables 2,266,300,211 - 2,266,300,211
Investment properties 18,853,569 9,727,652 28,581,221
Property, plant and equipment 6,113,888 - 6,113,888
Intangible assets 54,915 - 54,915
Deferred tax assets 29,612,812 - 29,612,812
Other non-current assets   
 2,443,513,760 16,418,241 2,459,932,001
Total assets   
 211,001,280 - 211,001,280
Short term liabilities 182,883,722 - 182,883,722
 28,117,558 - 28,117,558
Short term borrowings   
Other short term liabilities 750,143,940 - 750,143,940
 736,371,122 - 736,371,122
Long term liabilities 12,882,159 - 12,882,159
 890,659 - 890,659
Long term borrowings   
Deferred income 961,145,220 - 961,145,220
   
Net asset value based on merger 1,482,368,540 16,418,241 1,498,786,781

The reconciliation of the gain on merger transaction is as follows:

Net asset value based on merger               1,498,786,781
Fair value of the Company            1,272,817,497

Gain on merger transaction               225,969,284
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The details of “Other Income from Associates, Joint Ventures and Subsidiaries” included in the condensed 
consolidated statement of profit or loss for the period ended 31 December 2017 are as follows:

 1 January - 31 December 2017

Other Income from Associates,
   Joint Ventures and Subsidiaries 

Gain on merger transactions 225,969,284
The effect of remeasurement of previously 
   acquired shares to the fair value (44,164,522)
 
 181,804,762

Movement of investments valued by equity method as of 31 December 2016 are as follows:

 31 December 2016

Opening Balance, 1 January  264,875,833

Share of net loss for the period   6,393,478
Other share in expense  (622,325)
Dividends (*)  (3,942,073)

Ending Balance, 31 December  266,704,913

(*) Group, in accordance with ordinary general meeting dated 28 March 2016 and in relation to the year 2015, has 
taken divident amounting to TRY 3,942,073 which is 19.17% of TRY 20,000,000 equity share belongs to Akiş GYO.
  
 1 January -31 December 2016

Revenue  200,590,874
Gross profit  164,858,744
Operating profit  560,167,133
Profit before tax  390,090,168
Profit after tax  389,917,387
Profit for the year attributable to parent compnay  389,917,387

The Group’s share on Saf GYO’s profit (19.71%)  76,852,717

NOTE 4 - SEGMENT REPORTING

The Group’s operating segments are determined based on strategic decisions reports reviewed by the Board of Directors.

The Group management has set operating segments as of “Akbatı Project”, “Akasya Project” and “Lands”. The segment 
of “Akbatı Project” consists of  Akbatı Shopping Mall and Akbatı Residences located in Esenyurt. The segment of “Akasya 
Project” consists of Akasya Shopping Mall and Akasya Residences located in Acıbadem. The segment of “Lands” consists 
of lands in several locations of Turkey and of investment properties included in portfolio within the scope of urban 
transformation.

AKİŞ GAYRİMENKUL YATIRIM ORTAKLIĞI A.Ş.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2017
(Amounts are expressed in Turkish Lira (“TRY”) unless otherwise indicated.)

turkce kalmıs



Annual Report 2017 111

 Akbatı Akasya
1 January - 31 December 2017 Project Project Lands Undistributed Total

External revenues 88,073,176  222,380,885  9,195,894  -  319,649,955
Cost of sales (-) (27,671,748) (57,523,221)  -  - (85,194,969)

Gross profit 60.401.428  164,857,664  9,195,894  -  234,454,986

Marketing expenses (-) (794,228) (2,613,797)  -  - (3,408,025)
General administrative expenses (-) (1,602,463) (13,979,901) (5,651,647) (20,087,924) (41,321,935)
Other operating income 8,455,697  6,003,497  42,660,155  2,370,634  59,489,983
Other operating expenses (-) (9,623,165) (4,306,939) (62,306,080) (2,206,496) (78,442,680)

Operating profit/(loss) 56,837,269  149,960,524 (16,101,678) (19,923,786)  170,772,329

Income from investment activities 18,044,249  207,812,465  77,762,960  -  303,619,674
Share of profit of investment accounted
   for using the equity method -  -  (9,121,184) (9,121,184)
Other gains/(loss) from participaitons,
joint ventures and subsidiaries -  -  -  181,804,762  181,804,762

Operating profit
   before financial income/(expense) 74,881,518  357,772,989  61,661,282  152,759,792  647,075,581

Financial income 490,479  100,786,296  2,474,884  37,165,593  140,917,252
Financial expenses (-) (1,945,148) (148,733,785) (19,987,063) (126,447,463) (297,113,459)

Profit before tax 73,426,849  309,825,500  44,149,103  63,477,922  490,879,374

Current income tax (201,479) (201,479)  -  - (402,957)
Deferred income tax -  74,794  -  -  74,794

Net profit for the year 73,225,371  309,698,816  44,149,103  63,477,922  490,551,211
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 Akbatı   
1 January -31 December 2016 project Lands Undistributed Total

External revenues 76,102,291  2,460,827  - 78,563,118
Cost of sales (-) (26,543,769)  -  - (26,543,769)
Gross profit 49,558,522  2,460,827  -  52,019,349

General administrative expenses (-) (942,996) (9,662,260) (18,532,914) (29,138,170)
Marketing expenses (-)  (1,082,753)  -    -  (1,082,753)
Other operating income 7,705,197  28,829,965 - 36,535,162
Other operating expenses (-) (4,418,011) (13,483,912) (617,318) (18,519,241)
Operating profit/(loss) 50,819,959  8,144,620 (19,150,232)  39,814,347

Income from investment activities 114,543,275  40,913,885  -  155,457,160
Share of profit of investment accounted
   for using the equity method - -   76,801,790  76,801,790

Operating profit
   before financial income/(expense) 165,363,234  49,058,505  57,651,558  272,073,297

Financial income 12,127,050  -  24,645,710  36,772,760
Financial expenses (-) (35,081,867) (37,618,133) (66,106,927) (138,806,927)
Profit before tax 142,408,417  11,440,372  16,190,341  170,039,130

Current income tax (109,941)  -  - (109,941)
Net profit for the year 142,298,476  11,440,372  16,190,341  169,929,189

As of 31 December 2017 and 2016 segment assets and liabilities:

 31 December  2017 31 December  2016
 Asset Liability Asset Liability

Akbatı Project  922,123,378    6,904,702 900,710,206  16,425,697
Akasya Project  2,528,821,349  752,717,653                                    -      -
Lands  738,572,231  417,138,353 747,434,881  452,382,003
Beyaz Kule - 60,759 29,446  30,879
Undistributed 82,987,839  599,115,975 354,820,570  343,228,161
    
Total 4,272,504,797  1,775,937,442 2,002,995,103  812,066,740
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For the years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016 investment expenditures, depreciation and amortization expenses 
are as follows:

 31 December 2017 31 December 2016
 Investment Depreciation Investment Depreciation
 expense expense expense expense

Land 13,015,128  -  28,713,412  -
Akasya Project 3,966,987   3,363,842  -  -
Akbatı Project 1,468,417  625,416 725,477  368,160
Undistributed 3,155,756   672,433 85,846  420,212
    
Total   21,606,288               4,661,691               29,524,735           788,372

NOTE 5 - CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Cash on hand 186,413 51,838
Cash at banks   
   - Demand deposit 2,570,920 948,871
   - Time deposit 85,842,288 18,451,043
Other 237,553 -
  
 88,837,174 19,451,752

Maturities of cash and cash equivalents are as follows:

 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Until 30 days 88,837,174 19,451,752

 88,837,174 19,451,752

The breakdown of foreign currency denominated cash and cash equivalents in terms of TRY is as follows:

 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

USD 73,860,519 1,015,488
EUR 1,660 28,609
GBP 80 70
  
 73,862,259 1,044,167
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As of 31 December 2017 and 2016 cash and cash equivalents in consolidated cash flow statement are as below:

 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Cash and cash equivalents 88,837,174 19,451,752

Cash and cash equivalents in cash flow statement 88,837,174 19,451,752

Average effective interest rates of time deposits are as follows (%):

 31 December 2017 31 December 2016
 (%) (%)

USD 3.5 - 4.35 2.45
TRY 14.5 - 14.75 10.40

NOTE 6 - FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS

The Group’s short-term financial investments are as follows:

 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Bank balances with restricted usage (*) 17,439,996 -

 17,439,996 -

(*) Akasya Shopping Mall rent receivables are assigned to HSBC Bank. After deducting the istallment amounts related 
to the credit, the remaining amount from the rent collections is under free use of the Group . 1/3 of Akbatı Shopping 
Mall rent receivables is assigned to Yapı Kredi and the remaining amount is under free use of the Group. The related 
balances are TRY 16,839,808 and TRY 600,108, respectively.
 
The Group’s long-term financial investments are as follows:

 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Ottoman Gayrimenkul Yatırımları İnş. ve Tic. A.Ş. (*) 1,892,579 -

                    1,892,579 -
 
(*) Akiş GYO’s share on Ottoman Gayrimenkul Yatırımları İnş. ve Tic. A.Ş. is 10%.

  31 Aralık 2017   
31 Aralık 2016 
 Yıllık Orijinal  Yıllık 
Orijinal 
 efektif faiz yabancı  efektif 
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NOTE 7 - BORROWINGS

 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Borrowings

Bank borrowings 98,929,591 90,831,735
Finance lease payable 34,672,815  6,161,676

Short-term borrowings 133,602,406 96,993,411

Short-term portion of long-term bank borrowings 295,627,546 85,160,868

Long-term portion of short-term bank borrowings 295,627,546 85,160,868

Bank borrowings 1,252,443,049 563,170,629
Finance lease payable 40,723,542 87,581

Long-term borrowings 1,293,166,591 563,258,210

Total financial liabilities as of 1 January 2017 745,412,489

Arising from business combination 919,254,844
Cash proceeds arising from borrowings 378,328,706
Cash outflows arising from borrowings (345,933,470)
Paid interest (70,406,331)
Accruals 28,261,380
Currency translation difference 67,478,925
Total financial liabilities as of 31 December 2017 1,722,396,543 
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Redemption schedule of bank borrowing as of 31 December 2017 and 2016 is as follows:

 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Bank loans:

2018 - 149,209,843
2019 698,623,181 67,231,502
2020  124,181,083 61,228,059
2021 and after 429,638,785 285,501,225
  
 1,252,443,049 563,170,629

Fair values and registered values of credits which are deferred TRY credits and foreign currency credits with fixed and 
variable interest rate as of 31 December 2017 and 2016 are as follows;

  Carrying value  Fair value 
 31 December 2017 31 December 2016 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Borrowings 1,722,396,543 745,412,489 1,748,291,657 803,288,371

b) Finance lease payable

 The maturities of financial lease payable as of 31 December 2017 and 2016 are less than 3 years.
 
 Gross financial leasing liabilities - minimal rent payments:

    31 December 2017 31 December 2016
 
Up to 1 year 38,760,725 6,384,620
1 - 3 year 42,859,952 87,581
Unincurred interest (6,224,320) (222,944)
  
Present value of finance lease payables 75,396,357 6,249,257
 
 The maturity breakdown of finance lease payable as of 31 December 2017 and 2016:

 31 December 2017 31 December 2016
 
Up to 1 year 34,672,815 6,161,676
1-3 years 40,723,542 87,581
  
Present value of finance lease payables 75,396,357 6,249,257

The effective interest rate of the financial lease liabilities which is denominated in USD is 8.55% respectively as of 31 
December 2017 (31 December 2016: 8.9%). 
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NOTE 8 - TRADE RECEIVABLES AND PAYABLES

 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Short-term trade receivables

Notes receivables (*) 51,027,497 76,606,362
Trade receivables 28,733,113 10,826,604
Trade receivables from related parties (Note 27) 236,969 2,547
  
 79,997,579 87,435,513

Less: Provisions for doubtful receivables (11,065,641) (7,547,735)
Less: Unearned finance income on credit sales (3,653,944) (3,901,472)
  
 65,277,994 75,986,306

(*) The short-term notes receivable are mainly related to the sales of land.

Movement of the provision for doubtful receivables is as follows:

 2017 2016

Opening Balance, 1 January (7,547,735) (6,998,822)

Effect of business combination (3,126,669) -
Current year charge (Note 22) (1,944,511) (889,752)
Provisions no longer required (Note 22) 1,553,274 340,839

Ending Balance, 31 December (11,065,641) (7,547,735)

Long-term trade receivables

 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Notes receivables (*) 59,735,104 61,170,130

Less: Unearned finance income on credit sales (3,295,163) (5,019,122)

 56,439,941 56,151,008

(*) The long-term notes receivable are mainly related to the sales of land.

 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Short-term trade payables

Payables to suppliers  14,670,479 7,268,924
Trade payables to related parties (Note 27) 1,895,696 1,681,375
Notes payable - 1,477,086

 16,566,175 10,427,385

Long term trade payables
Payables to suppliers 582,128 -
 582,128 -
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NOTE 9 - OTHER RECEIVABLES AND PAYABLES

 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Short-term other receivables

Other receivables from customers - 2,042,459
Deposits and guaranties given - 495,312
Other 381,669 176,918
  
 381,669 2,714,689

 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Long-term other receivables from third parties

Deposits and guaranties given 1,955,233 -

 1,955,233 -

Short-term other payables

Taxes and fund payables 1,689,083                  2,332,061
Social security premium payable 644,421 264,673
Other 22,143 195,530

 2,355,647 2,792,264

NOTE 10 - PREPAID EXPENSES AND DEFFERED INCOME

 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Short term prepaid expenses

Advances given to suppliers 2,762,499 337,998
Advances given for project 1,306,159 2,572,840
Prepaid expenses for insurance 229,329 -
Other 525,772 233,037

 4,823,759 3,143,875

Long term prepaid expenses

Prepaid expenses for project  (*) 10,521,361 6,784,116

 10,521,361 6,784,116

(*)  Advances given for project as of 31 December 2017 represents the long-term advances given to Akiş-Mudanya 
Ordinary Partnership for the lands in Beykoz.
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                                                   31 December 2017        31 December 2016
    
Short term deferred income

Sponsorship income (**) 1,382,946 -
Advances received - Akasya Project 2,713,490 -
Income from contributions (*) 2,534,965 -
Advances received - Akbatı Project 1,657,699 613,939
Advances received - Beyaz Kule Project - 30,879
Advances received - Lands (***) - 50,373,220
Other advances 44,084 -

 8,333,184 51,018,038

(*)  The relevant amount consists of the balances which are taken as promotional contribution shares from the tenants 
related to Akasya Shopping Mall. Contributions are recorded on the basis of the relevant rental period.
(**)  The relevant amount consists of sponsorship income of Akasya Çocuk. Sponsorship revenues are recorded on the 
basis of the relevant contract term.
(***)  As of 31 December 2016, the advances received are related to the presales agreement signed on 
22 November 2016 between the Group and Yılmaz Redüktör Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. regarding the sale of the land located 
in the Tekirdağ province, Çerkezköy district, Fevzipaşa Mahallesi, Çerkezköy Organize Sanayi region, 29K2D section, 956 
Block 22 Parcel 134,135 m². In 2017,the advance balance is closed by invoicing  the related sale operation.

 31 December 2017 31 December 2016
Long-term deferred income

Income from contributions (*) 9,412,508 -
   
 9,412,508 -

(*)  The relevant amount consists of the balances which are taken as promotional contribution shares from the tenants 
related to Akasya Shopping Mall. Contributions are recorded on the basis of the relevant rental period.

NOTE 11 - INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
 
 2017 2016

Opening balance, 1 January 1,103,592,419 1,044,113,000
Additions
   - Direct acquisitions 6,459,185 11,873,296
Acquisitions with business combinations 2,266,300,211 -
Capitalized borrowing costs 8,187,722 12,352,854
Change in fair value (Note 23) 247,125,246 124,666,570
Disposal (96,128,783) (89,413,301)

Net book value, 31 December 3,535,536,000 1,103,592,419
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The movement of the investment properties for the years ending 31 December 2017 and 2016 are as follows:

  Arising    Increase  
  from    in fair  
 1 January business   value 31 December
 2017 combinations Addition Disposal (Note 23) 2017

Operative investment                                      
   properties     
 
Akbatı Shopping Mall 893,721,000 - 284,752 - 18,044,248 912,050,000
Uşaklıgil Project 155,605,000 - 11,356,429 - 19,428,571 186,390,000
Çerkezköy building and lands 52,050,419 - - (52,050,419) - -
Akasya Shopping Mall - 2,200,000,000 2,187,535  207,812,465 2,410,000,000
Komili Factory  43,185,211 363,153 (43,548,364) - -
Mecidiyeköy - 2,170,000 - - 860,000 3,030,000
Social facility - 18,765,000 455,038 - 494,962 19,715,000
Üsküdar - 3 Section - 2,180,000 - (530,000) (10,000) 1,640,000
Lands in Bulgaria 2,216,000 - - - 495,000 2,711,000
      
 1,103,592,419 2,266,300,211 14,646,907 (96,128,783) 247,125,246 3,535,536,000

    Increase  
    in fair  
 1 January   value 31 December
 2016 Addition Disposal (Note 23) 2016

Operative investment
   properties   
  
Akbatı Shopping Mall 778,800,000 377,725 - 114,543,275 893,721,000
Çerkezköy building and lands 68,850,000 4,379,550 (30,873,301) 9,694,170 52,050,419
Üsküdar Kısıklı lands 58,375,000 - (58,375,000) - -
Bozüyük building and lands 165,000 - (165,000) - -
Bulgaria building and lands 1,923,000 - - 293,000 2,216,000

Investment properties
   under construction
Uşaklıgil project 136,000,000 19,468,875 - 136,125 155,605,000
     
 1,044,113,000 24,226,150 (89,413,301) 124,666,570 1,103,592,419
  
As of 31 December 2017, there is insurance guarantee amounting to TRY 2,230,615,736 on investment properties (31 
December 2016: TRY 840,342,475).
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As of 31 December 2017, mortgages amounting to TRY 216,720,911 have been established on all the independent 
sections in Akbatı Shopping and Life Center, Block A(31 December 2016, a first degree mortgage amounting to USD 
50,000,000 and a second degree mortgage amounting to USD 15,000,000). The ongoing Uşaklıgil project has a mortgage 
amounting to TRY 35,750,000 as of 31 December 2017 (31 December 2016: TRY 35,750,000).

In consideration of the purchase of shares of Saf GYO on 31 July 2015, the Group engaged in a loan usage from Yapı ve 
Kredi Bankası A.Ş. (“Yapı Kredi”) for a total of USD 47,800,000 with a maturity of 6 years of which for a period of 1.5 years 
no redemptions will take place and for a period of 4.5 years redemptions will take place. In favor of Yapı Kredi on Akbatı 
Shopping Mall to provide this loan provision; a third degree mortgage amounting to USD 62,140,000 was established on 
22 October 2015. In addition, it has been decided that the Company’s Board of Directors is authorized to transfer the 1/3 
portion of the monthly lease income of Akbatı Shopping Mall, which is expected to be obtained from the tenants of the 
Akbatı Shopping Mall starting from January 1, 2017, to Yapı Kredi until the completion of repayment.

As of 31 December 2017, there is a mortgage amounting to USD 260,000,000 on Akasya Shopping Mall. Akasya Shopping 
Mall rent receivables are assigned to HSBC Bank. After deducting the istallment amounts related to the credit, the 
remaining amount from the rent collections is under free use of the Group 

NOTE 12 - INVENTORIES
 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Short-term inventories  
Erenköy Apartment 263,037,451 -
Çiftehavuzlar Land 62,151,503 55,773,969
Ak Apartment 49,195,311 41,183,147
Akasya Project 7,921,962 -
Akbatı Project 126,832 379,770
Akkoza Project 139,534 139,534
Other 257,984 -
Çifthavuzlar Land Impairment (*) (25,082,503) -

 357,748,074 97,476,420

(*) Due to the uncertainties explained in Note 16 Contingent Assets, an impairment loss provision has been allocated for 
Çiftehavuzlar Land. Due to ongoing uncertainties, difficulties for valuation of real estate has been ocurred and there has 
been no precedent avaliable. Therefore, the land’s cost value as of 31 December 2017 which is TRY 62,151,503 has been 
brought to the purchase value of TRY 37,069,000 as it can be seen on our announcement in Public Disclosure Platform 
(KAP) released on 9 July 2013. The subject amount is the prescribed amount for the possible conservative scenario 
within the scope of ongoing legal and administrative processes.

Long-term inventories 68,337,85 291,205,450
Bağdat Street Projects - 233,059,972
-   Erenköy Apartment - 233,059,972
Beykoz Lands 68,337,854 58,145,478

 68,337,854 388,681,870
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For the purpose of project development under urban transformation, Bağdat Street Projects, such as Erenköy, Ak 
Apartments and Çiftehavuzlar land were included in the portfolio of the Company. Besides, Beykoz Lands which are 
being developed are classified within the scope of long term inventories.

Beykoz Lands consist of the purchases of 2B project area in Beykoz made by Karlıtepe A.Ş.. After the completion of 
regional planning works mostly housing projects would be implemented. 

The Company has given first degree mortgages worth of TRY 29,500,000 on Çiftehavuzlar land located in Istanbul 
Province, Kadıköy District, Erenköy Neighborhood, Çiftehavuzlar Site, 106 Map section, 1435 Island, 39 Parcel, worth of 
TRY 176,750,000 on Erenköy Apartment located in Istanbul Province, Kadıköy District, Bağdat Street, 106 Map section, 
378 Island, 25 Parcel and  worth of TRY 44,200,000 on Ak Apartment is located in Istanbul Province, Kadıköy District, 
Bostancı Neighborhood, 65 Map section, 315 Island, 3 Parcel (Note 16).

Borrowing costs amounting to TRY 109,626,059 has been capitalized as of 31 December 2017 (31 December 2016: 
TRY 74,287,111).

The Akasya Acıbadem project, which has a salable area of 209,285 m² built on 121,000 m² of land in Istanbul Acibadem 
consists of 3 stages as Akasya Lake, Akasya Koru and Akasya Kent. The Akasya Project mentioned above refers to 
remaining residences / offices.

NOTE 13 - PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

  Acquisitions from
 1 January business   31 December
 2017 combinations Addition  2017

Cost:
Lands - 2,182,703 - 2,182,703
Buildings - 15,801,904  2,677,998 18,479,902
Land improvements 417,812 - 82,000 499,812
Furniture and fixture 5,713,878 8,411,708  2,423,238 16,548,824 
Plant, machinery and equipment 114,238 5,305  - 119,543 
Vehicles - 139,149  - 139,149 
Leasehold improvements 400,377 2,040,452  33,578 2,474,407 

 6,646,305 28,581,221  5,216,814 40,444,340 

Accumulated Depreciation:
Buildings - - (345,029)     (345,029) 
Land improvements (417,812) - (7,688)     (425,500)
Furniture and fixture (3,674,378) - (3,445,578)     (7,119,956) 
Plant, machinery and equipment (97,398) - (506)     (97,904) 
Vehicles - - (33,496)     (33,496) 
Leasehold improvements (329,860) - (46,951)     (376,811) 

 (4,519,448) - (3,879,248)     (8,398,696) 

Net book value 2,126,857 32,045,644
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 1 January   31 December
 2016 Addition Disposals (*) 2016

Cost:
Land improvements 417,812 - - 417,812
Furniture and fixture 5,334,613 391,057 (11,793) 5,713,877
Plant, machinery and equipment  114,238 - - 114,238
Leasehold improvements 400,377 - - 400,377

 6,267,040 391,057 (11,793) 6,646,304

Accumulated Depreciation
Land improvements 417,811 - - 417,811
Furniture and fixture 2,928,085 757,297 (11,004) 3,674,378
Plant, machinery and equipment 97,397 - - 97,397
Leasehold improvements 329,861 - - 329,861

    3,773,154 757,297  (11,004) 4,519,447

Net book value 2,493,886   2,126,857

The breakdown of depreciation expense for the years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016 is disclosed in Note 21.

There are no capitalized borrowing costs for property, plant and equipment for the years ended 
31 December 2017 and 2016.

As of 31 December 2017, there is insurance coverage on property, plant and equipment amounting TRY 1,330,521 
(31 December 2016: TRY 883,622).

NOTE 14 - INTANGIBLE ASSETS

  Acquisitions from
 1 January Business   31 December
 2017 combinations Addition  2017

Cost:
Rights 302,667 6,113,888 308,178 6,724,733
Other 36,777 - 523,283 560,060

 339,444 6,113,888 831,461 7,284,793

Accumulated amortization:
Rights (261,688) - (670,658) (932,346)
Other (32,896) - (111,785) (144,681)

 294,584 - (782,443) (1,077,027)

Net book value 44,860   (6,207,766

AKİŞ GAYRİMENKUL YATIRIM ORTAKLIĞI A.Ş.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2017
(Amounts are expressed in Turkish Lira (“TRY”) unless otherwise indicated.)



Annual Report 2017 125

 1 January   31 December
 2016 Addition Disposals (*) 2016

Cost:
Rights 260,126 42,541 - 302,667
Other 36,777 - - 36,777

 296,903 42,541 - 339,444

Accumulated amortization:
Rights 251,669 10,019 - 261,688
Other 11,840 21,056 - 32,896

 263,509 31,075 - 294,584

Net book value 33,394   44,860

Allocation of amortization expenses for the years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016 is disclosed in Note 21.

NOTE 15 - OTHER ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

31 Aralık 2016 ve 2015 tarihleri itibarıyla özkaynak yöntemiyle değerlenen yatırımların hareket tablosu aşağıdaki 
gibidir:

 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Other current assets

Value added taxes (“VAT”) receivables 2,404,040 -
Other 1,015,592 33,975

 3,419,632 33,975

Other non-current assets

Other non-current assets 1,932,518 1,631,130
VAT receivables  892,617 495,831

 2,825,135 2,126,961

NOTE 16 - COMMITMENTS, CONTINGENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Short-term provisions

Provisions for donation to school (*) 6,000,000 -
Provisions for litigation 4,570,513 565,000
Provisions for employee benefits 533,178 167,799
Other short term provisions 219,920 280,040

 11,323,611 1,012,839

(*) School donation provision as of 31 December 2017, as SAF GYO announced on Public Disclosure Platform on 8 May 
2015, reflects the value provided to the school to be constructed in Ünalan Neighbourhood in front of Akasya Shopping 
Mall as part of the protocol signed with Directorate of National Education.
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 2017 2016

Opening balance, 1 January 565,000 685,000

Effect of business combination 3,512,601 -
Provision for litigation expenses (Note 22) 1,093,332 -
Litigation provision no longer required (Note 22) (600,420) (120,000)

Closing balance, 31 December 4,570,513 565,000

 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Guarantees given

Mortgages (*) 1,718,230,027 733,860,338
Letters of guarantees 7,737,039 2,178,580

 1,725,967,066 736,038,918

(*) Mortgages on the Group’s investment properties and long-term inventories are given for the liabilities of the Group 
to the financial institutions.

 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Guarantees received

Collateral bill 118,116,134 32,459,477
Letter of guarantees 26,844,127 17,709,258
Mortgages 90,106,373 11,069,356
Cheques of guarantee 2,129,066 1,197,604

 227,195,700 62,435,695

In consideration of the current contract periods, the total of the expected minimum operational lease revenue of the 
Group is as follows as of 31 December 2017 and 2016:

 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Operational lease revenues between 0-1 year 350,511,728 78,821,003
Operational lease revenues between 1-5 years 1,515,912,436 384,743,441
Operational lease revenues 5 years and above 2,147,449,933 532,183,359

 4,013,874,097 995,747,803

In the calculation of the minimum and other rent incomes stated above; The TRY values at the balance sheet date of 
the USD denominated rents of the Akbatı shopping mall and the Uşaklıgil Project are taken into consideration.

Group’s non-cancellable minimum operational lease payments in the future are as follows:

 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Operational lease expense between 0-1 year 1,465,582 1,189,908
Operational lease expense between 1-5 years 6,315,394 5,127,475
Operational lease expense 5 years and above 9,020,284 7,323,579

 16,801,260 13,640,962
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As of 31 December 2017 and 2016, the Group’s collaterals/pledges/mortgages position as follows:

  31 December 2017 31 December 2016

CPM’s given by the company 
(Collaterals, Pledges, Mortgages)

A. CPM’ s given for its
       own legal personality 1,725,967,066 736,038,918
B. CPM’s given on behalf of 
     fully consolidated companies - -
C. CPM’s given for continuation 
      of its economic activities on
      behalf of third parties  - -
D. Total amount of other CPM’s
i) Total amount of CPM’s given on
             behalf of the majority shareholder - -
ii) Total amount of CPM’s given on 
            on behalf of other Group 
             companies which are not in scope of B and C - -
iii) Total amount of CPM’s given
            on behalf of third parties
              which are not in scope of C - -

 1,725,967,066 736,038,918

As of 31 December 2017, there is no other CPM given by Company (31 December 2016: None).

The original amount of CPM as follows:

 31 December 2017 31 December 2016
 Foreign TRY Foreign TRY
Guarantees given Currency  equivalent Currency  equivalent
 
USD 322,140,000 1,215,079,865 127,140,000 447,431,087
TRY 510,887,201 510,887,201 288,607,831 288,607,831

  1,725,967,066    736,038,918

 31 December 2017 31 December 2016
 Foreign TRY Foreign TRY
Guarantees received Currency  equivalent Currency  equivalent

TRY 111,829,522 111,829,522 29,893,578 29,893,578
USD 30,424,473 114,758,071 9,207,320 32,402,402
EUR 134,671                    608,107 37,660 139,715

  227,195,700  62,435,695
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Ongoing lawsuits

With a nature that would not have impact on financial statements of the company and its activities, lawsuits opened by 
Ömer Dinçkök who is a shareholder against the company are as follows.

- With regard to rejection of the request of the appointment of a special auditor by Ömer Dinçkök, a shareholder of the 
Company, at the Ordinary General Meeting of Shareholders for the year 2015 dated 29 March 2016, a lawsuit was filed 
with the demand of appointing a special auditor pursuant to the Turkish Commercial Code Article 439/1. In the trial 
dated 24 November 2016, the decision was taken to reject the lawsuit in favor of the Company. The claimant appealed 
against the decision of court, and referral examination will be carried out by the İstanbul Regional Court of Justice, 14th 
Law Office’s case numbered 2017/419 E.

- In the meeting of the Ordinary General Assembly of Shareholders dated 29 March 2016, Ömer Dinçkök, the shareholders 
of the Company, filed a lawsuit numbered 2016/739 E at İstanbul 12th Commercial Court of First Instance with the 
request of the cancellation and nullity of the decisions taken in the agenda items numbered 2, 5, 6 and 7. The Court has 
decided for an expert examining and expertise examination is still pending. The next hearing is on 19 February 2018.

- A lawsuit has been filed with the Istanbul 16. Asliye Commercial Court no 2015/703 E. upon the request of the 
shareholders of Ömer Dinçkök for the cancellation of the resolutions related to the articles 2, 4, 5 and 6 which were 
negotiated and adjourned at the ordinary general meeting of the year 2014 dated 1 April 2015; On 29 September 
2016, the Court decided to cancel the decision on the 6th day of the general meeting, and to cancel the requests 
for the cancellation of other articles related to the surplus separately. The paid TRY 2,307,538 profit share paid by 
the Company was returned to the Company as of 4 October 2016 along with the commercial interest rate calculated 
from the date of payment and the Company appealed against the decision. In the meeting of the delegation dated 
06/07/2017, the decisions were taken for the rejection of claimant’s application for appeal in the light of the fact that 
the appeal application of the claimant was not actively litigated, for the acceptance of the apeeal of the Company, for 
the cancellation of decision numbered 2016/648 dated 29/09/2016 and based 2015/703 of İstanbul Commercial Court 
of First Instance. The relevant Court decision granted as a result of the appeal examination was finalized without the 
appeal of the parties.  

- Ömer Dinçkök, one of the shareholders of the Company, demanded for the appointment of a private auditor at the 
Ordinary General Assembly meeting of the year 2014 dated 1 April 2015 which was rejected and the Company was 
informed by the file numbered 2015/706 E. of the Istanbul 12th Asliye Commercial Court, an action was filed for the 
appointment of an auditor according to Turkish Commercial Code m.439/1; The relevant case was rejected by the court 
in its preliminary examination dated 28 December 2015 and concluded in favor of the Company

- The shareholders of the Company, Ömer Dinçkök stated that the right to obtain and examine information at the Ordinary 
General Assembly meeting of the year 2014 dated 1 April 2015 was unfairly denied, and after the meeting of the General 
Assembly, requested to obtain information and to review all relevant commercial books and records. In Istanbul 15th 
Asliye Commercial Court, / 393 E., and in the first hearing on 9 July 2015, the case was rejected and concluded for 
the Company. The decision has been appealed by the plaintiff; the court rejected the request for appeal because the 
decision was final, and the applicant appealed this decision of the court this time. As a result of the appeal examination, 
the decision was approved by the the Eleventh Court of Cassation with the file of No. 2016/1162 E., 2017/3675 K.; this 
time the plaintiffs resorted to a decision correction.

- Istanbul 18th Asliye Commercial Court (Old Istanbul 50th Asliye Court), with the request of the shareholders of the 
company Ömer Dinçkök for the cancellation of the decisions taken on the agenda items 2, 5, 6, 7, 10 and 11 at the 
Ordinary General Assembly Meeting of 2013 dated 
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28 March 2014, A lawsuit was filed in 2014/545 E. (formerly 2014/208 E.), and at the hearing held on 9 April 2015, the 
applicant was able to appeal with the partial acceptance of the case in respect of the case filed by the cancellation order, 
and the use of the day- The decision on the determination of the proportions of profits and profits to be distributed, in 
Article 6; 2, 5, 7, 10 and 11, it was decided to reject the cancellation requests. The part of the court decision related to 
the cancellation of the decision taken in the sixth agenda item of the General Assembly meeting was appealed on 1 April 
2016 of the Company and the applicant’s appeal was also answered. The appeal examination is still continuing in the file 
of the 11th Civil Law Office of the Supreme Court of Appeal in 2016/6238.

- On 7 April 2014, upon the request of Ömer Dinçkök, the shareholder of the Company, that the right to receive 
information at the Ordinary General Assembly meeting of the year 2013 dated 28 March 2014 was unfairly rejected and 
the Company was authorized to obtain information and review on all commercial books and records. No. 2014/120 E. 
has been brought before the Commercial Court of First Instance. The case was finally rejected on December 10, 2014 in 
favor of the Company.

Other lawsuits

- Vakıflar 2nd Regional Directorate, registered at the number 202/173 E. of Anatolian 10th Civil Court of First Instance 
filed a lawsuit againg the Company and the subcontractor Kanbur İnşaat Taahhüt A.Ş. with regard to the trespassing 
to the immovable properties. An expert report was taken, according to which the necessity of payment of TRY 
2,468,443.52(168,724.78 ton of excavation X TRY14.63/ton) was located. At the time of the case, the excavation was 
transferred to TOKİ (Housing Development Administration), the case was reported to TOKİ which expressed to be 
following the case and requested acceptance of the case. With the acceptance of the case by the Court, it was decided 
that the amount TRY 2,468,444, with the legal interest rate to be accrued from the date of lawsuit, will be collected from 
Kanbur İnşaat and the Company jointly and severally. After the justified decision was made, it was appealed. As of 31 
December 2017, the Company has provided a provision of TRY 2,468,444 for the case.  

- The other provisions for litigation consist of deficiencies related to the sales promise contract and lawsuits filed by the 
customers due to late delivery and workers’ cases.

- There are compensation and commercial lawsuits filed against Garanti Koza-Akiş Ordinary Partnership, which the Group 
sold on 11 March 2013, and Akiş GYO, one of the founding companies of this partnership. In the interest of selling, the 
buyer has aggred to meet a possible obligation in the Transfer Aggrement himself. There has been no cash outflow since 
the sale date regarding the ongoing lawsuits and the Group management does not foresee a possible cash outflow

- With the notification of the report decision sent from the case numbered 2017/640 of T.C. İstanbul Regional 
Administrative Court’s 4th Judicial Chamber, it has been learned that owner of the immovable property on the 
neighbouring parcel filed a lawsuit against Kadıköy Municipality and İstanbul Metropolitan Municipality with the request 
of cancelling the licence Numbered 0000542-16 Dated 17/07/2016 granted for the property located on 106 Plot, 1435 
Island, 39 Parcel in İstanbul Province, Kadıköy District, Erenköy Neighbourhood, Çiftehavuzlar location, and the decision 
numbered 2016/1504 E, 2017/553 K for the cancellation of the operation was taken by İstanbul 3rd Administrative 
Court, and the the decision was appealed against. Since the Company was directly vulnerable to the decision taken, the 
Company joined the case beside Kadıköy Municipality Directorate and İstanbul Metropolitan Municipality Directorate 
with regard to the report of T.C. İstanbul Regional Administrative Court’s 4th Judicial Chamber. The appeal agains the 
decision numbered 2017/640 E., 2017/736 K. of İstanbul 4th Judicial Chamber was rejected. This decision has been 
appealed againg, and the examination is still ongoing.
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- Upon the rejection of the demand of the owner of property neighbouring 106 Plot, 1435 Island, 39 Parcel to include 
the mentioned parcel in the green area by the relevant authorities, the lawsuit filed against İstanbul Metropolitan 
Municipality Directorate and Kadıköy Municipality Directorate at İstanbul 10th Administrative Court with the demand of 
cancellation of these rejection operations, İstanbul 10th Administrative Court has decided for the acceptance of the case 
with the decision numbered 2014/115 E., 2015/800 K., and the decision was appealed against. The lawsuit to which the 
Company participated, the appeal was rejected with Council of State’s 6th Office’s decision numbered 2015/11861 E., 
2017/4590 K., and upon this decision of rejection, the judgement of decision correction appealed for is ongoing.

- At the lawsuit opened agains the relevande authority regarding the rejection of the appeal of the owner of property 
neighbouring 106 Plot, 1435 Island, 39 Parcel to İstanbul metropolitan Municipality Directorate with the demand 
of cancelling İstanbul Metropolitan Municipality Directorate’s council decision dated 10/05/2016, it was decided to 
accept the case with İstanbul 3rd Administrative Court’s decision numbered 2016/1486 E. 2017/65 K. The defendant, 
İstanbul Metropolitan Municipality Directorate made an appeal and upon the rejection of the appeal, the appeal for 
reconsideration at Council of State’s 6th Office is ongoing.

- Upon the sealing of the Company’s ongoing construction on 106 Plot,1435 Island, 39 Parcel by Kadıköy Municipality 
Directorate, the lawsuit filed against Kadıköy Municipality Directorate with the demand of rejecting the sealing operation 
was rejected by İstanbul 3rd Administrative Court’s decision numbered 2017/800 E., 2017/2043 K. The decision has 
been appealed agains, and the judgement is ongoing.

There are 255 cases / execution proceedings which the group is party. Except for the details given above, the rest 
consists of cases filed for the receivables of the company, incomplete performance of the sales promise contract, and 
cases of claims / compensation / executions by the customers due to late deliveries, business cases and similar cases. 

NOTE 17 - PROVISION FOR EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

a) Short-term benefits provided to personnel

 31 December  2017 31 December  2016

Provisions for short-term 
   benefits provided to personnel
Unused vacation rights 533,178 167,799 

 533,178 167,799 

Liabilities with in the short-term
   benefits provided to personnel
Performance premium provision 460,464 460,463 
Personnel expenses payable 410,154 3,599 

 870,618 464,062 

b) Long-term benefits provided to personnel

Provision for employee termination benefits

Under Turkish Labor Law, the Company is required to pay employment termination benefits to each entitled employee. 
Also, employees are entitled to be paid their retirement pay provisions who retired by gaining right to receive retirement 
pay provisions according to of the prevailing 506 numbered Social Insurance Law’s Article 60, as amended by 6 March 
1981 dated, 2422 numbered and 25 August 1999 dated, 4447 numbered laws. Some transition provisions related to the 
pre-retirement service term was excluded from the law since the related law was changed as of 23 May 2002.
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The amount payable consists of one month’s salary limited to a maximum of TRY 4,732.48 for each period of service 
as of 31 December 2017 (31 December 2016: TRY 4,297). Maximum severance pay is revised once in every 6 months 
period, in the calculation of provision for employee termination benefits, ceiling price amounting to TRY 5,001.76 which 
is valid since 1 January 2018 is taken into consideration (31 December 2016: TRY 4,426 that is valid since 1 January 
2017). The liability is not funded, as there is no funding requirement. The provision has been calculated by estimating 
the present value of the future probable obligation of the Group arising from the retirement of employees. TAS 19 
“Employee Benefits” requires actuarial valuation methods to be developed to estimate the entity’s obligation under 
defined benefit plans. As of 31 December 2017, actuarial gains/(loss) are recognized in “comprehensive income” under 
“Defined benefit plans remeasurement gains”.

Assumptions have been used for the actuarial calculation are as follow:

 31 December 2017 31 December 2016
 (%) (%)
Discount rate 4.67 3.60

Movements in the provision for employment termination benefits are as follows:

 2017 2016

Opening balance, 1 January 917,055 949,135

Increase during year 263,422 213,878
Interest expense 198,265 42,299
Actuarial (gain) / loss (255,605) (244,628)
Payment during year (123,462) (43,629)

Closing balance, 31 December 999,675 917,055

NOTE 18 - EQUITY

a) Equity

Company’s shareholders and capital structure as of 31 December 2017 and 2016 are described in Note 1.

b) Other comprehensive income /(expense) not to be reclassified to profit or loss

 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Remeasurement loss arising from defined benefit plan 247,881 (7,724)

c) Other comprehensive income /(expense) to be reclassified to profit or loss
 
 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Currency translation differences 103,487 61,667
Shares reclassified to profit/(loss) of 
   investments evaluated via the equity method 1,265,254 (622,325)

 1,368,741 (560,658)
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d) Restricted reserves appropriated from profit

Accumulated profits in legal books can be distributed except for the provisions relating to the legal reserve that is stated 
below.

Legal reserves comprise of first and second legal reserves, appropriated in accordance with the Turkish Commercial 
Code. The first legal reserve is appropriated out of historical statutory profits at the rate of 5% per annum, until the 
total reserve reaches 20% of the historical paid-in share capital. The second legal reserve is appropriated at the rate of 
10% of the portion of the paid-in capital that exceeds 5% of the paid-in capital. Group companies are not subject to this 
implementation.
 
“Legal reserves” allocated in accordance with the TCC requirements, “Share premium” that is in statue of legal reserve 
and legal reserves allocated for certain purposes apart from profit sharing (gains of sharing sales for tax advantage) is 
demonstrated the amounts in records. Differences arising from inflation adjustment coming out in the assessments 
based on TFRS principals and that is not subject to profit distribution or capital increase as of reporting date are related 
to accumulated profit/loss.

 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Legal reserves 281,542,533 33,301,617

e) Other Reserves

 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Other reserves 54,696,807 54,696,807

With the changes in CPM’s reporting format, items in shareholders’ equity by name “Other reserves” and “Merger 
reserve” are classified in “Other reserves”.

f) Retained earnings

As of the reporting date, extraordinary reserve of parent company, which is in retained earning amounting to TRY 
441,561,956 (31 December 2016: TRY 615,628,763) is TRY 91,935,089 (31 December 2016: TRY 129,866,815).

Profit distribution

Regarding the dividend distribution, the entities are to distribute their profits under the scope of CMB Communiqué 
Serial: II-19.1 their articles of association and their previously publicly declared profit distribution policies.

Beside that, it is regulated that companies which are obligated to prepare consolidated financial statements under 
CMB policies, if it’s allowed in their statutory reserves, amount of profit available for distribution must be prepared, 
in accordance with CMB Communiqué No. II -14.1 announced publicly consolidated financial statements taking into 
account net profit of the period.

It is also permitted to retain this amount in the Company reserves if the first dividend amount is below 5% of the paid 
in/issued capital; however if the Company has increased its paid-in capital without dividend distribution in the previous 
year when the outstanding shares have been identified as “old” and “new”, it is mandatory for companies that will make 
profit distribution from the net distributable profit of the previous year to make this first dividend distribution in cash.

In statutory accounts of the company, net profit and other reverses which can be subject to profit distribution amounts 
TRY 279,705,368.
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NOTE 19 - SALES AND COST OF SALES

 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Revenues

Akasya rent income 199,760,428 -
Akbatı rent income 83,581,401 70,609,976
Other rent income 10,084,130 4,234,605
Residence sales income 6,055,500 1,155,081
Ticket sales 5,942,368 -
Sponsorship income 6,401,974 -
Other 7,824,154 2,563,456

 319,649,955 78,563,118

Cost of sales 

Cost of Akasya shopping mall (42,778,767) -
Cost of Akbatı shopping mall (23,033,979) (22,162,095)
Cost of residence sales (4,023,908) (206,490)
Cost of other services (15,358,315) (4,175,184)

 (85,194,969) (26,543,769)

Gross profit 234,454,986 52,019,349

NOTE 20 - GENERAL ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES AND MARKETING EXPENSES

 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

General administrative expenses

Consultancy expenses 12,530,641 5,430,112
Taxes, duties and fees 8,068,814 6,561,964
Personnel expenses 7,713,784 4,932,103
Donation (*) 6,253,912 7,726,170
Office expenses 1,951,130 1,696,729
Depreciation expenses 1,008,722 420,212
Transportation and travel expenses 752,006 616,840
Other 3,042,926 1,754,040

 41,321,935 29,138,170

(*)  As of 31 December 2017, The Donation item includes TRY 6,000,000 worth school donation provision which is the 
value provided to the school to be constructed in Ünalan Neighbourhood in front of Akasya Shopping Mall as part of the 
protocol signed with Directorate of National Education just as SAF GYO announced on Public Disclosure Platform on 8 
May 2015.
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 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Marketing expenses

Advertisement expenses 1,312,397 605,616
Personnel expenses 1,589,689 220,108
Corporate Communication 298,049 190,774
Other 207,890 66,255

 3,408,025 1,082,753

NOTE 21 - EXPENSE BY NATURE

 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Rent expenses and management fees of shopping mall 65,812,746 26,337,279
Consultancy expenses 12,530,641 5,459,328
Personnel expense 9,303,473 5,152,211
Taxes, duties and fees 8,068,814 6,562,944
Donation 6,253,912 7,726,170
Cost of residences sold 4,023,908 206,490
Office expenses 1,951,130 1,696,729
Advertisement expenses 1,312,397 605,616
Depreciation expenses 1,008,722 420,212
Transportation and travel expenses 752,006 616,840
Other 18,695,797 1,980,873

 129,713,546 56,764,692

The allocation of personnel expenses as of 31 December 2017 and 2016 is as follows:

 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Expensed on cost of sales 15,363,769 3,071,599
General administrative expenses 7,713,784 4,932,103
Marketing expenses 1,589,689 220,108

Total personnel expenses 24,667,242 8,223,810

The allocation of depreciation and amortization expenses as of 31 December 2017 and 2016 are as follows:

 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

General administrative expenses 1,008,722 420,212
Expensed on cost of sales 3,652,969 368,160

Total depreciation and amortization expenses 4,661,691 788,372
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NOTE 22 - OTHER INCOME / EXPENSES FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Other income from operating activities

Foreign exchange gains related to trade receivable and payable 49,695,173 31,116,546
Interest income related to trade receivable 3,854,315 3,713,270
Provisions no longer required (Note 8, 16) 2,153,694 460,839
Other 3,786,801 1,244,507

 59,489,983 36,535,162

 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Other expenses from operating activities

Foreign exchange losses related to trade receivable and payable (44,832,950) (16,340,029)
Impairment (Note 12) (25,082,503) -
Rediscount expense (1,157,467) (647,956)
Provision for litigation (Note 16) (1,093,332) -
Provision for doubtful trade receivables (Note 8) (1,944,511) (889,752)
Other (4,331,917) (641,504)

 (78,442,680) (18,519,241)

NOTE 23 - INCOME AND EXPENSES FROM INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES

 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Income from investment activities

Increase in fair value of
   investment properties (Note 2 and 10) 247,125,246 124,666,570
Gain on sales of Komili factory 50,192,311 -
Gain on sales of Çerkezköy land, building and tangible assets 6,279,739 11,155,261
Gain on sales of Üsküdar land - 19,610,329
Gain on sales of Bozüyük land, building and tangible assets - 25,000
Other 22,378 -

 303,619,674 155,457,160
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NOTE 24 - FINANCIAL INCOME AND EXPENSE

 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Financial income
Foreign exchange gains 137,118,269 33,277,223
Interest income 3,789,983 3,495,537

 140,917,252 36,772,760

Financial expenses
Foreign exchange losses (198,721,109) (116,773,626)
Interest expenses (98,392,350) (22,033,301)

 (297,113,459) (138,806,927)

NOTE 25 - EARNINGS PER SHARE

Earnings per share are determined by dividing net income attributable to ordinary shareholders by the weighted average 
number of shares, As of 31 December 2017, the Company has 430,091,850 (31 December 2016: 200,000,000) number 
of shares each valued as TRY 1. There is no preferred stock for shareholders and other share groups. Companies can 
increase their capital by distributing shares to their shareholders from retained earnings in line with their interest in 
share capital (“Bonus shore”). In the course of determination of earnings/loss per share per share, these are considered 
as issued shares. Hence weighted average number of shares used in determination of earning/loss is calculated 
considering the issuance of bonus shares retrospective impact.

 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Net income from continuing operations 490,551,211 169,929,189
Average number of ordinary 
  shares in the nominal value of TRY1 430,091,850 200,000,000

Earnings per share from continuing operations 1,14 0.85

Net income for the period attributable to 
   equity holders of the parent 490,551,211 169,929,189
Average number of ordinary 
  shares in the nominal value of TRY1 430,091,850 200,000,000

The parent partnership, distributable profit to
   partners main and relative earnings per share 1,14 0.85
 
NOTE 26 - INCOME TAXES (INCLUDED DEFERED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES)

a) Current tax payable:

The application of Akiş in 2011, for being converted to a real estate company was approved in accordance with the 
decision of Capital Market Board dated 19 April 2012 and numbered 15/345 and the mentioned conversion and the 
changes in the articles of association registered on 18 May 2012 which was then published on the Trade Gazette on 
24 May 2012. Subsequently, the profit of the Company as a real estate investment exempt from corporate income tax 
in accordance with paragraph 4-d of Article 8 of the Corporate Income Tax Law and in accordance with paragraph 6-a 
of Article 94 of the Income Tax Law, the earnings of the real estate investment trusts are subject to withholding taxes. 
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According to Corporation Tax Law, Article 15 / (3), 15% withholding tax is applied to those profits which are exempt 
from corporation tax. The Council of Ministers shall be authorized to reduce the tax rate to zero for each income and 
payment which is specified in article 15, to raise up to corporation tax rate and within the same limit, to differentiate 
the gains which are defined in the third paragraph, according to funds or types of partnerships or according to nature 
and composition of assets in their portfolios. According to the Council of Minister’s decision, No: 2009/14594, the 
withholding tax rate is determined as “0”. In this scope, the gains subject to the tax cut are not subject to dividend 
stoppage separately, according to Corporate Tax Law, Article 15 / (2).

However, the Turkish tax legislation does not allow for a consolidated tax return of a parent company, its subsidiaries, 
joint ventures and subsidiaries as a whole. Hence, despite the fact that the parent company is exempted from the 
corporation tax as it is converted to a real estate investment, its subsidiaries are excluded from this exemption. As of 31 
December 2017 and 2016, provisions for taxes as reflected in the accompanying consolidated financial statements are 
calculated on a separate-entity basis.

The taxes reflected in the income statements for the periods ended 31 December 2017 and 2016 are summarized below:

 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Current income tax (402,957) 109,941
Deferred tax income/(expense) 74,794 -

Total tax (328,163) 109,941

NOTE 27 - BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES

a) Balances with related parties at 31 December 2017 and 2016 are as follows:

 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Short-term trade receivables from related parties

Akdünya A.Ş. 213,569 -
Other 23,400 2,547

 236,969 2,547

Short-term other receivables from related parties

Ottoman Gayrimenkul Yatırımları İnş. ve Tic. A.Ş.(*) 10,552,020 -

 10,552,020 -

(*)  The receivable amount TRY 10,552,020 consists of TRY 7,395,000 arising from capital decrease and TRY 3,157,020 
from dividend payment arising from profit distribution.

Long-term other receivables from related parties

Akiş-Mudanya Ordinary Partnership 7,249,627 4,159,560

 7,249,627 4,159,560
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 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Short- term trade payables to related parties

Sakarya Elektrik Perakende Satış A.Ş. (“Sepaş”) - 694,070
Dinkal Sigorta Acenteciliği A.Ş. (“Dinkal”) 243,574 539,836
Akgirişim Müteahhitlik Müşavirlik ve
   Çevre Teknolojileri San. ve Tic. A.Ş. (“Akgirişim”) 246,720 207,752
Akkök Holding A.Ş. (“Akkök Holding”) 1,139,277 111,821
Akhan Bakım Yön. Ser. A.Ş. (“Akhan”) 21,600 76,374
Akenerji Elektrik Enerjisi İthalat-İhracat 
   ve Toptan Tic. A.Ş. (“Akenerji”) 17,700 -
Aktek Bilgi İlet. Tekno. San. A.Ş. (“Aktek”) 226,825 51,522

 1,895,696 1,681,375

b)  As of 31 December 2017 and 2016 services and product purchases from related parties are as follows:

 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Purchases of goods and services from related parties

Akenerji 120,000 4,284,076
Sepaş(**) 9,045,273 4,007,882
Akgirişim  2,593,168 2,510,127
Akkök Holding 4,004,154 1,491,158
Akhan 1,096,031 1,077,050
Dinkal (*) 4,417,368 1,020,047
Aktek 1,832,383 505,503
Ak-kim - 60
Akdünya 763,644 -
Akmerkez Lokantacılık 18,113 -

 23,890,134 14,895,903

(*)  Purchases made from various insurance companies through Dinkal Sigorta Acenteliği A.Ş.
(**)  Transactions occuring with purchase of electricity for Shopping Malls from Sepaş.

c)  As of 31 December 2017 and 2016 services and product sales to related parties are as follows:

 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Sales of goods and services to related parties

Akgirişim - 3,966
Sepaş 281,327 -
Ak-kim 230,000 -
Aksa Akrilik 18,883 -
Akkök 40,545 -
Aktek 26,750 -
Other 111,417 17,471

 708,922 21,437
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e) As of 31 December 2017 and 2016 dividend income, interest income and interest expenses with related parties are 
as follows:
 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Dividend income from related parties

Saf GYO - 3,942,073

 - 3,942,073

 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Interest income from related parties

Akiş-Mudanya Ordinary Partnership 1,064,231 504,012

 1,064,231 504,012

The Company defined its key management personnel as board of directors and members of the executive committee. 
Benefits provided to key management personnel as of 31 December 2017 and 2016 are as follows:

 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Salary and other short term employee benefits 5,745,975 2,955,105
Employment termination benefits 41,723 32,757

Total 5,787,698 2,987,862

NOTE 28 -  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks, including the effects of changes in foreign currency exchange 
rates and interest rates. The Group’s management focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to 
minimize potential adverse effects on the financial performance of the Group.

Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the inability of the Group to match the net funding requirements with sufficient liquidity. The Group 
management tries to avoid liquidity risk from daily operations by trying to keep sufficient levels of cash and to have open 
credit lines with creditors. Management also tries to align the repayment of borrowings utilized for the construction and 
acquisition of investment properties with the rental income from such properties to the extent that is possible. For the 
construction of residential units the Group obtains cash advances from customers by being engaged through pre-sales 
agreements to minimize the funding requirement in such projects. The explanations about Group’s current ratio balance 
are stated in detail in Note 2.
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The analysis of the Group’s financial liabilities with respect to their maturities as of 31 December 2017 is as follows:
  
  Contractual    5 years 
 Total Book cash Up to 3 3 months  1 year to  and
 Value outflows months to 1 year 5 years over

Financial liabilities
   (Non-derivative):
Bank borrowings  1,647,000,186  1,880,906,318  67,680,965  382,205,393  1,431,019,960  -
Finance lease payables 75,396,357  95,097,543  15,649,750  28,490,152  50,957,641 -
Trade payables 16,566,175  16,566,175  16,566,175 - - -
Other payables 2,355,647  2,355,647  2,355,647 - - -

 1,741,318,365  1,994,925,683  102,252,537  410,695,545  1,481,977,601  -

The analysis of the Group’s financial liabilities with respect to their maturities as of 
31 December 2016 is as follows:
  
  Contractual    5 years 
 Total Book cash Up to 3 3 months  1 year to  and
 Value outflows months to 1 year 5 years over

Financial liabilities
   (Non-derivative):
Bank borrowings  739,163,232  869,872,139  116,808,136  63,584,681  449,351,020  240,128,302
Finance lease payables 6,249,257  6,676,270  2,610,319  3,941,100  124,851 -
Trade payables 10,427,385  10,427,385  10,427,385 - - -
Other payables 2,792,264  2,792,264  2,792,264 - - -

 758,632,138  889,768,058  132,638,104  67,525,781  449,475,871  240,128,302

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk through the impact of rate changes on interest bearing assets and liabilities. 
These exposures are managed by offsetting interest rate sensitive assets and liabilities.

In this context, matching of not only maturities of receivables and payables but also contractual re-pricing dates is 
crucial. In order to keep the exposure of financial liabilities to interest rate changes at a minimum, “fixed interest/
floating interest”, “short-term/long-term”, “TRY/foreign currency” balance is structured consistent within and with 
assets in the balance sheet.

Financial instruments which have been classified as other financial liabilities in the Group’s balance sheet have been 
exposed to the interest risk as a result of change in prices. At 31 December 2017, if interest rates at contractual re-pricing 
dates of TRY denominated financial assets and liabilities with variable interest rates have strengthened/weakened by 1% 
with all other variables held constant, income would have been TRY 556,874 (TRY 1,114,512) lower/higher as a result of 
interest expenses (31 December 2016: TRY 347,100).
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Average effective annual interest rates of balance sheet items as of 31 December 2017 and 2016 are as follows:

   
31 December 2017 (%) TRY EUR USD

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 14.75 - 3.5-4.35
Trade receivables - - 2.68
Other receivables 15.21 - -

Current liabilities
Bank borrowings 16.03 3.92 4.90
Finance lease payables - - 11.92

Non-current liabilities
Bank borrowings 15.50 4.66 5.16
Finance lease payables - - 5.19

   
31 December 2016 (%) TRY EUR USD

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 10.40 - 2.45
Trade receivables - - 1.62

Current liabilities
Bank borrowings 16.05 2.84 -
Finance lease payables - - 8.9

Non-current liabilities
Bank borrowings 10.17 4.66 6.19
Finance lease payables - - 8.9

The Company’s financial instruments that are sensitive to interest rates are as follows:

 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Financial instruments with fixed interest rate
Time deposits 85,842,288 18,451,043
Bank borrowings 1,163,931,588 739,163,232
Finance lease payable 75,396,357 6,249,257

Financial instruments with floating interest rate
Bank borrowings 483,068,598 -
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Group’s financial assets and liabilities in carrying amounts classified in terms of periods remaining to contractual re-
pricing dates as of 31 December 2017 and 2016 are as follows:

  31 December 2017 
 Up to  3-12  More than Not interest 
 3 months months 1 year bearing Total

Cash and cash equivalent 85,842,288 - - 2,994,886  88,837,174
Trade receivable 13,341,491  28,053,932  56,439,940 23,882,572  121,717,935
Other receivable - -  7,249,627 12,888,922  20,138,549

Total assets 99,183,779  28,053,932  63,689,567  39,766,380  230,693,658

Bank borrowing 57,474,552  337,546,183  1,251,979,451  -  1,647,000,186
Finance lease payable 12,646,772  21,562,445  41,187,140  -  75,396,357
Trade payable 16,566,175  -  -  - 16,566,175
Other liabilities 2,355,647  -  -  -  2,355,647

Total liabilities 89,043,146  359,108,628  1,293,166,591  -  1,741,318,365

Net re-pricing position 10,140,633 (331,054,696) (1,229,477,024)  39,766,380 (1,510,624,707)

  31 December 2016 
 Up to  3-12  More than Not interest 
 3 months months 1 year bearing Total

Cash and cash equivalent 18,451,043 - -  1,000,709  19,451,752
Trade receivable 12,025,830  61,927,517  56,151,008 2,032,959  132,137,314
Other receivable - -  -  2,714,689  2,714,689

Total assets 30,476,873  61,927,517  56,151,008  5,748,357  154,303,755

Bank borrowing 90,831,735  85,160,868  563,170,629  -  739,163,232
Finance lease payable 2,613,729  3,547,947  87,581  -  6,249,257
Trade payable 10,427,385  -  -  - 10,427,385
Other liabilities 2,792,264  -  -  -  2,792,264

Total liabilities 106,665,113  88,708,815  563,258,210  -  758,632,138

Net re-pricing position (76,188,240) (26,781,298) (507,107,202)  5,748,357 (604,328,383

Credit Risk Explanations

The Group is subject to credit risk arising from trade receivables related to credit sales and deposits at banks,

The Group keeps majority of its deposits within top 10 banks established in Turkey, with which the Group have standing 
relations.
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Credit risk of financial instruments as of 31 December 2017 and 2016 is as follows:

 Trade and other receivables  Deposit
31 December 2017 Related party Third party in banks

Maximum exposed credit risk
   as of reporting date (A+B+C+D) 18,038,616 123,817,868 88,413,208
Secured portion of the maximum
   credit risk by guarantees, etc.
A.Net book value of financial assets
   that are either not due or not impaired
   - Secured portion by guarantees, etc. 18,038,616 120,638,573 88,413,208
B.Net book value of the expired 
   but not impaired financial assets - 3,179,295 -
   - Secured portion by guarantees - - -
C.Net book value of impaired assets 
   - Overdue (Gross book value - 11,065,641 -
       - Impairment (-) - (11,065,441) -
       - Secured portion of the net value
    by guarantees, etc. - - -
   - Not overdue (Gross book value)   
       - Impairment (-) - - -
       - Secured portion of the net value  - - -
D.Financial assets with renegotiated conditions - - -

   Trade and other receivables  Deposit
31 December 2016 Related party Third party in banks

Maximum exposed credit risk
   as of reporting date (A+B+C+D) 4,162,107 134,849,456 19,399,914
Secured portion of the maximum
   credit risk by guarantees, etc. 
A.Net book value of financial assets
   that are either not due or not impaired 4,162,107 134,627,629 19,399,914
   - Secured portion by guarantees, etc.  
B.Net book value of the expired 
   but not impaired financial assets - 221,827 -
   - Secured portion by guarantees - - -
C.Net book value of impaired assets 
   - Overdue (Gross book value - 7,547,735 -
       - Impairment (-) - (7,547,735) -
       - Secured portion of the net value 
    by guarantees, etc. - - -
   - Not overdue (Gross book value)   
       - Impairment (-) - - -
       - Secured portion of the net value  - - -
D.Financial assets with renegotiated conditions - - -
 
While determining the above-mentioned amounts, the factors that increase the credibility such as guarantees received 
are not considered. In the financial assets of the Group which are subject to credit risk, no impairment risk has been 
identified. Furthermore, the Group does not have any off balance sheet items which are subject to credit risk include 
past due but not impaired assets.
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The aging table of the receivables that are past due but not impaired

 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Past due 0-30 days - -
Past due 1-3 month 2,714,916 -
Past due 3-12 month - 105,000
Past due 1-5 years 464,379 116,827

 3,179,295 221,827

Foreign exchange risk 

The Group is exposed to foreign exchange rate risk through operations done using multiple currencies. 
This risk management is to maintain a foreign exchange position as at least the main principles to be affected by exchange 
rate fluctuations.

The Group is exposed to foreign exchange rate risk mainly for EUR and USD.

Foreign currency position

Foreign currency denominated assets, liabilities and off-balance sheet accounts give rise to foreign exchange exposure.

Foreign currency assets and liabilities of the Group are not offset by any off-balance sheet instrumentation as of 31 
December 2017 and 2016. As of 31 December 2017, it is envisaged that the projects of Bağdat Street Project will be 
financed and foreign currency rents will be obtained by the completion of the projects and foreign exchange housing 
sales will be realized

Foreign currency denominated assets and liabilities held by the Group are as follows:

 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Assets 192,684,903 131,570,064
Liabilities (1,193,301,519) (727,672,195)

Net on-balance sheet position (1,000,616,616) (596,102,131)
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The table below summaries foreign currency position risk of the Group as of 31 December 2017. The original currency 
amounts of assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies and the total TRY equivalent at 31 December 2017 
are as follows:

    TRY
 EURO USD  GBP Equivalent 

Current assets 663  36,084,670  16 136,110,839
Cash and cash equivalent 368  19,581,781  16 73,862,259
Financial investments - 4,623,663  17,439,996
Trade receivables 295   11,873,472 - 44,786,880
Prepaid expenses - 5,754  21,704

Non-current assets -   14,998,824  - 56,574,064
Trade receivables -   14,998,824  - 56,574,064

Total assets 663  51,083,494  16 192,684,903

Current liabilities 15,712,653   58,346,290  4,921 291,051,854
Trade payables 323,732  448,970  4,921 3,180,282
Financial liabilities 15,374,645  57,897,320 - 287,807,110
Other liabilities 14,276   -  - 64,462

Non-current liabilities 39,179,133    192,299,979 - 902,249,665
Borrowings 39,179,133   192,299,979  - 902,249,665

Total liabilities 54,891,786   250,646,269  4,921 1,193,301,519

Net (liability)/asset position (54,891,123) (199,562,775)  (4,905) (1,000,616,616)

The table below summaries foreign currency position risk of the Group as of 31 December 2016. The original currency 
amounts of assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies and the total TRY equivalent at 31 December 2016 
are as follows:

    TRY
 EURO USD  GBP Equivalent 

Current assets 7,712  21,422,589  16 75,419,057
Cash and cash equivalent 7,712  288,556  16 1,044,167
Trade payables -   21,134,033 - 74,374,890

Non-current assets -   15,955,617  - 56,151,007
Trade payables -   15,955,617  - 56,151,007

Total assets 7,712  37,378,206  16 131,570,064

Current liabilities 23,272,178   34,010,341  - 206,026,644
Trade payables 736,395  273,324  - 3,693,833
Financial liabilities 22,535,783  19,436,471 - 152,006,330
Other liabilities -   14,300,546  - 50,326,481

Non-current liabilities 52,209,373    93,189,929 - 521,645,551
Borrowings 52,209,373   93,189,929  - 521,645,551

Total liabilities 75,481,551   127,200,270  - 727,672,195

Net (liability)/asset position (75,473,839) (89,822,064)  16 (596,102,131)
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The table below shows the Group’s sensitivity to a 10% increase/decrease in USD, EUR and GBP exchange rates. These 
amounts represent the effect on the consolidated statement of comprehensive income of 10% increase/decrease in 
USD, EUR and GBP against TRY. During this analysis all other variables especially interest rate are assumed to remain 
constant.

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis as of 31 December 2017 and 2016 are as follows:

 Profit/Loss  Equity 
31 December 2017 Appreciation  Depreciation  Appreciation  Depreciation 

+/- 10% fluctuation in US Dollar rate       
   USD net asset/liability (75,273,083)  75,273,083 (75,273,083)  75,273,083
   Secured portion from US Dollar risk - - - -
USD Net Effect (75,273,083)  75,273,083 (75,273,083)  75,273,083

+/- 10% fluctuation in EUR rate    
      EUR net asset/liability (24,786,087)  24,786,087 (24,786,087)  24,786,087
      Secured portion from EUR risk - - - -
EUR Net Effect (24,786,087)  24,786,087 (24,786,087)  24,786,087

+/- 10% fluctuation in GBP rate    
      GBP net asset/liability (2,492)  2,492 (2,492) 2,492
      Secured portion from GBP risk - - - -
GBP Net Effect (2,492)   2,492 (2,492)  2,492

 Profit/Loss  Equity 
31 December 2016 Appreciation  Depreciation  Appreciation  Depreciation 

+/- 10% fluctuation in US Dollar rate       
   USD net asset/liability (31,610,181)  31,610,181 (31,610,181)  31,610,181
   Secured portion from US Dollar risk - - - -
USD Net Effect (31,610,181)  31,610,181 (31,610,181)  31,610,181

+/- 10% fluctuation in EUR rate    
      EUR net asset/liability (28,000,040)  28,000,040 (28,000,040)  28,000,040
      Secured portion from EUR risk - - - -
EUR Net Effect (28,000,040)  28,000,040 (28,000,040)  28,000,040

+/- 10% fluctuation in GBP rate    
      GBP net asset/liability 7  (7) 7 (7)
      Secured portion from GBP risk - - - -
GBP Net Effect 7  (7) 7 (7)
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The exchange published by Central Bank of Turkey, rates and applied by the Group as at the year ends are followed;

 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

USD 3,7719 3.5192
EUR 4,5155 3.7099
GBP 5,0803 4.3189

Capital risk management

The Group attempts to manage its capital by minimizing the investment risk by portfolio diversification. The Group’s 
objective is to safeguard the Group’s sustainability as a going concern to provide returns for shareholders and benefits 
for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital and to keep a gearing 
ratio that is in-line with industry averages. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the 
amount of dividends paid to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

Gearing ratios as of 31 December 2017 and 2016 are as follows:

 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Total liabilities 1,772,882,482 812,066,740
Cash and cash equivalents (88,837,174) (19,451,752)

Net debt 1,684,045,308 792,614,988
Total shareholders’ equity 2,499,622,315 1,190,928,363

Invested capital 4,183,667,623 1,983,543,351

Gearing ratio 40% 40%

NOTE 29 - FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND HEDGE ACCOUNTING 

Fair value of financial instruments

Fair value is the amount at which a financial instrument could be exchanged in a current transaction between willing 
parties, other than in a forced sale or liquidation, and is best evidenced by a quoted market price, if one exists.

The fair values of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market have been determined by the Group using 
available market information and appropriate valuation methodologies. However, judgement is necessarily required 
to interpret market data to estimate the fair value. Accordingly, the estimates presented herein may differ from the 
amounts the Group could realize in a current market exchange.

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair value of the financial instruments for which it is 
practicable to estimate fair value.
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Financial assets

The fair values of cash and due from banks are considered to approximate their respective carrying values due to their 
short-term nature.

Expertise values are used on the determination of the fair values of investment property (Note 11).

The carrying values of trade and other receivables, along with the related allowances for uncollectability are assumed 
to approximate their fair values.

The fair values of balances denominated in foreign currencies, which are translated at period-end official exchange rates 
announced by the Central Bank of Turkey, are considered to approximate their carrying value.

In the case of the market price cannot be determined, the fair value of available-for sale financial assets are determined 
based on the market prices quoted for the same qualified stocks in point of  interest rate, maturity and similar other 
conditions.

Financial liabilities

As of 31 December 2017 and 2016, carrying values and fair values of TRY and foreign currency denominated borrowings 
fixed and floating rates are explained at Note 7.

Estimation of Fair Value

As of 31 December 2017 and 2016, the Group’s assets and liabilities measured with fair value are as follows:

  31 December 2017 
Financial assets Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Investment properties - 3,535,536,000 - 3,535,536,000

Total assets - 3,535,536,000 - 3,535,536,000

  31 December 2016 
Financial assets Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Investment properties - 1,103,592,419 - 1,103,592,419

Total assets - 1,103,592,419 - 1,113,592,419

Group’s classifications of financial assets and liabilities related to fair value are as follows:

•  First level: The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined with reference to actively traded 
market prices. 
•  Second level: The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities are evaluated with reference to inputs that used 
to determine directly or indirectly observable price in market. The details related to used method of the fair value is 
disclosed in Note 2 and 11 by the Group.
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•  Third level: The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities are evaluated with reference to inputs that used 
to determine fair value but not relying on observable data in the market. The details related to used method of the fair 
value is disclosed in Note 2 and 11 by the Group.

NOTE 30 - EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Updating the explanation about the preliminary proposal obtained from the Real Estate Investment Fund for Akbatı 
Shopping Mall

There has been no progress in scope of authorization that we had notified with the announcement on Public Disclosure 
Platform (KAP) on 24 November 2017. In case of any progress related to the process, the necessary explanation shall be 
shared in the KAP.

Announcent regarding the explanation made within the scope of Article 40/3/ç of the Communiqué on Principles 
Regarding Real Estate Investment Trusts

In accordance with ç clause of the third paragraph of Article 40 of the Communiqué on Principles Regarding Real Estate 
Investment Trusts (III-48.1) of the Capital Markets Board, within the scope of notification of purchase, sale or leasing 
transactions not exceeding 2% of the total assets in our latest financial statements announced in 2017, sum of the sales 
transactions has realized as TRY 5,404,226 + VAT and of our lease transactions as USD 831,898 + VAT per month.

About the Selection of 2018 Real Estate Appraisal Companies

In accordance with Article 35 of the Capital Markets Board’s Communiqué Serial: III, N, No: 48, “Principles Regarding 
Real Estate Investment Trusts”, the valuation of the assets included in the company’s portfolio is to be made by Lotus 
Gayrimenkul Değerleme ve Danışmanlık A.Ş., Terra Gayrimenkul Değerleme ve Danışmanlık A.Ş. and A Gayrimenkul 
Değerleme A.Ş, and for the assets that can be acquired in 2018 and requires valuation, the Companies to work with are 
Nova Taşınmaz Değerleme ve Danışmanlık A.Ş. and Lotus Gayrimenkul Değerleme ve Danışmanlık A.Ş.

NOTE 31 -  ADDITIONAL NOTE: CONTROL OF COMPLIANCE WITH THE PORTFOLIO LIMITATIONS

As of 31 December 2017 and 2016, the information presented in note “Control of Compliance with the Portfolio 
Limitations” are summary of informations derived from the financial statements in accordance with Capital Markets 
Board’s Communiqué Serial: II, No: 14.1 “Financial Reporting in Capital Markets” Amendment No: 16  and prepared in 
accordance with Capital Markets Board’s Communiqué Serial: III, No: 48.1“Real Estate Investment Company” published 
in the Official Gazette dated 28 May 2013 numbered 28660 and Capital Markets Board’s Communiqué Serial: III, No: 
48.1a“Amendment on Real Estate Investment Company” published in the Official Gazette dated 23 January 2014 
numbered 28891. The related information may not be consistent with the information given in consolidated financial 
statements since the information given in this additional note are individual financial data.
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As of 31 December 2017 and 2016, the information about portfolio restrictions are as follows:

The unconsolidated (individual)  31 December  31 December
financial statements of main account Related Regulations 2017 2016

A Monetary and capital market
      instruments Serial III-48.1 Art.24/(b) 85,428,659 18,145,271
B Real estate, projects based on real 
 estate rights based on real estate Serial III-48.1 Art.24/(a) 3,890,320,590 1,431,910,423
C Subsidiaries Serial III-48.1 Art.24/(b) 78,154,513 400,121,328
 Due from related parties
      (non-trade) Serial III-48.1 Art.23/(f) 17,801,647 4,159,560
Other assets    192,902,039 147,558,026

D Total assets Serial III-48.1 Art.3/(p) 4,264,607,448 2,001,894,608

E Borrowings Serial III-48.1 Art.31 1,647,000,186 739,163,232
F Other financial liabilities Serial III-48.1 Art.31 - -
G Finance lease liabilities Serial III-48.1 Art.31 75,396,357 6,249,257
H To related parties
      liabilities (non-commercial) Serial III-48.1 Art.23/(f) - -
I Equity Serial III-48.1 Art.31 2,499,622,315 1,190,928,363
Other liabilities  42,588,590 65,553,756

D Total liabilities Serial III-48.1 Art.3/(p) 4,264,607,448 2,001,894,608

The unconsolidated (individual)  31 December  31 December 
other financial information Related Regulations 2017 2016

A1 The portion of money and capital market
   instruments held for payables of properties 
   for the following 3 years Serial III-48.1 Art.24/(b) - -
A2 Time deposit/demand 
        deposit/TRY/Foreign currency Serial III-48.1 Art.24/(b) 85,407,966 18,119,990
A3 Foreign capital market instruments Serial III-48.1 Art.24/(d) - -
B1 Foreign properties, projects based on 
      properties and rights based on properties Serial III-48.1 Art.24/(d) - -
B2 Idle lands Serial III-48.1 Art.24/(c) - -
C1 Foreign investments Serial III-48.1 Art.24/(d) 2,828,789 2,229,115
C2 Operating companies Serial III-48.1 Art.28/1(a) 5,604,699 453,102
J Non-cash borrowings Serial III-48.1 Art.31 7,737,039 2,178,580
K Mortgage amount on non-owned land  
      to be developed total of investments 
        monetary capital market company Serial III-48.1 Art.22/(e) - -
L The total of money and capital market
        instruments for investment
        in a single company Serial III-48.1 Art. 22/(l) - -
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    Minimum/
   31 December  31 December maximum
  Related 2017 2016 rate 
Portfolio limitations  regulation  (%) (%) (%)

1 Mortgage amount on non-owned land 
     to be developed (K/D)      Serial:III, No:48.1 Art.22/(e) - - ≤10
2 Properties, projects based on properties and 
    rights based on properties (B+A1)/D) Serial:III, No:48.1 Art.24/(a),(b) 91 72 ≥51
3 Money and capital market instruments and
 affiliates (A+C-A1)/D) Serial:III, No:48.1 Art.24/(b) 4 21 ≤49
4 Foreign properties, projects based on properties
  rights based on properties, affiliates, 
  capital market instruments (A3+B1+C1/D) Serial:III, No:48.1, Md.24/(d) 1< 1< ≤49
5 Idle lands(B2/D) Serial:III, No:48.1, Md.22/(c) - - ≤20
6 Investment in affiliated operating
         companies (C2/D) Serial:III, No:48.1 Art.28/1(a) - 1< ≤10
7 Borrowing limit (E+F+G+H+J)/İ  Serial:III, No:48.1 Art.31 69 63 ≤500
8 TRY and foreign currency time and demand
         deposits (A2-A1)/D Serial:III, No:48.1, Art.24/(b) 2 1 ≤10
9 The total of money and capital market
        instruments for investment
        in a single company Serial:III, No:48.1, Art..22/(l) - - ≤10

The details of subsidiaries as of 31 December 2017 and 2016 are as follows:

 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Saf GYO - 337,113,225
Karlıtepe 69,721,025 60,325,886
Aksu Real Estate 2,828,789 2,229,115
Ak Yön - 453,102
Akyaşam 5,604,699 -

 78,154,513 400,121,328

As of 31 December 2017 and 2016, there are no valuation reports prepared for the Company’s subsidiaries Karlıtepe, 
Aksu Real Estate and Akyaşam. The net asset values of the individual financial statements prepared in accordance 
with the Group’s financial reporting standards have been calculated for Aksu Real Estate, Akyaşam, and Karlıtepe by 
the participation rate of the investments in the Group, while the values of the participations in the control table for 
compliance with portfolio limits are determined. It is accepted that the net values determined by adding / subtracting 
net receivables / liabilities as of the balance sheet date are close to the fair values of the investments in the investment 
properties they own.
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